
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Planning Committee 

on Tuesday, 27 March 2012, at 10.00 am 

in the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, 
Kendal 

 

Committee Membership 
 

Councillors 
 

Alan Baverstock 

Brian Cooper 

Joss Curwen 

Colin Davies 

Philip Dixon 

Sheila Eccles (Vice-Chairman) 

Sylvia Emmott 

Clive Graham 

Brenda Gray 

Tom Harvey 

John Holmes 

Janette Jenkinson 

Kevin Lancaster 

Sonia Lawson 

Ian McPherson (Chairman) 

Mary Orr 

David Williams 

Mary Wilson 

 

 
Monday, 19 March 2012 
 
Debbie Storr, Corporate Director (Monitoring Officer) 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Janine Jenkinson 

Telephone: 01539 717493 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack



AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  1 - 8 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 28 February 2012 (copy attached). 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of personal and prejudicial interests 
in respect of items on this Agenda. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration 
of interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she 
is advised to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance 
of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make 
representations or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should 
apply to do so before the commencement of the meeting.  Information on 
how to make the application can be obtained by viewing the Council’s 
Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the Democratic and 
Electoral Services Manager on 01539 717440. 
 
(1) Planning Applications 
 
 Planning applications for which requests to speak have been 

made. 
 
(2) Deputations and Petitions 
 
 Agenda items for which requests to speak have been made. 

 

6  REPORT OF THE INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(COMMUNITIES)  

9 - 114 

 To determine planning applications received.  

7  A REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY FROM 2 JANUARY  - 27 
JANUARY 2012  

115 - 122 

 To inform Members about enforcement activity.  

 
 

  



8  A QUARTERLY REPORT ON THE OUTSTANDING ENFORCEMENT 
CASELOAD AT  JANUARY 2012  

123 - 132 

 To inform Members about the outstanding enforcement caseload.  

9  ANNUAL REPORT - ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DURING 2011  133 - 136 

 To inform Members about enforcement activity during 2011.  

10  APPEALS UPDATE AT 27 MARCH 2012  137 - 146 

 To provide Members with information about the receipt and determination 
of planning appeals from the start of the financial year in April. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph 
number)  

 

There are no items in this part of the Agenda.  



This page is intentionally left blank



69 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Committee held in the District 
Council Chamber at South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Tuesday, 28 February 2012 
at 10.00 a.m. 

Present 

Councillors 

Ian McPherson (Chairman) 
Sheila Eccles (Vice-Chairman) 

Alan Baverstock Brian Cooper Joss Curwen 
Philip Dixon Sylvia Emmott Brenda Gray 
Tom Harvey Janette Jenkinson David Williams 
Mary Wilson   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Colin Davies, Clive Graham, 
John Holmes, Kevin Lancaster, Sonia Lawson and Mary Orr. 
 

Officers 

Zaheer Bashir Solicitor 

Janine Jenkinson Assistant Democratic Services Officer 

Barry Jackson Development Management Team Leader 

Mark Shipman Development Management Group Manager 

P/086 MINUTES 

In relation to Minute No.SL/2011/0905, Councillor David Williams pointed out that at 
the last sentence of the first paragraph the word ‘comprised’ should be replaced with 
the word ‘consisted’.  

RESOLVED – That, subject to the amendment detailed above, the Chairman be 
authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the Committee 
held on 26 January 2012. 

P/087 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that the following declarations of interest were 
made:- 

(1) Councillor Brian Cooper - Minute P/091 (Planning Application 
No.SL/2011/0936); 

(2) Councillor Sheila Eccles - Minute P/092 (Planning Application 
No.SL/2011/1072); 

(3) Councillor Ian McPherson - Minute P/090 (Planning Application 
No.SL/2011/0626); 

(4) Councillor Mary Wilson - Minute P/090 (Planning Application 
No.SL/2011/1034); 

Item No.2

Page 1



70 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

(5) Development Management Group Team Leader, Barry Jackson - Minute 
P/091 (Planning Application No.SL/2011/0896);and 

(6) Development Management Group Manager, Mark Shipman - Minute P/092 
(Planning Application No.SL/2011/1072); 

P/088 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – EXCLUDED ITEMS 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that there were no items in Part II of the Agenda. 

P/089 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

The Development Management Group Manager submitted a Schedule of Planning 
Applications and his recommendations thereon. 

RESOLVED – That 

(1) the applications be determined as indicated below (the numbers denote the 
Schedule numbers of the application); 

(2) except where stated below, the applications be subject to the relevant 
conditions and advice notes, as outlined in the Schedule; and 

(3) except where stated below, the reasons for refusal be those as outlined in 
the Schedule. 

 Note – The Chairman, Councillor Ian McPherson, declared a personal interest 
in the following item of business, by virtue of being a member of the Yorkshire 
Dales National Park.  The Yorkshire Dales National Park had been consulted 
on the application. 

P/090 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 Planning Applications 

RESOLVED – That the following applications, for which representations have been 
received from members of the public, in accordance with Minute 1810 (1996/97), be 
determined in the following manner:- 

1.SL/2011/0626 OLD HUTTON AND HOLMESCALES: Land adjacent to Town 
House and Bendrigg Lodge, Old Hutton, Kendal.   Erection of 
two wind turbines.  (Mr Colin Parson) 

 Stephen Hinchliffe, spoke on behalf of Friends of Eden, Lakes 
and Lunesdale Scenery (FELLS) in objection to the application.  
He stated that the turbines were large, inefficient and would 
have a detrimental impact on the countryside.  A full copy of his 
speech has been placed on the Democratic Services file. 

Robert Ian Robertson, spoke in objection to the application.  He 
stated that guidance from the Department for Energy and 
Climate Change advised that there should be ‘at least a three 
month period of advance wind speed testing put in place before 
a decision to install a wind turbine was taken’.  He urged the 
Committee to reject the application to stop the proliferation of 
single small scale turbine installations.  A full copy of his speech 

Page 2



71 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

has been placed on the Democratic Services File. 

Colin Parson, the applicant responded to the points raised.  He 
advised that the height of the turbines stated in the report as 27 
metres was incorrect and that they would be 22 metres high 
from blade to tip.  He stated that the turbines would essentially 
be the size of a ‘big trees’ and would exert only a minimal impact 
on the visual amenity of the landscape.   

Members considered that the proposal would exert a detrimental 
impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding 
landscape which would not be outweighed by the benefits of 
renewable energy generation. 

 REFUSE 

10.SL/2012/0001 KENDAL: 59 Captain French Lane.  Creation of three dwellings.  
(Mrs C Woodward) 

 Members felt that it would be beneficial to undertake a site visit 
in order to fully assess the site and surrounding location. . 

Glynis Younes registered to speak on the application, elected to 
defer her address to the Committee until the application was 
presented to a future meeting 

 DEFERRED – to allow a site visit. 

Note – Councillor Mary Wilson declared a personal and prejudicial interest in 
the following item of business, by virtue of having previously discussed and 
commented on the application.  She left the Council Chamber during the 
discussion and voting thereon. 

8.SL/2011/1034 GRANGE OVER SANDS: Batemans of Grange, Station Square.  
Extension of time condition on SL/2008/1173 – erection of new 
supermarket and formation of car park.  (E H Booth) 

 The Development Management Group Manager advised that the 
main issues for consideration were whether there had been 
significant material changes in circumstances, including change 
in policy, since the original permission.  It was reported that at a 
meeting held the previous evening Grange Town Council had 
been informed that the District Council would now consider retail 
development on the Berners site.     

Town Councillor Nick Thorne, spoke on behalf of Grange Town 
Council.  He commented that Grange Town Council was not 
opposed to a supermarket per se, but felt that due to significant 
material changes in circumstances, including change in policy, 
since the original permission the application should be 
resubmitted.  A full copy of his speech has been placed on file. 

Andrew Fletcher, a local resident spoke in objection to the 
application.  He raised concern in relation to the impact a 
supermarket would have on the vitality and viability of the town.  

Page 3



72 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

A full copy of his speech has been placed on the Democratic 
Services file. 

Peter Nightingale read out a statement on behalf of Paul 
Hughes.  The impact of the economic downturn was highlighted.  
Members were asked to re-assess the application in the light of 
significant changes since the initial consent was granted.  A full 
copy of the representation has been placed on the Democratic 
Services file. 

Francis Chaney, on behalf of Grange–over-Sands Spar shop 
stated that a supermarket in this location would irrefutably harm 
the vitality and viability of Grange Town Centre.  A full copy of 
his representation has been placed on the Democratic Services 
file. 

Judith Shapland made comments in relation to the impact on 
local retailers, the loss of public parking provision and 
highlighted that circumstances had significantly changed since 
the original application was granted.  A full copy of her statement 
has been placed on the Democratic Services file.   

Jon Riley stated that a supermarket would detrimentally impact 
on existing independent specialist retailers in the area and urged 
the Committee to re-appraise the application in light of the 
changed economic circumstances since the original application 
was granted.  

Councillor Mary Wilson advised that the layout of Grange Town 
was linear and had two key shopping centres at either end of the 
Town.  She stated that the proposed site of the development 
would increase traffic generation and congestion.  Concerns 
were raised in relation to the impact of a supermarket on small 
local retailers and the unique character of the Grange Town 
Centre. 

Steven Abbott, the applicant’s agent responded.  He highlighted 
that the Government had introduced a procedure for extending 
time limits in 2009 to make it easier for developers and local 
planning authority’s to keep planning permission alive for longer 
during the economic downturn.  He stated that the proposal 
would be located on the edge of Town and was sequentially the 
best available site.  The proposal would accord with the South 
Lakeland Retail Study, which identified a quantitative need for a 
supermarket within the Key Service Centre of the Town. In 
addition, he reported that flood mitigation matters on site were 
progressing well.  

A lengthy debate ensued and Members gave full consideration 
to all the relevant matters raised by the application.  Some 
Members felt the development should be refused on the grounds 
that there had been no material change in circumstances to 
warrant an extension. 

However, in light of the information received regarding the 

Page 4



73 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

viability of the Berners site, the majority of Members felt that it 
would be beneficial to defer a decision to allow further 
investigation and undertake a site visit. 

 DEFERRED – to allow a site visit to be undertaken and 
additional information to be sought. 

P/091 COMPLEX PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

RESOLVED – That the following applications be determined in the manner set out:-  

2.SL/2011/0647 LEVENS: Land at High Sampool, Levens, Kendal LA8 8EQ.  
Erection of Poultry Unit with manure store.  (Mr J Mason) 

 DEFERRED – to allow a site visit. 

6.SL/2011/0991 PRESTON RICHARD: Carter House, Crooklands, Milnthorpe.  
Erection of 15m high (to tip of blade) wind turbine.  
(Mr Andrew Galbraith) 

 A site visit had been undertaken and Members had had the 
opportunity to view and assess the proposal in relation to the 
surrounding landscape. 

The Committee was advised that the main issue raised by the 
application was the effect of the proposed wind turbine on the 
character and appearance of the rural location.  The turbine 
would be located on the western slope of the drumlin field in an 
elevated position.  It would be visible from the A65 in the east, 
the B6385 to the south and from various points along the canal 
path to the south and west. 

While it was acknowledged that the small size of the turbine 
would minimise the visual impact, Members felt the proposal 
would have a substantial and adverse visual impact and would 
cause unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of 
the surrounding drumlin field.  

 REFUSE 

Note – The Development Management Team Leader, Barry Jackson declared a 
personal and prejudicial interest in the following item of business, by virtue of 
being a member of Kendal Rugby Club.  He left the Council Chamber during 
the discussion and voting thereon. 

3.SL/2011/0896 KENDAL: Land at Oxenholme Road, Kendal.  Extension to time 
condition on SL/2008/1220 engineering operations to re-grade 
site to form two rugby pitches, a floodlit training pitch, clubhouse, 
parking and landscaped wood. (Morbaine Ltd) 

 The Committee was reminded that the issue to be considered 
was whether or not any policies or other information had 
changed sufficiently as to render the proposal unsuitable. 

Members felt there was an essential need for the Kendal Rugby 

Page 5



74 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

Club to relocate and considered the proposal in accordance with 
policy.  

 GRANT – subject to the Conditions detailed in the Schedule. 

Note – Councillor Brian Cooper declared a personal and prejudicial interest in 
the following item of business, by virtue of being a Masonic Lodge member..  
He left the Council Chamber during the discussion and voting thereon.   

4.SL/2011/0936 ULVERSTON: Masonic Hall, Kings Road, Ulverston.  Rear 
extension to accommodate escape stairs and new changing 
rooms.  (Mr Alan Jones) 

 The Development Management Group Team Leader reported 
that the main issue for consideration was the impact of the 
development on the aspect and amenity of the adjoining 
residential property, in particular the proposed extension to 
house the staircase.  

Members decided to visit the site in order to gauge the effect of 
the staircase extension on the living conditions enjoyed by the 
occupiers of the neighbouring property. 

 DEFERRED – to allow a site visit. 

5.SL/2011/0974 ULVERSTON: Land at Old Hall Road, Ulverston.  Erection of 
four dwellings.  (Mr K Pike) 

 The application was for the development of four houses on a site 
with consent for three dwellings. 

A discussion took place, during which concerns were expressed 
regarding the scale of the proposal, car parking provision and 
road safety.  Members felt that a fourth dwelling would be an 
overdevelopment of the site and that an additional access at the 
southern end of the site would be detrimental to highway safety. 

 REFUSE – due to the overdevelopment of the site, insufficient 
car parking provision and highway safety in relation to the 
second access. 

P/092 ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING 

The Committee adjourned for lunch at 1.15 p.m. and reconvened at 2.00 p.m. when 
the same Members were present, with the exception of Councillor Tom Harvey. 

P/093 COMPLEX PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 RESOLVED – That the following applications be determined in the manner set out:- 

7.SL/2011/1004 KIRKBY LONSDALE: Fleet Farm, Lupton.  Change of use of 
stone farm building to office and store, demolition of derelict 
cubicle building to form timber stock yard, alterations to farm 
building to form woodchip store and improvements to access.  
(W Barden Biomass Ltd)  

Page 6



75 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

 The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer had advised that 
the operation of the wood-chipping machine should be restricted 
to the working day hours only to restrict any adverse noise 
impact. 

Members considered that the use of the vacant farm steading by 
the applicant’s biomass business represented an excellent form 
of re-use for the former farm buildings and silage yard and a 
business well-suited to a rural location. 

 GRANT – subject to the Conditions detailed in the Schedule. 

Note – Councillor Sheila Eccles declared a personal and prejudicial interest in 
the following item of business, by virtue of being the Chairman of Preston 
Richard Parish Council.  

The Development Management Group Manager, Mark Shipman also declared a 
personal and prejudicial interest in the item by virtue of having a connection 
to the site.  Both Councillor Eccles and Mark Shipman left the Council 
Chamber during the discussion and voting thereon. 

9.SL/2011/1072 PRESTON RICHARD: Gatebeck Caravan Park, Gatebeck 
Road, Endmoor.  Variation of Condition 5 on 
SW5601/WCC1719B (1963), Condition 3 on 5/90/3067 and 
5/90/0702 relating to the opening season.  (Mr Nigel Wimpenny) 

 The Committee considered that the use of the caravans for an 
additional six weeks would not affect the character or 
appearance of the area and was unlikely to generate additional 
vehicles movements or cause greater disturbance than at 
present. 

 GRANT – subject to the Condition detailed in the Schedule. 

 

P/094 ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY FROM 5 TO 30 DECEMBER 2011 

Members were presented with a report on enforcement activity between 5 and 30 
December 2011.  Five outstanding cases from the caseload had been resolved. 
Fifteen new complaints had been recorded and were presently being investigated of 
which three had been resolved. 

Old Goodacre Site, Aynam Road, Kendal 

Planning Permission SL/2005/0743 had been granted for the retail of carpets 
manufactured by the Goodacre Carpets of Kendal Company on the large Castle 
Mills site.  The permission was for the formation of a factory shop retailing carpets 
made on site.  To comply with Policy R2 of the South Lakeland Local Plan a 
Condition had been attached specifying that the use of the factory shop was to be 
only for the sale of carpets and carpet ancillaries manufactured on site or traded by 
the applicant Carpet Company.  The Company had ceased to manufacture or 
operate from Castle Mills. 

Page 7



76 
28.2.2012 Planning 

 
 

The current occupants of the site were not the original applicants and were not 
manufacturing carpets on site but were retailing general furniture.  This constituted a 
material change of use from a mixture of manufacturing with sales to purely retail.   

In view of the potential redevelopment of the overall Canal Head and the detail of 
saved Policy R2, a temporary use of the site would not be open to planning 
objections.  Members were advised that if the occupant of the furniture retail outlet 
refused to submit an application the Council would need to consider the expediency 
of taking enforcement action to control the retail use. 

A-Board Action Plan 

Members were updated on progress on action taken so far.  One hundred and 
twenty one letters had been sent to traders in the core area of Kendal displaying ‘A’ 
boards on the highway which were considered to cause harm to the character of the 
Kendal Conservation Area or present a safety issue to highway users.  

In response many traders in receipt of the letter had expressed concern that the 
enforcement action would have an adverse impact on their business.  Three 
meetings had been held between businesses and the District Council during 
February.  There had been a call from business traders, Cumbria Chamber of 
Commerce and the Federation of Small Businesses to establish a code for the siting 
of A boards.  It was felt that such a code would balance the need for vitality of town 
centre business, town centre user access and safety and the visual appearance of 
the town centre.  Such a code could provide a means to manage the use of A 
boards and encourage a ‘self-policing’ approach by businesses.     

At present the District Council was on schedule with the Action Plan as detailed in 
the December Committee report.  Members were recommended to note progress to 
date and pause the plan to allow further consideration to the development of a 
proposed code for the use of A boards. 

RESOLVED – That  

(1) the report be noted; 

(2) in respect of Old Goodacre Site, Aynam Road, Kendal, the occupants be 
requested to submit a retrospective planning application for the change of 
use for a limited period of 2 years; and 

(3) in respect of the A-Board Action Plan, progress to date be noted and the 
plan be paused for six months to request that an Overview and Scrutiny 
Task and Finish Group be established to consider the development of a 
code for the use of A boards. 

P/095  APPEALS 

RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 

The meeting ended at 3.15 p.m. 

 

Page 8



SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
From:  Interim Corporate Director (Communities) 
To:    Planning Committee – 27 March 2012 

 

REPORT OF INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR (COMMUNITIES) 

 
 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION Page No 

Index    

Schedule A - Complex planning applications 13 -110 

Schedule B - Planning applications where the Interim Corporate 
Director (Communities) is seeking authority to determine 

None 

Schedule C - Applications relating to Listed Buildings  111-114 

Schedule D - Advertisements None 

Schedule E - Development by South Lakeland District Council and 
Cumbria County Council 

None 

Schedule F - Straightforward planning applications None 

Schedule G - All other submissions None 

 

Background papers relating to the subject matter of the report 

For all items the background papers are contained in the files listed in the second column of the 
schedule index. 
 
 
Note:   The background papers may be inspected at the offices of the Interim Corporate Director 

(Communities), Lowther Street, Kendal, Cumbria 

 
 

Item No.6

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL  

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 27 March 2012 
 

 
SCHEDULE  

NUMBER 

REFERENCE 

NUMBER 

SECTION  

 

 SITE ADDRESS 

 
ALDINGHAM 

10 SL/2012/0050 A (97-103)  Land adjacent to Beech Mount 

 

BEETHAM 

    

11 SL/2012/0060 A (105-109)  Fell End Caravan Park, Hale 

 
GRANGE over SANDS 

4 SL/2011/1034 A (45-68)  Bateman’s of Grange, Station Square 

 
KENDAL 

6 SL/2012/0001 A (75 – 78)  59 Captain French Lane 

9 SL/2012/0041 A (93-95)  30 Whinfell Drive 

 
 KIRKBY IRELETH 

7 SL/2012/0003 A (79-84)  Mill Bank Cottage, Beckside 

 
KIRKBY LONSDALE 

5 SL/2011/1041 A (69-74)  Lane House Barns, off the A65 

 
LEVENS 

1 SL/2011/0647 A (13-34)  Land at High Sampool 

3 SL/2011/1033 A (39-43)  Whinfield, Force Lane 

 
LUPTON 

12 SL/2012/0055 
(XTNT – FPA) 
And 
SL/2012/0074 
(XTNT -  LBC) 

C (111-114)  Thompson Fold 

 
OLD HUTTON 

8 SL/2012/0038 A (85-92)  Hutton Substation 

 
ULVERSTON 

2 SL/2011/0936 A (35-38)  Masonic Hall, Kings Road 

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

    1                                                                         SL/2011/0647 

LEVENS:  
LAND AT HIGH 
SAMPOOL  LA8 8EQ 
 
PROPOSAL:  
ERECTION OF 
POULTRY UNIT WITH 
MANURE STORE 
 
 
 
 
 
MR J MASON  

 
E348344 N484716   27/03/2012 

 
 

SUMMARY:   

This is an application for the erection of a large poultry building at High Sampool near 
Levens.  It was deferred at the Planning Committee meeting in February for Members to 
undertake a site visit.  It was previously deferred at the meeting in November 2011 to 
allow the agent to address the issues relating to the potential impact on the nearby 
environmentally designated areas.  These have now been resolved, however issues 
remain with regards to the impact on residential amenity and the character and 
appearance of the landscape.  Refuse. 

 

LEVENS PARISH COUNCIL: 

Since Levens Parish Council wrote to you on 1 March 2011 three things have 
happened: 

1. The whole Parish Council has visited the site (as we recommend the Planning 
Committee should do). 

2. A revised planning application has been submitted. 

3. A petition opposing the application has circulated within the village. 

 
The Parish Council has now further considered the application and has the following 
comments and concerns: 

• We do not know how many people signed the petition or what the motivation 
for any individual signature was. 

• It is clear from our site visit that the building will be well shielded by trees from 
the west and south.  It is also shielded and some distance downwind from the 
nearest properties at High Sampool. 

Page 13



• While it will be visible from a few properties in Levens and Leasgill they are 
almost a mile away and the building will be no more intrusive on the 
environment than several other similar farm buildings in the area. 

• Concerns about odour, noise from fans and any increased risk of flooding will 
no doubt be double checked by SLDC. 

• We live in a rural, farming area.  Not only is there a need for the country to 
ensure adequate food supplies, there is also an entitlement for a farmer to be 
able to earn a living.  This is particularly so when intensive battery hen farming 
will be banned from January 2012 and the proposed building appears to 
conform to current good practice. 

• The parish council are concerned that if planning permission is refused by 
SLDC the applicant might go to appeal and win.  This could result in 
considerable unnecessary expense for all parties. 

At the conclusion of discussion the parish council voted on whether to recommend to 
SLDC that the application be approved subject to expert input on the risk of flooding.  
The results of the voting are as follows: 

3 for, 0 against, 3 abstained and 2 members declared an interest and did not 
participate in the discussion or voting. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

The proposal is broadly acceptable to Cumbria Highways.  Have some concerns 
regarding the extraordinary damage to the public highway that may result from this 
proposal, and a joint inspection should be made with their engineers prior to 
commencement of construction with a view to monitoring the road beyond the bridge 
in particular.  Further joint inspection should be undertaken, as to be agreed. 

Conditions with regard to the access drive gradient, construction of access and 
parking requirements before the use is commenced, surfacing of the access drive, a 
scheme of surface water drainage and access gates recessed have been requested. 

Following changes to the scheme which involve the manure being transported from 
the site, the proposal is still acceptable to Cumbria Highways. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION OFFICER (SLDC): 

Noise 

The building is to be located 52 meters from the nearest boundary of High Sampool. 
This is a large residential garden area.  

The developer engaged Scenic Acoustics to carry out a BS 4142 Noise Assessment 
for the proposed unit which covers the impact of the poultry unit on background noise 
levels and the likelihood of complaints. 

The new application states that ten cooling fans will be placed within the eastern 
gable end wall facing Levens.  Natural ventilation will be provided by a number of 
vents along the sides of the building under the eaves and an open vent at the apex of 
the roof.  

The cooling fans are electronically controlled and are not engaged until the 
temperature rises to a preset level within the building.  I am aware that the use of all 

Page 14



fans running will be seasonal and they will not all be running at night when 
temperatures fall. 

Background noise levels have been measured at night at the boundary of High 
Sampool on the western elevation.  The lowest background noise level recorded by 
Scenic Acoustics over a 5 min monitoring period was 30 dBA L90.  I have carried out 
my own noise monitoring and have established a background of 35dBA L90 over a 5 
min period. 

It has been calculated that with ten fans running simultaneously and with a 5 dBA 
correction factor for tonal noise and 3 dBA reduction for the building façade 
reflections the fans will be 7 dBA above background of 30 dBA L90 5min 
(background) at the boundary. 

It is unlikely that this noise level will be a nuisance at this location at night.  It is 
unlikely that ten fans will be running at this time of night.  Fan noise should not be 
audible within bedrooms. 

The lowest daytime noise levels at the boundary of High Sampool are 42.8 dBA L90 
5min, this increase is due to traffic on the A590, passing traffic and wildlife.  The 
predicted fan noise of ten fans at the boundary with a tonal correction of 5 dBA and a 
3 dBA reduction for the façade reflection will be 37 dBA Leq.  The fans should not 
impact upon background noise levels and it is not likely that nuisance will occur to the 
residents of High Sampool. 

Dust 

I have been informed that ventilation within the building will be natural ventilation with 
the addition of cooling fans when required.  There are to be no extract fans.  Dust will 
be emitted through the side vents which are to be located under the roof overhang. 
Odours and dust will naturally emanate from the vents.  Should vents be located 
closer to ground level then they should be pest proof and will emit dust more readily. 

The siting of the feed hopper should be at the eastern elevation to minimise noise 
from its filling, by the building structure.  All spillages from the hopper should be 
cleaned regularly so as not to attract rats. 

Manure 

The manure should be kept dry as it will be contained within a purpose built building. 

Manure when spread gives off strong odours and the likelihood of odours when wet 
increases. 

Should the manure not be ploughed into the ground and is rained upon, nuisance 
odours may arise.  I am aware that Sampool Holiday Park is in close proximity of 
neighbouring farmland. 

Flies  

A particular problem associated with poultry buildings are House Flies.  It is 
imperative that the manure is checked for larvae and kept dry.  The storage of 
manure heaps in fields should be discouraged and not allowed to become wet. 
Suitable drainage should be incorporated in order that the floor inside the building 
does not become wet. 

Pest control 

Rats are inquisitive and will explore the premises.  A pest control contract should be 
in place.  An integrated pest management plan should be devised for the business. 

Page 15



All spillages should be cleaned up immediately.  Manure should be examined for 
larvae and Neporex larvicide applied if necessary. 

Earth mounds, voids under concrete and dense vegetation should be avoided around 
the building as this will provide harbourage for rats. 

Drainage 

I am aware the land has been flooded in the past and I have seen photographs. 
Suitable land drainage should be incorporated in order that neighbouring land does 
not become affected by run-off.  Advice should be sought from the Environment 
Agency. 

Dead poultry 

A suitably sized freezer should be incorporated within a room to store dead hens 
prior to collection by a licensed carrier. 

Nuisance 

Due to the close proximity of the building to neighbouring properties any failures in 
manure management, fan maintenance and general husbandry will have implications 
to cause nuisance.  

 

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: 

The Agency’s comments on planning application ref. SL/2011/0045 are also 
applicable to this proposal (particularly the condition requested for foul and surface 
water drainage).  These comments are included below.  A condition requesting a 
scheme to manage the disposal of poultry manure has also been requested. 

Environmental Management 

The proposed total number of bird places is just 150 below the 40,000 threshold for a 
permit issued under the Environmental Permitting (England & Wales) Regulations 
2010.  The operator will need to ensure that the maximum number of places is below 
this threshold.  

The operator should apply the Best Available Techniques (BAT) to the construction 
and operation of the poultry building to reduce the risk of pollution. 

In summary, the Agency would expect the poultry building to meet the following 
requirements to help reduce the risk of pollution: 

• drinkers and troughs should be designed to prevent leakage; 

• housing should be well insulated, have an impermeable floor and have a 
damp proof course; 

• the ventilation system should match the necessary health and welfare of the 
birds and be designed to minimise emissions from the building; 

• litter should be kept as dry and friable as possible to minimise ammonia 
emissions; 

• if the building has roof outlets any roof water drains should not drain directly to 
a watercourse / surface water without interception eg to an appropriate 
soakaway or swale to allow attenuation of any dust within the water; 

• the midden should have contained drainage; 

Page 16



• appropriate wash water collection tanks should be in place to capture all wash 
water from the shed; wash water should be spread in line with the Code of 
Good Agricultural Practice.  The tank design should ensure there is no risk of 
pollution from wash water; 

• any fuel storage should be in line with The Water Resources (Silage, Slurry 
and Agricultural Fuel Oil) Regulations 2010; 

• feed silos should be located to minimise the risk of collision. 

Construction of the building should ensure the risk of pollution from silty water run-off 
or other pollutants is minimised, with particular regard to the nearby River Kent. 

Poultry waste should be stored and spread on land in accordance with the DEFRA 
Code of Good Agricultural Practice “Protecting our water, soil and air.”  We strongly 
recommend that a comprehensive manure management plan is produced which will 
help meet the standards of environmental management set out in this Code.   

Flood Risk 

The site is located within the indicative tidal flood plain, the area of which is based on 
the approximate extent of floods with a 0.5% annual probability of occurrence.  The 
site falls within a high risk flood zone.  PPS25 recommends that for planning 
applications within a high risk flood zone, a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
appropriate to the scale and nature of the development, should be provided by the 
applicant.  The site is also at risk from fluvial flooding from the River Kent or a 
combination of fluvial / tidal. 

An FRA has been produced by Planning Branch Ltd., dated June 2010 and has been 
submitted with the application. 

The Agency would recommend that the applicant is aware of the Shoreline 
Management Plan (SMP) and any implication on their proposals. 

It is understood that there will be some ground raising activity to bring the level up to 
that of the road which should reduce flood risk to the development.  As this area is 
identified as being at risk of tidal flooding there would be no issues with loss of flood 
plain storage. 

The applicant should be fully aware of the flood risk, potential depth of flooding and 
flood frequency at this location and any impact this may have on their proposal. 
Flood resilience measures should be considered where practicable during the build 
construction.  Where practicable the use of rainwater harvesting or sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) should be used to improve water quality and reduce 
surface water run-off.  

Although there are no issues of loss of flood storage associated with development 
in the tidal flood plain the applicant should ensure that flow routes are not affected 
should there be a breach of the River Kent embankment.  It is recommended that the 
developer discharge surface water to a swale or infiltration ditch directly adjacent to 
the building to prevent further exacerbation of existing drainage / flooding problems in 
the local drainage system.  This will also provide additional storage prior to discharge 
into the existing drainage system.  

Any culverting of a watercourse requires the prior written approval of the Local 
Authority and the prior written consent of the Agency.  The Agency seeks to avoid 
culverting, and its consent for such works will not normally be granted except for 
access crossings. 

Page 17



There are currently ongoing discussions regarding the pumping stations as to 
whether the Agency will transfer ownership or decommission this facility.  The 
applicant should consider any effect such changes may have on their proposals. 

Biodiversity 

This development is less than 200m from the River Kent and Morecambe Bay Site of 
Special Scientific Interest, Special Area of Conservation, Special Protection Area and 
Ramsar.  There are also drainage ditches near to the development which provide a 
potential pathway for pollutants from the development to the Kent and designated 
site. 

Prior to planning permission this development will need to be assessed under the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 for any impacts on the 
Morecambe Bay SPA, SAC.  The aerial emissions, wash water, manure and any 
other potentially polluting substances have the potential to be relevant to the 
Morecambe Bay European site.  Any external lighting and noise might also be 
relevant to the SPA.  Natural England should be consulted. 

A condition has been requested requiring a scheme to dispose of foul and surface 
water to be submitted. 

 

NATURAL ENGLAND: 

We have considered the proposal against the full range of Natural England’s 
interests in the natural environment but our comments are focussed on the following 
specific matters:  
 
Designated Sites  

Natural England can confirm that the proposals within the planning application are 
located close to nationally and internationally designated sites as listed in the 
ecological report and Natural England’s response letter of 8th March 2011 in 
connection with the earlier planning application (SL/2011/0045).  The sites in closest 
proximity include Morecambe Bay SAC/SPA and the Witherslack Mosses SAC – and 
component SSSIs within these sites.  The River Kent SAC, whilst designated 
upstream of the development site, is also potentially relevant as the downstream 
reach of the river forms an important part of the overall functioning of the wider river 
system and its interest features.  

In view of the national and international importance of these sites, Natural England 
advises that before considering granting planning permission for the development, 
South Lakeland District Council must ensure the scheme is fully assessed under both 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as incorporated by The Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000 (the 1981 Act) and the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (“Habitats Regulations”).  We would remind SLDC that Section 
28G of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as inserted by Section 75 of and 
Schedule 9 to the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, places a duty on public 
authorities, including local planning authorities, to take reasonable steps consistent 
with the proper exercise of their functions to further the conservation and 
enhancement of SSSIs.  Similarly, Regulation 9(5) of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010 (“Habitats Regulations”) requires every competent 
authority, in the exercise of any of its functions, to have regard to the requirements of 
the Habitats Directive. 

Page 18



The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’) In accordance with Regulation 61 of the Habitats Regulations, the City 
Council, as competent authority, must complete a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) of the effects on the interest features of the European site(s) before 

considering granting permission for this development.  The Habitats Regulations 
Assessment is required to assess any likely significant effects on the interest features 
of the European Site, with reference to the site conservation objectives. The HRA 
needs to look at any potential effects of the proposed development project, alone or 
in combination with other plans or projects, for all phases of the development – 
including construction and permanent operation.  If likely significant effects are 
identified then the Council is required to carry out an Appropriate Assessment under 
the Habitats Regulations.  

Natural England’s view is that the Habitats Regulations Assessment should consider 
the following:  

• Whether the development and its operation would have a likely significant 
effect on the interest features of the European sites as a result of emissions to 
air, particularly ammonia.  This should be assessed in relation to potential N 
deposition at the Witherslack Mosses SAC in particular. 

• Whether the development and its operation would have a likely significant 
effect on the interest features of the European sites as a result of a 
deterioration in water quality arising from surface run-off and pollutants via all 
relevant pathways.  The risk of water quality impacts on the European sites 
should be fully assessed for all phases of the development.  

In general terms, for development proposals adjacent to SAC / SPA sites such as 
Morecambe Bay and the River Kent, the issues likely to be relevant during 
construction, operation and decommissioning phases include: 

• the potential for direct damage, modification or disturbance to SAC / SPA 
species and their habitat; 

• the potential for sediment or other polluting run-off to enter the river - both 
during the construction period (including earthworks, storage and use of 
machinery, materials and fuels) and any potential siltation, run-off or other 
pollution arising from the development in its construction / permanent / 
operational phase.  This must include consideration of manure management 
and spreading on adjacent land.  Any discharge from the site arising from foul 
drainage / sewage treatment / other drainage must not lead to a deterioration 
in water quality in the river or its feeder tributaries; 

• the potential for introduction and / or spread of invasive non-native species; 

• and any other issues that may lead to significant effects on the SAC interest 
features arising from the development proposals. 

Natural England notes that the proposed development site is within Flood Zone 3 and 
this should therefore be taken into account in the Habitats Regulations Assessments.  

In line with the precautionary principle underpinning the Regulations, we would also 
advise the Council on the importance of reviewing whether the information supplied 
is sufficient to adequately assess all relevant issues and ensure confidence in the 
assessment of effects.  

Page 19



Also, to enable compliance with the requirements of S28I of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981, as amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) 
Act 2000 (the 1981 Act), the Council also needs to consider any potential effects on 
the additional interest features of the SSSIs. 

 
Protected species  

We have adopted national standing advice for protected species.  As standing 
advice, it is a material consideration in the determination of the proposed 
development in this application in the same way as any individual response received 
from Natural England following consultation and should therefore be fully considered 
before a formal decision on the planning application is made. 

 
Biodiversity enhancements  

Planning applications may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the 
design which are beneficial to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting 
opportunities for bats or the installation of bird nest boxes.  We would normally 
advise that the authority should consider securing measures to enhance the 
biodiversity of the site from the applicant, if it is minded to grant permission for this 
application. 

 
Response to further information provided by the applicant (received  4/11/11): 

Designated Sites 

Natural England has previously advised on the need for the District Council to 
complete a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) for this proposal in our response 
letter dated 19th September 2011. 

The HRA needs to look at any potential effects of the proposed development project, 
alone or in combination with other plans or projects, for all phases of the 
development – including construction and permanent operation.  If likely significant 
effects are identified then the Council is required to carry out an Appropriate 
Assessment under the Habitats Regulations. 

We would therefore advise that the District Council take account of any relevant 
information supplied with the “Additional Information” when completing this 
assessment.  In line with the precautionary principle underpinning the Regulations, 
we would also advise the Council on the importance of reviewing whether the 
information supplied is sufficient to adequately assess all relevant issues and ensure 
confidence in the assessment of effects. 
 
Response to SLDC’s Assessment of Likely Significant Effect (received  8/02/12): 

Confirm that Natural England agrees with the District Council’s assessment subject 
to all the necessary mitigation, as described in the assessment, being fully secured 
through any final planning permission. 

 

CUMBRIA WILDLIFE TRUST: 

Cumbria Wildlife Trust is concerned that the application will have an adverse effect 
on nationally and internationally designated wildlife sites including Morecambe Bay 
SAC / SPA and the Witherslack Mosses SAC and the component SSSIs within these 

Page 20



sites.  Cumbria Wildlife Trust has had sight of the consultation response from Natural 
England regarding the need for a full ecological assessment of the possible impacts 
that this development may have on the protected sights and wholeheartedly agrees 
that these issues need to be addressed. 

We therefore object to the application on the grounds of a lack of ecological 
information.  Currently there is not enough information available within the application 
documents for SLDC to make a decision.  The applicant needs to supply further 
information regarding:  

• potential for direct damage to SPA / SAC species and habitats; 

• damage during the construction phase (e.g. from sedimentation or discharge into 
the watercourse); 

• the potential for damage during the operation of the facility; 

• the potential for nitrogen deposition from the development when in operation; 

• the potential impact on water quality in the River Kent from run-off from fields that 
have been spread with chicken manure. 

Only with this information supplied will there be enough evidence for a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment to be carried out by SLDC as the competent authority under 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’). 

 
Response to further information provided by the applicant (received  2/11/11): 

We do not consider that there has been enough information provided by the applicant 
to address the issue of pollutant run-off from fields spread with chicken manure into 
the River Kent and thus into the Morecambe Bay Natura 2000 site 
(SAC/SPA/Ramsar).  It has not been demonstrated that this manure spreading would 
not have an adverse effect on the interest features of the protected sites.  According 
to the Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 it needs to be determined by SLDC 
whether there will be an adverse impact on the Natura 2000 sites through an 
assessment of whether there will be a likely significant effect of the development on 
the protected sites. 

Page 9 of the Design and Access Statement indicates that “the hen manure would be 
spread on the High Sampool land” and the Manure Management Plan indicates that 
“As soon as it is removed from the manure building it will either be spread on the land 
or delivered to the neighbouring farmers”.  Without information about pollutant 
pathways under both normal and flood conditions, an assessment of the likely 
significant effect on the Natura 2000 sites of the spreading of this manure on the 
High Sampool land cannot be made.  

The Flood Risk Assessment document states on page 8 “the proposed site is at high 
risk of fluvial flooding, at its present level and distance from the water body.”  Local 
people have photographs of the fields where the manure is to be spread underwater 
during recent floods.  In these conditions, it is hard to see how manure and its 
chemical by-products will not end up in the Morecambe Bay SAC / SPA / Ramsar 
site.  

Cumbria Wildlife Trust takes issue with the statement in the Flood Risk Assessment 
that the site is not at risk from tidal flooding as the River Kent in its tidal range lies 

Page 21



less than 300m from the application site, and the sea walls have failed in recent 
times. 

The Envirotech ecological report offers a rather bland comment regarding 
transportation of contaminants indicating that:  

“The potential for off site transportation of contaminants both during and post 
construction, both organic and inorganic, will need to be addressed by way of 
a pollution control plan.  In particular the storage and disposal of chicken 
manures will need to be undertaken in accordance with Environment Agency 
guidelines for the storage, transportation and spreading of such waste.”  

No pollution control plan has been submitted, and it is hard to see how pollution from 
the spread manure can be controlled if the fields next to ditches and watercourses 
which drain directly into the Natura 2000 site.  Even in normal, non-flooding 
situations, run-off from the fields will end up in the protected site via the network of 
ditches and watercourses which drain the site.  

Cumbria Wildlife Trust therefore continues to object to this application on the basis 
that it has not been shown that there will be no adverse impact on the Morecambe 
Bay SAC / SPA / Ramsar site.  
 

Further response (received  23/01/12) 

The documents provided and the conversation that took place with the applicant’s 
agent before Christmas, both indicating that the chicken manure would not be spread 
on the fields in the high flood risk area, mean that we no longer have an objection to 
the application. 

 

FRIENDS OF THE LAKE DISTRICT (CPRE): 

FLD submitted comments on the earlier application relating to this development 
(SL/2011/0045).  The current proposal appears to be virtually unchanged from the 
earlier proposal.  Given this, we would wish to reiterate the views expressed in 
regard to the earlier application. 

LDF Core Strategy Policy CS8.2 states that proposals for development should be 
informed by, and be sympathetic to, distinctive landscape character types. The site 
lies within Landscape Sub-Type 8B “Broad Valleys”, as defined by the recently 
updated Cumbria Landscape Character Assessment (LCA). 

The LCA describes a medium scale landscape, the more open parts of which exhibit 
a sense of calm within a working farmland, which are sensitive to changes in land 
management.  In regard to “Changes in the Landscape”, the LCA notes that “Large 
scale farm buildings can be found in some parts and are introducing uncharacteristic 
development into the farmed landscape”.  Guidelines include “Minimise development 
impact on local character through ensuring design and scale respects the local 
vernacular and character particularly regarding the introduction of modern large scale 
farm buildings”. 

This application proposes a large scale, intensive farming activity, which would 
involve the construction of a very large utilitarian building.  It is therefore key to 
consider the potential impact this proposal would have upon the character of the 
area. 

Page 22



The proposed site lies in an isolated, tranquil location, within an area of flat, largely 
undeveloped countryside on the floor of the Lyth Valley.  The generally flat nature of 
the valley floor affords wide views across the surrounding countryside.  These 
characteristics make the area particularly attractive to a cyclists and walkers.  The 
route of the Cumbria Coastal Way passes directly adjacent to the site.  

Much of the higher ground which surrounds the site in all directions is covered by 
public rights of way, and / or open access designations, such as Whitbarrow Scar. 
The Grade I Listed Levens Hall lies in close proximity.  The proposed site would be 
visible from the grounds of the Hall. 

The potential visual impact of this development is therefore significant, given the key 
characteristics of the local landscape, and the amount, and sensitivity of, potential 
receptors affected.  The scale and nature of the proposed operation are also likely to 
significantly impact upon the tranquillity of the area, through an increase in noise, 
traffic and general activity. 

In FLD’s view therefore, given the above issues, this development raises conflict with 
LDF Core Strategy Policy CS8.2, RSS Policy EM1, saved Structure Plan Policy E37 
and saved Local Plan Policy C15. 

 

DEFRA: 

No response received. 

 

OTHER: 

A total of 54 letters of objection have been received which raise the following 
concerns: 

• The scale and location of the proposed building is out of proportion with the 
existing properties and will be seriously detrimental to the visual amenities of 
the area.  It will be highly intrusive in this low lying landscape and would result 
in the loss of views across the estuary.  It will be highly visible and unsightly 
from all local aspects, including Levens, Heversham and Leasgill. 

• The scale of the building proposed is such that it would be up to 25% larger 
than the other buildings within the area and, with its attendant feed silos, 
turning area and fencing, would be read as an excessive addition to the 
landscape particularly when viewed from the properties at High Sampool, 
Waterside and Leasgill and the popular public viewpoint of Heversham Head 
from where it will appear as a particularly strident feature in the landscape. 

• The Core Strategy Policy CS8.2 says that proposals for development should 
be informed by and sympathetic to the distinctive character types in the 
Cumbria Landscape Character Toolkit.  The landscape where the building is to 
be sited is classified as broad valleys and it states that we should minimise 
development impacts on local character through ensuring that design and 
scale respects the local character particularly regarding the introduction of 
modern large-scale buildings. 

• This area is bordering the National Park which has been proposed to include 
the Lyth Valley. 

Page 23



• Unacceptable smell from the unit, manure store and from spreading chicken 
manure on adjacent fields and those of neighbouring farms.  It would have a 
significant negative impact on surrounding areas and in particular with the 
prevailing winds.  It would affect neighbouring properties, the nearby Caravan 
Park and residents of Levens including the school and playing fields.   

• The manure is likely to become wet when spread on the land given the high 
rainfall in this area and it will then produce an offensive smell. 

• Dust will be emitted into the atmosphere and the air quality will suffer. 

• There will be an impact on tourism as the proposed development will be near 
to Levens Hall and the Cumbria Coastal Way.  The caravan park will be 
severely affected and all aspects of the economy of Levens and the 
surrounding area will suffer. 

• The noise report states that the sound levels overnight will exceed current 
background levels if more than one fan is running.  It should therefore be 
determined on exactly how many nights a year that more than one fan will run, 
especially as the report states that the welfare of the birds should take 
precedence over any noise levels. 

• To cope with power cuts a stand-by generator will be needed which will be 
another source of noise. 

• The development would attract rats and flies which would impact on the 
people who live close to the site and cause a public health risk. 

• The vast amounts of manure and wastewater produced pose a threat to the 
vulnerable drinking water supply. 

• The buildings next to the site are privately owned houses which will be badly 
affected by noise, smell and general disruption. 

• The narrow country lane is not conducive to an operation of this size and type, 
which will result in an increase in heavy vehicles, and could make the road 
unstable. 

• In addition to the increase in level of traffic to and from the site, it would impact 
adversely on the A590 which is already a dangerous road. 

• The building will be on a flood plain and at present floods regularly.  The hard 
surfaces and building will further limit seepage and run off in this area and 
would compound the flooding problem.  The new building will lead to 
increased flooding of adjacent properties in the area. 

• This is an area that is currently kept free from flooding by the land pumps 
which are expected to be turned off in 2012. 

• The large amount of raw chicken manure constantly produced and planned to 
be spread on local fields will cause a high concentration of nitrogen and 
phosphate.  These fields are frequently wet and the run-off goes to local 
streams, the River Kent and Morecambe Bay.  This will reduce the water 
quality and fish, wildlife and the delicate balance of nature of the bay. 

• The site lies close to the Morecambe Bay and River Kent SSSI.  Morecambe 
Bay is also designated as a SAC, SPA and Ramsar site.  These are all clearly 
important national designations and yet the application contains no 

Page 24



Assessment of Likely Significant Effect of the proposal upon them, as required 
by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.  Given the 
possibility that discharges from the proposed poultry unit could cause 
contamination this would appear to be a serious omission, and without such 
an assessment, it would be totally inappropriate to approve the application. 

• Welfare of the poultry kept in the building. 

Although the three closest neighbouring properties at High Sampool have been 
included in the total number of objections received, they have also raised the 
following additional concerns.  Within these are included the comments from two 
planning consultants, one on behalf of one neighbouring property and the other on 
behalf of three of the adjacent dwellings, and three other properties on Sampool 
Lane. 

• Risk to residents health as a result of the smell, dust, noise, flies and vermin.  
Factory poultry manure produces arsenic which is a known carcinogenic 
agent.  Airborne contaminants in confined poultry units include a mixture of 
agents made up or organic poultry dust, all of which are blown out of the unit 
with the air circulation fans.  Ammonia fumes from the nitrogen in 
decomposing droppings damages the systems of both humans and birds. 

• The proposed unit is only 72 metres from High Sampool House and 43 metres 
from the garden.  This is unacceptable for an industrial farm building of this 
nature.  Future enjoyment of outdoor life within the gardens and surroundings 
will no longer be possible due to the smell, flies and noise that the proposed 
operation will generate. 

• Part 6 of the GPDO 1995 sets up a 400m cordon sanitaire around the 
curtilages of “protected buildings”, which includes a residential property 
normally occupied by people unconnected with a farm.  Some Local Planning 
Authorities use this figure as a rule of thumb, or in Local Plans / UDP’s policies 
(e.g. Flintshire, Beverly etc.) whilst others use 250m.  Government advice is 
that Planning Authorities should exercise particular care when considering 
planning applications for houses or other new protected buildings within 400m 
of established livestock units.  There are clearly no operational reasons as to 
why the building is proposed to be erected in this location. 

• The proposal is next to residential properties and not an existing farm complex 
as stated in the submission. 

• Despite moving all 10 industrial scale fans to the furthest point of the building 
from the dwellings at High Sampool, the report concludes that if all fans were 
operating at night then noise levels would exceed the existing very low night 
time background noise level sufficient enough to cause complaint.  Similarly 
the feed blower will exceed daytime background noise levels. 

• Noise and disturbance from the increase in heavy traffic. 

• The very localised weather patterns that occur at Sampool, driven by the 
pattern of tides and swirling winds, means that noise, smell and airborne dust 
will be spread across the entire Sampool / Waterside area.   

• The building is proposed to be sited against a small wooded area over which 
the applicant has no control.  The application states that trees will be planted 
to screen the noise and smell.  However these will take some 10 years to grow 

Page 25



to a position where they will begin to mitigate the visual harm caused by the 
building. 

• There is no provision of facilities for staff, such as toilets. 

• The proposed grain silos will tower above the building. 

• Manure spreading will occur regularly given the amount produced which will 
impact on the nearby residents.  The manure store does not appear to be 
large enough for the amount produced. 

• The Cumbrian Coastal Way directly passes the site and the application 
wrongly states that no footpaths are in the vicinity. 

• They have not supplied the most obvious viewpoint which is of the building as 
you go down Sampool Lane.  The building will be in full view of all lane users. 

• The proposed land is in Flood Zone 3 and is waterlogged throughout the wet 
months of the year.  The manure to be spread on the land will seep into the 
surrounding dykes, River Kent and Morecambe Bay.  Spreading this amount 
of poultry manure on approx. 60 acres of grassland exceeds the DEFRA 
guidelines. 

• Given the site’s extremely sensitive location and within Flood Zone 3, an 
Environmental Impact Assessment should have been required. 

• The Flood Risk Assessment advises that surface water will be drained into 
existing field drains.  Given the site’s history of flooding, this will create 
additional risk to adjacent properties in the locality, not only with flood water 
but as manure will be stored on the site and the resulting effluent when the 
site and surrounding area floods.  Raising the ground level of the site will force 
water onto the adjacent property, flooding the area and septic tanks. 

• The application does not state how the unit will be powered.  Currently there is 
not enough power to supply the existing house (High Sampool House). 

• High Sampool Lane is not able to cope with the increased traffic this operation 
will generate.  The lane is already subsiding into the River Kent.  This is a very 
narrow part of the road and already takes large vehicles dangerously near the 
river and the remains of the Peel Tower of Low Levens Farm.  The lane was 
not built for heavy traffic and is already, due to very heavy modern farm traffic, 
subsiding all along its length where it is flanked with ditches on either side.  

• If permission is granted, suitable conditions should be imposed to ensure that 
the highway is structurally maintained and developer contributions sought for 
the upgrading and maintenance of the road. 

• The application site has sub standard visibility splays to the south west and 
the applicant is not in a position to improve them as the adjacent land is not in 
his ownership.  This access is on the approach to residential properties and a 
caravan park which has 219 units.  There is therefore a significant risk posed 
at this intensified access. 

• Sampool Lane becomes flooded due to rainfall preventing any use of Sampool 
Lane for large vehicles. 

• The land has rarely been used for grazing over the past 10 years, as 
suggested in the application, but has mostly been cultivated for grass silage 

Page 26



and more recently for the production of maize.  The barns belonging to the 
applicant have been used for storage and keeping a few calves. 

• This proposal for an intensive poultry unit does not accord with Policy S23 of 
the South Lakeland Local Plan in that the amenity of local residents, nature 
conservation interests and visual amenity will be severely jeopardised and 
negatively affected. 

• No steps have been taken by the applicant towards involving the community in 
any consultation process or taking account of the strong feelings and concerns 
to the location of this scheme. 

• The baseline ecological report concentrates almost in its entirety upon the 
impact to the development site.  It makes virtually no reference or assessment 
upon the impact to the Morecambe Bay SAC/SPA, Witherslack Mosses SAC, 
River Kent SAC or the sensitive habitats in the immediate surrounding area.  
The report makes no reference to how the potential for off-site transportation 
of contaminants both during and post construction will be suitably addressed.  
The information fails to identify and suitably address the potential impacts on 
these highly sensitive areas. 

In addition to the above, petitions containing a total of 352 signatures and 59 
standard letters have been received which strongly oppose the application. 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

A planning application (ref. SL/2011/0045) was submitted in January 2011 for the 
erection of a poultry unit and manure store.  This was withdrawn in March 2011, 
before it was reported to the Planning Committee, for a noise assessment to be 
undertaken. 

The dwellings at High Sampool adjacent to the site previously formed part of a group 
of farm buildings, which included a farmhouse, owned by the applicant’s family.  
Planning permission was granted in 1992 for an extension of the farmhouse into an 
adjoining barn to form an additional dwelling.  In 1995 planning permission was 
granted for the conversion of a barn and ancillary building to form two dwellings.   

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

This application was previously reported to the Planning Committee in February 2012 
and was deferred to allow Members to visit the site.  It was previously deferred at the 
meeting in November 2011 to give the agent the opportunity to address the issues in 
relation to the potential impact on the nearby environmentally designated sites.  

The site is located between the A590 and the River Kent on the area of low lying land 
to the south west of Levens village.  It has access off a minor road, Sampool Lane, 
which leads off the slip road to the A590.  The road also serves a farm, a number of 
residential properties and Sampool Caravan Park.  The Cumbria Coastal Way, which 
is a long distance walking route, also runs along Sampool Lane. 

The site relates to an agricultural field to the north east of High Sampool which 
consists of a group of four dwellings.  There are two agricultural buildings, owned by 
the applicant, to the south west of these residential properties.  None of the dwellings 
are in the ownership of the applicant.  To the north east of the site is a large area of 

Page 27



trees on land owned by one of the residential properties.  The boundaries to the site 
consist of hedgerows and post and wire fences.  In an adjacent field to the south east 
there are large earth bunds along the side of the River Kent which is designated as a 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) upstream of the site.   

The site is in close proximity to Morecambe Bay which is designated as an SSSI, 
Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and a Ramsar 
site and the site is within Flood Zone 3.  It also lies close to Witherslack Mosses 
SAC, Foulshaw Mosses SSSI, Underlaid Wood SSSI, Nichols Moss SSSI, Meathop 
Moss SSSI, Scout and Cunswick Scars SSSI and Whitbarrow SSSI. 

The applicant currently farms a tenanted dairy farm at Levens which is approximately 
1 mile from the site, and owns approximately 66 acres of land around High Sampool.  
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a large poultry building in order to 
diversify his business.  The total floor area would be 1705 square metres and it would 
have a length of 94.6 metres, a width of 18 metres, a ridge height of 6.7 metres and 
an eaves height of 5.3 metres.  The building would house approximately 39,850 birds 
in enriched cages and would include egg sorting and storage areas and a manure 
store on the south east side of the building.  It would have a steel portal frame 
construction with a concrete floor.  The walls would be a combination of concrete 
panels, block work and box profile sheeting and the roof would be green box profile 
steel sheeting. 

Two feed silos are proposed on the north west elevation, close to the entrance to the 
field.  These would be 7.4 metres high and 3.35 metres wide and finished in juniper 
green to match the building.  Ten fans are proposed on the north elevation to control 
the internal building temperature.  A noise report has been submitted in relation to 
these.  The building would use a natural ventilation system whereby the fans would 
only be operational once the temperature of the building reached a set limit.  Vents 
would be inserted along the eaves of the sides of the building. 

The building would be sited 12 metres from the north west boundary of the site, 46 
metres from the south west boundary and 18 metres from the highway.  It would be 
74 metres from the nearest dwelling and 54 metres from the boundary of this 
residential property.  The proposal includes raising the site level by 0.41 metres to be 
the same as the road.  An area of hard standing is proposed around the building and 
on the north east of the site to provide room for parking and turning.  There is an 
existing access to the field off Sampool Lane which will be used to serve the building.  
Delivery of food would be once a week and egg collection twice a week. 

Poultry manure would be allowed to dry within the building and will be stored until it is 
spread on the land.  The manure store would be 68.2 metres long, 5 metres wide and 
extend up to the south west elevation of the building.  It was originally proposed that 
the manure would be spread on the land at High Sampool.  However, following 
concerns regarding the potential for manure to enter a watercourse and impact on 
the nearby European designated sites, the agent has confirmed that it will be spread 
elsewhere.  This would either be on other land used by the applicant or on land 
owned by neighbouring farmers. 

It is proposed to plant an area of the field opposite the site to help screen the site 
from the north.  Planting is also proposed to the south west of the building to create 
additional screening between the proposed building and the nearest residential 
property and to the north west. 

 

Page 28



POLICY ISSUES:  

National Policy 

The most relevant to this proposal is Planning Policy Statement 7 (PPS7) – 
Sustainable Development in Rural Areas.  With regards to agricultural development, 
this policy states that development proposals should be supported that will enable 
farming and farmers to: become more competitive, sustainable and environmentally 
friendly; adapt to new and changing markets; comply with changing legislation and 
associated guidance; diversify into new agricultural opportunities; or broaden their 
operations to “add value” to their primary produce.  PPS7 also states that Planning 
authorities should continue to ensure that the quality and character of the wider 
countryside is protected and, where possible, enhanced. They should have particular 
regard to any areas that have been statutorily designated for their landscape, wildlife 
or historic qualities where greater priority should be given to restraint of potentially 
damaging development. 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 

DP1 - Spatial Principles 

DP3 - Promote Sustainable Economic Development 

DP78 – Promote Environmental Quality 

RDF 2 – Rural Areas 

EM1 – Integrated Enhancement and Protection of the Region’s Environmental 
Assets. 
 
Cumbria and Lake District Joint Structure Plan 

Policy E37 relates to landscape character and states that development and land use 
should be compatible with the distinctive characteristics.  Proposals will be assessed 
in relation to locally distinctive natural or built features; visual intrusion or impact; 
scale in relation to the landscape and features; the character of the built environment; 
public access and community value of the landscape; historic patterns and attributes; 
biodiversity features, ecological networks and semi-natural habitats; and openness, 
remoteness and tranquillity. 
 
South Lakeland Local Development Framework - Core Strategy  

Policy CS7.4 identifies that support will be given to the economic needs of rural 
communities by supporting sustainable farming and food production. 

Policy CS8.1 relates to green infrastructure and sets out that the Core Strategy will 
seek to protect the countryside from inappropriate development whilst supporting its 
positive use for agriculture, recreation, biodiversity, health, education and tourism. 

Policy CS8.2 states that development proposals should demonstrate that their 
location, scale, design and materials will protect, conserve and, where possible, 
enhance the special qualities and local distinctiveness of the area. 

Policy CS8.4 relates to biodiversity and geodiversity and states that development 
proposals that would have a direct or indirect adverse effect on nationally, sub-
regional, regional and local designated sites will not be permitted unless they cannot 
be located on alternative sites that would cause less or no harm; the benefits of the 
development clearly outweigh the impacts on the features of the site and the wider 

Page 29



network of rural habitats; and prevention, mitigation and compensation measures are 
provided. 

Policy CS8.8 states that development within Flood Risk Zones 2, 3a and 3b will only 
be acceptable when it is compatible with national policy.  All new development will 
only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that it would not have a significant impact 
on the capacity of an area to store floodwater; measures required to manage any 
flood risk can be implemented; surface water is managed in a sustainable way; 
provision is made for the long term maintenance and management of any flood 
protection and / or mitigation measures; and the benefits of the proposal to the 
community outweigh the flood risk. 

Policy CS8.10 states that the siting, design, scale and materials of all development 
should be of a character which maintains or enhances the quality of the landscape or 
townscape and, where appropriate, should be in keeping with local vernacular 
tradition. 

Policy CS10.2 relates to the transport impact of new development.  Development 
proposals should be served by safe access to the highway network without detriment 
to the amenity or character of the locality; the expected nature and volume of traffic 
can be accommodated by the existing road network without detriment to the amenity 
or character of the surrounding area or highway safety; the proposal incorporates 
parking standards that are in accordance with any adopted and emerging sub-
regional and / or local policy and guidance.  
 
Saved Policies of South Lakeland Local Plan 

Policy S2 states that design should take account of existing distinctive local 
character.  This should not exclude good local contemporary architecture.  Attention 
should be paid to public views onto, over or out of the site.  Views should not be 
significantly harmed and opportunities should be taken to enhance them.  The design 
and materials of new buildings should relate to those around them and be well 
proportioned with appropriate architectural detail and decoration. 

Policy 23 states that new agricultural buildings will only be acceptable where the 
proposal has no significant adverse impact on the visual amenity of the local area, in 
terms of siting, profile, roof-pitch, and colour; taking into account the need for 
additional landscaping; the amenity of any nearby residential properties; and local 
nature conservation interests.  In considering proposals, full regard will be had to the 
operational needs of agricultural businesses. 

Policy C6 states that proposals for development or land use change which may affect 
a European site, a proposed European site, or a Ramsar site will be subject to the 
most rigorous examination.  Development which is likely to have significant effects on 
the site and which adversely affects the integrity of the site will not be permitted 
unless there is no alternative solution and there are imperative reasons of overriding 
public interest or land use change. 

Policy C7 states that proposals in or likely to affect Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
will be subject to special scrutiny.  Where such development may have a significant 
adverse effect, directly or indirectly on interests of nature conservation importance, it 
will not be permitted unless the reasons for development clearly outweigh the value 
of those interests. 
 
 

Page 30



Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit 

The landscape character assessment identifies the site as being within an area which 
is classified as broad valleys.  The guidance outlines that one of the issues that this 
landscape could face over the next 10-20 years is from large scale farm buildings 
that are introducing uncharacteristic development into the farmed landscape.  It 
states that the impact on local character from development should be minimised 
through ensuring design and scale respects the local vernacular and character, 
particularly regarding the introduction of modern large-scale farm buildings. 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The main issues relate to impacts on the highway, residential amenity, landscape, 
flood risk and the nearby environmentally designated areas.   

Impact on the Highway 

The applicant has explained that the development would require one feed delivery 
per week (35 tonne vehicle) and two egg collections (8-10 tonne vehicle).  Given that 
the manure is no longer proposed to be spread on the adjacent land, this will need to 
be transported from the site.  The agent has confirmed that this would be removed by 
farm vehicle rather than by lorry.  Cumbria Highways have raised no objections to 
this alteration to the scheme.  However, they have raised some concerns regarding 
the extraordinary damage to the public highway that may result from this proposal 
and have advised that a joint inspection should be made with their engineers prior to 
commencement of construction with a view to monitoring the road beyond the bridge 
in particular. 

Landscape Impact 

The application has been accompanied by a landscape and visual impact 
assessment dated July 2011.  This assessment includes photographic evidence from 
key viewpoints towards the application site.  The area is described as having wide 
and deep valleys with open floodplains and pockets of woodland and coniferous 
plantations. 

The report explains that many of the viewpoints indicated that the site would not be 
visible because of the existing farm buildings or would appear against the backdrop 
of them and the residential buildings at High Sampool.  Other viewpoints showed that 
the building would be seen through trees and established hedgerows or would have 
a backdrop of trees which appear much higher than the building due to distant views. 

The land to the west of the A6 undulates and as such screens most views towards 
the site from Heversham and Leasgill.  In addition, groups of trees and agricultural 
buildings provide context for the development.  Heversham Head is approximately 
2km from the site and as such the building would not have a significant visual impact 
from this point. 

Page 31



From Levens, to the north of the site, views of the building would be partially 
screened by established hedgerows and trees.  In addition, the existing buildings at 
High Sampool and the established trees around the site would provide a backdrop for 
the proposed building.  From the west, the existence of trees would prevent direct 
sight of the building.  Whitbarrow Scar is approximately 4km from the site which limits 
the visual impact of the building from this position. 

However, the building is likely to be very prominent from local views given its scale 
and close proximity to the highway.  This will particularly be the case when travelling 
along Sampool Lane from the north east.  A view point from this location does not 
appear to have been provided within the landscape and visual impact assessment. 
This road provides access to the nearby caravan park, to the south west, and is also 
the route of the Cumbria Coastal Way.   

There are two other agricultural buildings close to the site, however when viewed 
from Sampool Lane, these are not visible until approx. 200 metres further along the 
road than the entrance to the site.  In addition, these are much smaller than the 
proposed building which will not be contained within this existing group.  The other 
nearby buildings are residential properties, some of which have been converted from 
farm buildings.  These are all of a traditional appearance.   

In addition to the poultry building, there will be two feed silos and a large area of hard 
standing.  The feed silos will be 7.4 metres high and will be close to the highway and 
as such will be particularly visible.  

The building is unlikely to be unduly prominent within the landscape from distant 
views as it will be seen against the nearby residential properties and farm buildings.  
There are also several groups of farm buildings nearby so it will be seen in the 
context of these.  However, it will be very prominent when viewed locally and is likely 
to appear isolated, incongruous and out of scale with the other buildings within this 
low lying open landscape.  Combined with the large area of hard standing and the 
two large silos, it will have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of 
the area. 

Flooding 

Given that the application site is within Flood Zone 3, a flood risk assessment was 
submitted with the application.  The Environment Agency raised no objections to the 
proposal as the use is classed as “less vulnerable”.  However, conditions have been 
recommended to ensure that the disposal of poultry manure and foul and surface 
water is dealt with appropriately. 

The neighbouring residents have raised concerns that the building will divert flood 
water onto their property.  However, any flood water that is displaced would be 
distributed across the whole flood plain and as such is unlikely to result in flooding to 
these properties.  In addition, runoff from the hard standing could be controlled by an 
appropriate surface water drainage scheme. 

Residential amenity 

There are various issues to consider relating to residential amenity.  The most 
quantifiable is the noise impact.  The fans have been positioned on the gable of the 
building furthest from the residential properties.  A detailed noise assessment has 
been submitted.  This is a relatively quiet rural location with some noise from the 
nearby A590 Trunk Road.  Background noise levels are likely to be quite low, 
particularly at night.  The Environmental Protection Officer has assessed the 

Page 32



submitted noise assessment and concludes that it is unlikely that the noise level will 
be a nuisance.  The fans should not impact upon background noise levels during the 
day and it is unlikely that ten fans will be running at the same time during the night.  
Fan noise should not be audible within bedrooms. 

With regard to odours, this is likely to be from the air vent rather than from the 
building itself.  The stored hen manure is dried within the building which reduces the 
odour.  There is the risk that this could become wet if the building is the subject of 
flooding, although the floor level would be raised to hopefully prevent this.  The agent 
has stated that a Management Plan could be added to the planning consent which 
would include details relating to disposal of dead carcasses, control of vermin, control 
of dust and maintenance inspections of the building.  Although measures to help 
control odours and pest infestations could be imposed, there is still the potential for 
nuisance and public health concerns to occur due to unexpected problems and 
maintenance issues.  The proposal will also result in agricultural buildings on two 
sides of the group of residential properties.  Given the scale of the proposal, it is 
considered that there is an insufficient buffer zone between the building and 
residential properties to protect the enjoyment of those properties. 

Impact on Environmentally designated sites and protected species 

A response from a consultant acting on behalf of a neighbouring resident has 
suggested that an Environment Impact Assessment is required with the application.  
A Screening Opinion was issued when the first application was submitted and, 
following consultation with Natural England, concluded that an EIA was not required.  
As the main details of this application remained the same as the previous one, the 
Screening Opinion for this proposal has the same conclusion.  However, this does 
not negate the need for a full assessment of the potential impact of the proposal on 
nearby designated sites. 

The proposal lies close to several designated areas.  The sites in closest proximity 
include the Morecambe Bay Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Special 
Protection Area (SPA), Witherslack Mosses SAC and the component SSSIs within 
these sites.  The River Kent SAC, whilst designated upstream of the development 
site, is also potentially relevant as the downstream reach of the river forms an 
important part of the overall functioning of the wider river system and its interest 
features.  There is the potential for the proposal to impact on these designated areas, 
particularly as the site is located within Flood Zone 3. 

The application was deferred at the Planning Committee in November 2011 so that 
the issues relating to the National and European designated sites could be 
addressed.  The main concern that had been raised related to the spreading of 
manure on land adjacent to the application site and the potential for pollutants to 
enter the watercourse.  The agent has now confirmed that the manure would no 
longer be spread on this land and instead would be spread on other land farmed by 
the applicant and land owned by neighbouring farmers who have expressed an 
interest.  Additional information has also been submitted in relation to surface water 
drainage. 

The scheme must be fully assessed under both the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, as incorporated by The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 and the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.   Following the submission 
of the additional information, the Council has undertaken an Assessment of Likely 
Significant Effect.  This concludes that the main potential impacts to the adjacent 
designated sites are as a result of pollutants/nutrients entering the watercourse in the 

Page 33



form of run-off both during and post construction.  A Method Statement for 
construction would need to be submitted as well as full details relating to surface 
water drainage and the building maintenance, to ensure that it is not allowed to flood.  
However, these could be adequately dealt with by conditions and as such the 
proposal will not significantly affect the National and European designated areas.  
Natural England have been consulted, they confirmed their agreement with the 
Council’s assessment subject to all the necessary mitigation being fully secured 
through any final planning permission. 

Conclusion 

The negative impacts have to be weighed against the positive effects of the 
economic case for the agricultural diversification and the draft National Planning 
Policy Framework that creates the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
The additional information submitted by the agent has addressed the concerns 
relating to the potential impact on the adjacent National and European designated 
sites.  However, the previous concerns relating to the impact on residential amenity 
and the character and appearance of the landscape still remain and in this situation it 
is considered that greater weight is given to these than the economic benefits of the 
proposal. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  REFUSE for the reasons below: 

Reason (1) The proposed development would result in a detrimental impact on 
the amenity of residents by reason of odours, pests and general 
disturbance.  The development is therefore contrary to Saved 
Policy S23 of the South Lakeland Local Plan, Planning Policy 
Statement 1: Delivering Sustainable Development, and The 
Planning System: General Principles. 
 

Reason (2) The proposed building is large in scale and would be of a utilitarian 
appearance and in an isolated position within open countryside.  If 
constructed it would cause material harm to the character and 
appearance of the area.  It is therefore contrary to the aims and 
objectives of Government Policy as set out in Planning Policy 
Statement 7 and Local Policies as set out in Policy E37 of the 
Cumbria and Lake District Joint Structure Plan, Saved Policy S23 
of the South Lakeland Local Plan and Policy CS8.2 of the adopted 
South Lakeland Core Strategy and the Cumbria Landscape 
Character Guidance and Toolkit. 
 

 

 

Page 34



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

    2                                                                        SL/2011/0936 

ULVERSTON:  
MASONIC HALL, KINGS 
ROAD   LA12 0BT 
 
PROPOSAL:  
REAR EXTENSION TO 
ACCOMMODATE 
ESCAPE STAIRS AND 
NEW CHANGING 
ROOMS 
 
 
MR ALAN JONES  

 
E328643 N478136   27/03/2012 

 
 

SUMMARY:   

Proposed extensions and alterations to the Masonic Hall in Ulverston.  Concerns 
regarding the impact of the two storey element on the amenity of the adjacent residential 
property.  Amendments to the scheme have been made in an attempt to reduce the 
scale of the scheme.  Deferred from February Committee Meeting for a site visit.  
Refuse 

 

ULVERSTON TOWN COUNCIL: 

Approve subject to the views of neighbours being taken into consideration. 

 

OTHER: 

Two letters of objection have been received from neighbouring residents, including a 
petition signed by six residents of Kings Road.  The main concerns are as follows: 

• The majority of residents were opposed to the previous extension to the 
building, which is now even more imposing and omnipotent.  Having a larger 
building would not only impact on the aesthetics of the street, but would also 
suggest increase usage, which always has a negative impact on the residents 
because of parking and noise. 

• The previous extension significantly reduced the natural light to the gable 
windows in the adjoining residential property.  The further extension to the rear 
will again impact on natural light as it will protrude past the building line, 
particularly to the kitchen.  The proposed two side doors and window will also 
overlook the garden. 

• There is also concern about the impact of the building work upon foundations, 
boundary wall and rear access lane. 

Page 35



The neighbouring residents have been consulted with respect to the amended plans 
that have been submitted and any further responses received will be reported at the 
meeting. 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

A two-storey extension was built following a planning permission granted in 1999.  
This included the creation of a committee room on the ground floor and an extended 
function room to the first floor.  

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

The two storey Masonic Hall is located between the A590 and Kings Road, 
immediately to the south of the town centre.  The property fronts onto Kings Road, 
which is predominantly residential in nature, and is sited between the public library to 
the east and residential properties to the west and south.  The original Hall was 
constructed in 1905 and is of an attractive classical design with a red sandstone 
frontage.  The nearest residential property located immediately to the west is 
separated from the recently constructed two storey side extension by 2.7 metres, and 
has a ridge height approximately 2 metres lower than the hall.  

This proposal seeks to construct an enclosed rear staircase from the first floor 
function room and a single storey extension along the rear western side of the 
building to create changing rooms and a store.  The scheme also includes the 
formation of a ramp to the front elevation to improve disabled access to the building. 

The staircase enclosure would project from the rear elevation of the side extension 
by 4 metres, with a sloping roofline forming a continuation from the eaves line of the 
main roof.  This element would be set back from the boundary with the neighbouring 
resident by 3 metres and would be 7.5 metres high falling to 5 metres at gutter level. 
An entrance door to the staircase would be positioned on the side elevation at 
ground floor level facing towards the neighbour.  The single storey elements would 
take the form of a lean-to extension along the side of the Hall, adjacent to the rear 
garden boundary of the neighbouring property.  This would be set back 1.3 metres 
from the side boundary.  Another door to the changing rooms and store would be 
positioned along the side elevation. The extensions would be faced with smooth 
render and the roof covered with blue grey slate. 

The access ramp would extend across the eastern half of the frontage, it would 
comprise a stone faced plinth rising to 0.6 metres high, topped with a metal handrail.  

The scheme has been amended in an attempt to address the concerns that have 
been raised regarding the impact of the staircase extension in particular upon the 
adjoining residential property.  The original submission provided a wider staircase 
enclosure which extended to within 1.3 metres of the side boundary, and included an 
elevated door opening and two windows on the side elevation. 

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

The site is located within the Ulverston Conservation Area. 

Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy seeks to safeguard and where 
possible enhance historic environment assets, including Conservation Areas.   

Page 36



Saved Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan reflects the statutory duty of the 
Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character of a Conservation Area.   

Saved Policy S2 requires all new development to take account of the South Lakeland 
Design Code. 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The location and scale of the proposal is such that it would not have a significant 
adverse impact upon amenity in the wider area, or the character and appearance of 
the conservation area.  The scale and design of the proposal in this respect is 
considered to be acceptable. 

The main issue in this case is considered to be the impact of the development upon 
the aspect and amenity of the adjoining residential property, and in particular the 
proposed staircase enclosure.  

The adverse impact on the amenity of the residential property is caused by a 
domination of outlook creating a sense of enclosure or unease.  This adverse impact 
can be exerted on both the dwelling and the close environs of the curtilage, for 
example the patio area.  Domination of outlook is exacerbated by vertical surfaces 
and mitigated by sloping roofs. 

The presence of a 2 metre high fence along the boundary will to a certain extent 
screen the single storey extension when viewed from the neighbouring property. 
However the two storey staircase enclosure would present a more significant mass of 
development which would align with the adjacent rear sitting out area and 
conservatory.  Although the applicant has attempted to reduce the impact of this 
element by setting it further back from the boundary, its overall height, length and 
proximity to the boundary would have an adverse effect on the light and dominate the 
outlook to the rear of the dwelling.  It is therefore recommended that, on balance, the 
proposal should to be refused on the grounds of overbearing and unneighbourly 
impact. 

Members will have had the opportunity to view the site and the surrounding area. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  REFUSE for the reason below - 

The proposed rear staircase extension, by reason of its height, mass and close 
proximity to the boundary, would be visually intrusive and overbearing, to the 
detriment of the living conditions currently enjoyed by the occupants of the 
neighbouring property, 1 Kings Road. 

 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

          3                                                                   SL/2011/1033 

LEVENS:  
WHINFIELD, FORCE 
LANE   LA8 8ED 
 
PROPOSAL:  
ERECTION OF PAIR OF 
SEMI-DETACHED 
DWELLINGS 
 
 
 
 
MR D and MRS D 
PARRY 

 
 

E350252 N486497   27/03/2012 
 

 

SUMMARY:   

The application relates to the erection two dwellings in the garden of a detached 
dwelling which is located within the open countryside.  It is therefore contrary to National 
and Local Policies.  Refuse 

 

LEVENS PARISH COUNCIL: 

No comments received.  The consultation period for comments expired on 1 February 
2012. 

 

SLDC ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION OFFICER: 

In relation to the above application, the applicant has not included detailed 
information relating to the proposed replacement package treatment plant to serve all 
three properties.  Therefore advise that such details should be assessed and agreed 
in writing prior to any development proceeding, to ensure that the proposals are 
adequate and suitable. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

The turning area for the dwellings is quite cramped, adequate on site turning must be 
permanently assigned and allocated to both dwellings created by this proposal.  
Force Lane is narrow with no passing places which is a poor feature of this 
application.  Because of the proximity to the A590 Trunk Road the Planning Authority 
must consult the Highways Agency.  Consideration should be given to the additional 
use of the junction with Force Lane and the A590.  Request conditions relating to 
surfacing of the access drive, surface water discharge onto the highway, access 
gates recessed and provision of vehicle turning spaces. 

Page 39



HIGHWAYS AGENCY: 

No objection. 

 

UNITED UTILITIES: 

No objection to the proposed development.  If possible this site should be drained on 
a separate system, with only foul drainage connected into the foul sewer.  Surface 
water should discharge to the soakaway / watercourse / surface water sewer and 
may require the consent of the Environment Agency.  If surface water is allowed to 
be discharged to the public surface water sewerage system we may require the flow 
to be attenuated to a maximum discharge rate determined by United Utilities. 

 

OTHER: 

Six letters have been received in response to the application from neighbouring 
residents.  Two state that they have no objections and 4 are in support.  They raise 
the following points: 

• the proposed building is in keeping with the site and would fit well next to the 
existing dwelling;  

• feel that more houses and families living in the immediate proximity of the 
Convent can only be beneficial for all the residents. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

This application is being reported to the Planning Committee at the request of the 
ward Councillor. 

The site is located on the southern side of Force Lane, approx. 1.5 kilometres to the 
north east of the village of Levens.  Force Lane is a narrow road accessed from the 
A590 Trunk Road which serves nine dwellings.  Four of these are in a group close to 
the junction with the A590, the application site is approximately 250 metres to the 
east of these and there is a group of four dwellings approximately 200 metres to the 
east of this.  In addition, Brettagh Holt Convent is located approximately 250 metres 
to the north east.  The site is surrounded by fields. 

The site consists of a large two storey detached dwelling and a garden area to the 
side and rear.  There are two vehicle accesses to the site and a gravelled parking to 
the front.  There is an attached garage on the west elevation.  The dwelling is 
finished in roughcast render and has a hipped slate roof. 

Planning permission is sought for the erection of a pair of 3 bedroom semi detached 
dwellings to the east of the existing dwelling.  The building would have a total width of 
12.6 metres and a depth of 13 metres, which includes a single storey projection of 3 
metres at the rear.  It would have an eaves height of 6 metres and a ridge height of 
8.25 metres.  The front wall would be in line with the front of the existing dwelling and 
the building would be of a similar design with a hipped roof and a two storey 
projection at the front.  The walls would be finished in render and the roof would be 
slate. 

The access to the east of the road frontage would be used for the proposed dwellings 
and the one to the west would be used solely for the existing dwelling.  Parking for 

Page 40



six cars is proposed in front of the dwellings and a garden area at the rear is 
proposed for each dwelling.  A hedge is proposed along the eastern boundary and 
there are existing hedgerows along the other boundaries.  A new sewage treatment 
plant is proposed for the existing and proposed properties. 

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

National Policy 

PPS 1 identifies sustainable development as the core principle underpinning 
planning.  It states that planning should facilitate and promote sustainable and 
inclusive patterns of urban and rural development by: making suitable land available 
for development in line with economic, social and environmental objectives to 
improve people’s quality of life; contributing to sustainable economic development; 
protecting and enhancing the natural and historic environment, the quality and 
character of the countryside, and existing communities; ensuring high quality 
development through good and inclusive design, and the efficient use of resources; 
and, ensuring that development supports existing communities and contributes to the 
creation of safe, sustainable, livable and mixed communities with good access to 
jobs and key services for all members of the community. 

PPS 3 sets out the framework for delivering the government’s housing objectives.  It 
states that the Government’s policy is to ensure that housing is developed in suitable 
locations which offer a range of community facilities and with good access to jobs, 
key services and infrastructure.  The priority for development should be previously 
developed land, in particular vacant and derelict sites and buildings. 

PPS 7 relates to sustainable development in rural areas.  It sets out that, away from 
larger urban areas, planning authorities should focus most new development in or 
near to local service centres where employment, housing (including affordable 
housing), services and other facilities can be provided close together.  This should 
help to ensure the facilities are served by public transport and provide improved 
opportunities for access by walking and cycling.  It also states that new house 
building in the countryside, away from established settlements or from areas 
allocated for housing in development plans, should be strictly controlled. 
 

The South Lakeland Local Development Framework - Core Strategy  

Policy CS1.2 sets out the Development Strategy for the District outside the National 
Parks.  It states that development will be concentrated in the towns of Kendal and 
Ulverston, which are identified as Principal Service Centres; then in the Key Service 
Centres of Grange over Sands, Kirkby Lonsdale and Milnthorpe; followed by a 
number of designated Local Service Centres throughout the rural hinterland.  No 
development boundaries will be identified for the smaller villages and hamlets, 
however new small scale infilling and rounding off development will be permitted in 
order to satisfy local need.  New development will only be permitted in the open 
countryside where it has an essential requirement for a rural location, is needed to 
sustain existing businesses or provides for exceptional needs for affordable housing. 

Policy CS6.4 sets out the rural exception policy.  It states that proposals for housing 
development which are located outside the settlement boundaries in the Service 
Centres, or where they do not constitute infilling or rounding off in the smaller villages 
and hamlets, will only be considered where they provide 100% affordable housing. 

Page 41



Policy CS8.2 states that development proposals should demonstrate that their 
location, scale, design and materials will protect, conserve and, where possible, 
enhance the special qualities and local distinctiveness of the area and the distinctive 
settlement character. 

Policy CS8.10 states that the siting, design, scale and materials of all development 
should be of a character which maintains or enhances the quality of the landscape or 
townscape and, where appropriate, should be in keeping with local vernacular 
tradition. 

Policy CS10.2 relates to the transport impact of new development.  It states that 
development proposals should be capable of being served by safe access to the 
highway network without detriment to the amenity or character of the locality, and 
should incorporate parking standards that are in accordance with any adopted and 
emerging policy or guidance. 
 
Saved Policies of the South Lakeland Local Plan 

Policy S2 states that design should take account of existing distinctive local 
character.  This should not exclude good local contemporary architecture.  Attention 
should be paid to public views onto, over or out of the site.  Views should not be 
significantly harmed and opportunities should be taken to enhance them.  The design 
and materials of new buildings should relate to those around them and be well 
proportioned with appropriate architectural detail and decoration.   

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The overarching planning principle, expressed in PPS1 and the Draft National 
Planning Policy Framework, is the new development must be sustainably located. 

The main issue relating to the proposal is the principle of housing development in this 
location.  Policy CS6.4 of the Core Strategy states that proposals for housing 
development which are located outside the settlement boundaries in the Service 
Centres, or where they do not constitute infilling or rounding off in the smaller villages 
and hamlets, will only be considered where they provide 100% affordable housing. 

The site is located within the open countryside outside any of the key service centres.  
The existing dwelling is surrounded by open fields and is approximately 200 metres 
from the nearest group of dwellings.  As such, the proposal cannot be considered to 
constitute infilling or rounding off of a smaller village or hamlet.  Even if it was located 
closer to the nearest groups of dwellings these only comprise 4 dwellings each and 
as such, these would only be considered as an isolated group of dwellings rather 
than a small village or hamlet. 

Page 42



The proposal does not provide affordable housing and is in an unsustainable 
location.  As such, development in this location is contrary to National and Local 
planning policies. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  REFUSE for the reason below - 

The proposed development would result in the erection of a pair of semi-
detached dwellings in the open countryside outside any Local Service Centre or 
smaller village or hamlet.  As such the proposal is contrary to the aims and 
objectives of Government Policy as set out in Planning Policy Statement 1, 
Planning Policy Statement 3 and Planning Policy Statement 7; and Local 
Policies as set out in Policies CS1.2 and CS6 which state that residential 
development in the open countryside will not normally be permitted unless it 
provides affordable housing, can be shown either that it is essential to the needs 
of agriculture, forestry or that there are other exceptional circumstances which 
would warrant the granting of planning permission. 

 

 

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

        4                                                                     SL/2011/1034 

GRANGE over SANDS:  
BATEMANS OF 
GRANGE, STATION 
SQUARE   LA11 6EE 
 
PROPOSAL:  
EXTENSION OF TIME 
CONDITION ON 
SL/2008/1173 
(ERECTION OF NEW 
SUPERMARKET AND 
FORMATION OF CAR 
PARK) 
 
E H BOOTH 

 
 

E341139.6 N478260.5   27/03/2012 
 

 

SUMMARY:   

The application was deferred at the last Committee to enable further work to be 
carried out on sequential site assessment.  The assessment concludes that the 
application site is sequentially preferable to the Berners Pool site in terms of the 
proximity to the town centre, the location of shopping areas together with pedestrian 
and functional links.  Since the last Committee a newly commissioned retail study 
has been received.  The study is based upon up-to-date expenditure figures.  
Essentially the position has not changed from the 2007 retail report.  Grange over 
Sands retains a very low rate of expenditure within the town.  Perpetuation of the 
current low retention rates in Grange over Sands through inactivity and failure to 
increase the retail offer will not increase the retention rates or address the current 
unsustainable shopping patterns.     

The main issues for consideration are whether there have been significant material 
changes in circumstances, including change in policy, since the original permission.  
Planning Policy Statement 4 and the South Lakeland Core Strategy have been 
adopted since the last permission.  It is considered that the proposals meet the 
requirements of the revised policy background with regard to the location and 
potential impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre and will enable a 
significant amount of retail expenditure to be retained in the town.  The proposals will 
enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and will improve 
flood mitigation and the highway layout. 

 
GRANGE over SANDS TOWN COUNCIL: 

The Town Council objects to the extension of time and recommend that Booths be 
required to submit a new application that can be considered in the light of significant 
changes since the initial consent was granted.   

Page 45



The economic downturn, coupled with the ongoing uncertainty regarding Booths, is 
having a detrimental effect on Grange Town Centre with a number of empty shops 
and lack of business investment and this effect will be prolonged if an extension is 
granted.  Given the change in the financial climate since 2008, the likely effect of an 
edge of town supermarket on the vitality of the Town Centre should be re-assessed. 
This is in accord with the coalition government’s pledge to sustain High Streets. 

The consultation period for the extension of the time condition for the extant planning 
permission has not been widely advertised, and runs over the Christmas and New 
Year period which is likely to minimise the number of responses from residents. 
Given the very close decision at the planning meeting which granted the application 
and the level of feeling in the town, the Town Council believe that a new application 
should be submitted.  

 

SLDC ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GROUP: 

Supporting the Booths proposal will enable the employment land to be brought 
forward and upgraded to deal with the flood risk.  It will generate 70 jobs and will also 
provide much improved accessibility to services for the local population together with 
residents in outlying service centres such as Lindale, Allithwaite, Cartmel, 
Witherslack and Flookburgh.  The supermarket in Grange will prevent spend leakage 
from the local area, particularly in groceries and will help sustain local jobs.  The site 
will also support a small recycling centre and additional car parking for the town. 

Toyota will not retain the franchise on this site beyond May 2013 due to current 
layout, size and flood risk and therefore the site could become a significant eyesore 
and a difficult piece of employment land to bring forward for occupation.  The knock 
on effect of an approval will mean that the Toyota Dealership will be able to use the 
proceeds of the sale to enable relocation to a new site.  This will lead to an increase 
of local jobs from 21 to 33 within 3 years at an average salary of £31960. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

No objections provided that all highways related conditions remain in force.  

 

SLDC ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION OFFICER: 

No objections provided that all environmental related conditions remain in force. 

Following the Environment Agency’s scheme to improve the capacity of the sea 
outfall, the threat of flooding to Windermere Road has not been reduced to any great 
extent.  Windermere Road does not benefit as they are affected by a reduction in 
capacity of the culvert between them and the ornamental pond. 

 

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: 

No objection. 

 

 

 

Page 46



NATURAL ENGLAND: 

This application is in close proximity to Morecambe Bay Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI).  However, given the nature and scale of this proposal, Natural 
England raises no objection to the proposal being carried out according to the terms 
and conditions of the application and submitted plans on account of the impact on 
designated sites.  

 

LAKE DISTRICT NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY: 

The National Park does not wish to make any representations with regard to this 
application.  

 

UNITED UTILITIES: 

No objection provided that surface water is not allowed to discharge to the foul / 
combined sewer.  Part of the downstream network is overloaded and creates flooding 
issues in the area; any additional surface water in the network would exasperate the 
flooding event conditions.  

 

OTHER: 

Two letters of support have been received.  The letters support any measures which 
ensure that the Booths application is secured and hastened.  The proposal will 
benefit residents who don’t have a car.  

One letter supports the principle of the extension of time but suggests that sites 
nearer the centre and the Berners site are considered.  A supermarket may support 
the other aspects of the Berners proposal.   

Letters of objection have been received from four residents of Grange over Sands, 
plus letters from the Spar, Co-op, the Greengrocers and Grange Bakery.  Reasons 
for objection include: 

• Insufficient material has been submitted with the application for the LPA to be 
able to reach a sound and just decision based upon up-to-date policy 
considerations and recent survey work. 

• The applicant has failed to prove that the site is deliverable and that the 
application is not merely a commercially motivated manoeuvre which could 
ultimately frustrate more suitable sites coming forward for development. 

• Previous issues of concern associated with the original 2008 application 
remain valid today, in particular those relating to the detrimental effects that 
the application would have upon the vitality and viability of the Town Centre. 

• Grange Bakery employs 23 local people and while established over 100 years 
there is a fine balance to retaining viability on the high street. 

• Independent food retailers have expressed their opinion that they would not 
remain viable and once a key retailer is lost, choice is lost and the whole high 
street becomes less attractive to shop in.  This has been recognised by the 
Government and its high street initiative developed by Mary Portas, the high 
street needs to be retained and encouraged not made unsustainable by more 

Page 47



supermarkets.  It is widely accepted that supermarkets are the direct cause of 
the downfall of small town traditional retail shops.   

• The effect of the arrival of Booths and the other predatory supermarkets on 
the other towns local to Grange is plain to see.  The independent food retailer 
has been lost from the high street.  

• The planning permission for Booths was passed by only one vote, SLDC 
planning committee now have a second chance to correct this error of 
judgement knowing that the times have changed and that Government policy 
is to support diversity on the high street, and not to encourage its demise by 
poor planning decisions. 

• The scheme remains locally contentious. 

• The economic situation has worsened, shops are unwilling to invest. 

• The impact assessment should be redone as sequential approach carried out 
is out of date.  There are potential town centre sites available. 

• It is proposed to move waste recycling to Windermere Road which will ensure 
provision of important public resource.   

• Additional traffic would compromise the performance of emergency services, 
additional congestion not town centre. 

• Failure of BVP has resulted in lower catchment for the store. 

• Permission has been granted in Milnthorpe for a supermarket and a Mace 
mini-market at Greystones garage on the A590 has opened. 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

In April 2009 (Ref: SL/2008/1173) planning permission was granted for the erection 
of a supermarket, formation of new car parking and servicing area, landscaping, 
reconstruction of adjacent car park, including flood mitigation measures and new 
access arrangements. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

The application seeks permission to extend the time limit for implementing the 
planning permission granted in 2009.  The permission allows for the demolition of the 
existing buildings on site, erection of a supermarket, alterations to the layout of the 
public car park and incorporation of additional flood storage and changes to the 
culvert system. 

The site is located at the eastern end of Grange over Sands adjacent to the junction 
of Station Square and Windermere Road.  It is opposite the ornamental gardens and 
less than 100m from the railway station and bus stop.  To the east of the site there is 
a small estate of bungalows which bound the existing service and sales area.  There 
are retail and service properties opposite on Windermere Road together with 
residential properties. 

The southern part of the site currently consists of a car show room, external car show 
area and a repair garage.  The main part of the building is fairly attractive with 
traditional materials, although there are some flat roof extensions to the side and 

Page 48



rear.  The northern part of the site consists of the public car park which is owned and 
operated by SLDC.  

The design of the proposed building reflects that of nearby architecture and 
materials.  It is a large structure running the width of the site along Station Square 
and approx 30m along Windermere Road.  The main eaves height is 4.5m with a 
ridge height varying between 9 and 10m.  This would be 1.55m above the highest 
point of the existing building.  The structure would be separated from the properties 
on Riggs Close by a delivery yard and access route with a 2.5m high wall erected 
along the boundary. 

The public car park would be re-arranged to create two access and exit points and 
additional parking within the current garage site.  The layout would include a new 
pond for storage and a boardwalk feature together with landscaping.  Underneath the 
car park flood water storage would be provided together with alterations to the culvert 
system. 

A range of technical documents were submitted in support of the last application, 
including a Retail Assessment, a Flood Risk Assessment, an Ecological Assessment, 
a Transport Assessment, an Acoustic Report and Report on pre-application public 
consultations. 

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

National Planning Policy Framework (Draft) 

Although only a draft, the overarching aims of this document are considered to be a 
material planning consideration.  One of the defined aims of the document, aimed at 
delivering sustainable development, is planning for prosperity, using the planning 
system to build a strong, responsive and competitive economy. 

The document states that the Government is committed to ensuring that the planning 
system does everything it can to support sustainable economic growth.  However the 
individual elements of social and environmental factors are also important as they are 
part of what creates sustainable development.  Development should be of good 
design and appropriately located.  The principles of viability and deliverability remain. 
 

Planning For Growth 

The Government’s top priority in reforming the planning system is to promote 
sustainable economic growth and jobs.  Government’s clear expectation is that the 
answer to development and growth should wherever possible be “yes”, except where 
this would compromise the key sustainable development principles set out in national 
planning policy.  There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 

PPS 4 - Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth 

PPS 4 sets out planning policies for economic development to be taken into account 
when preparing local development documents and are a material consideration in 
development management decisions.  PPS 4 indentifies that in achieving a 
prosperous economy, the Government’s overarching objective is sustainable 
economic growth.  To achieve this, key objectives include, amongst other things, 
improving the economic performance of towns, delivering more sustainable patterns 
of development, and promoting the vitality and viability of towns and other centres.  

Page 49



This latter objective is to be achieved through focussing economic development and 
growth in existing town centres and competition between retailers through the 
provision of efficient shopping services in town centres. 

In terms of this proposal, it is an edge of centre convenience retail development 
which PPS 4 defines as main town centre use.  Policies EC14 and EC16 require a 
sequential test and impact assessment for retail development outside town centres 
that are not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan.  Policy EC17 
indicates that such development on a site outside of the main town centre, and not in 
accordance with an up-to-date development plan should be refused where it does not 
comply with the requirements of the sequential approach to site selection (Policy 
EC15) or where the proposal would have a significant adverse impact in terms of any 
one of the impacts set out in Policies EC10.2 and EC16.1. 
 

PPS 5 - Planning and the Historic Environment 

The advice encourages development which will have a positive impact upon the 
special character and appearance of conservation areas. 

 
PPS 9 - Planning for Biodiversity and Geological Diversification  

The PPS seeks to ensure that development enhances biodiversity and does not 
harm protected areas and species. 

 
PPS 23 - Planning and Pollution Control 

The PPS seeks to minimise pollution and ensure that development does not harm 
health or the water environment. 

 
PPS 25 – Development and Flood Risk 

The PPS provides advice with regard to flood risk and seeks to ensure development 
minimises flooding on the site and in the surrounding area 

 
North West of England Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) 

Policies within the RSS promote sustainable communities and economic 
development.  Policy DP5 states that development should be localised to reduce the 
need for travel and to enable people to meet their needs locally.  Policy RDF2 states 
that development in rural areas should be concentrated on Key Service Centres and 
should be of a scale appropriate to the needs of local communities. 

Policy W5 states that retail investment of an appropriate scale will be encouraged to 
maintain and enhance viability and to ensure that Centres meet the needs of the 
local community. 
 

Cumbria and Lake District Joint Structure Plan: 

There are a number of Structure Plan policies that have been extended.  Policy ST4 
states that major development proposals will only be permitted where the benefits 
outweigh detrimental effects, where the proposal complies with national standards 
and best practice for environment, safety and security and alternative location giving 
less harm have been fully considered and rejected.  Grange over Sands is 

Page 50



designated as a key service centre where development should be focused by Policy 
ST5. 

Policy E38 seeks to ensure that development preserves or enhances the character 
and appearance of Conservation Areas. 
 

Adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy 

Policies CS1.1 and CS1.2 promote sustainable development and the Development 
Strategy for the District.  Grange over Sands is designated as a Key Service Centre 
where development will be dependant upon the character, environmental capacity 
and infrastructure provision.   

Policy CS4 seeks to promote the vitality and viability of Grange over Sands town 
centre and safeguard its role as a Key Service Centre by promoting sites in the town 
for development including new retail space.  The vision for Grange over Sands by 
2025 is that the town will be an important Key Service Centre, providing vital retail, 
service and community functions for the wider catchment area.      

Policy CS7.5 seeks to enhance local provision within centres and encourages local 
sustainable shopping patterns by addressing high levels of leakage to outside area.  
Support will be dependant on how the development reflects the needs identified in 
the retail study.  The development of additional retail floor space outside town 
centres will normally be resisted, particularly where vacancy rates are high.   

Policy CS8.4 seeks to ensure that new development protects biodiversity. 

Policy CS8.6 supports enhancement of the historic environment. 

Policy CS8.7 sets out a policy framework for renewable energy. 

Policy CS8.8 requires that development will not impact on flood storage capacity, will 
manage flood risk and that provision is made for maintenance of mitigation 
measures. 

Policy CS8.10 is the design policy and ensures that design and materials maintain or 
enhance the character of the locality. 

Policies CS10.1 and CS10.2 relate to the transport Impact of New Development, 
indicating that developments will need to be designed to reduce the need to travel 
and maximise the use of sustainable forms of transport appropriate to its location. 

 
South Lakeland Local Plan 

Saved Policies within the South Lakeland Local Plan remain relevant. 

While the majority of the site is used for the sale of cars, a section provides car repair 
and servicing.  Policy E6 states that the change of use of employment land will not be 
permitted except where the existing use is unneighbourly because of traffic 
generation, noise, or disturbance to amenity; or the change of use would assist a 
move to more suitable premises in the vicinity. 

Policies C6 and C7 state that proposals which may affect a European or Ramsar site 
or a Site of Special Scientific Interest will be subject to rigorous examination.  Where 
development would directly or indirectly have an adverse effect on interests of nature 
conservation it will not be permitted. 

Page 51



Policies C15 and C16 seek to ensure that development does not harm the setting of 
listed buildings and either enhances or preserves the special character and 
appearance of a Conservation Area. 

Policies TR5 and S10 seek to ensure that parking provision is appropriate. 

Policy S10 states that the guidelines will be relaxed in circumstances which have 
good access to other means of travel other than the private car. 

Policies TR6a and TR7 seek to ensure that opportunities for disabled access, 
pedestrians and cyclists are provided.  

Policy S2 states that the design of new buildings should take account of existing 
distinctive local character.  This should not exclude good local contemporary 
architecture.  Attention should be paid to public views onto, over or out of the site. 
Views should not be significantly harmed and opportunities should be taken to 
enhance them.  The design and materials of new buildings should relate to those 
around them and be well proportioned with appropriate architectural detail and 
decoration. 

Policy S3 requires a high standard of landscaping. 

Policy S19 states that development should incorporate new works of art. 

 
Other Documents 

The South Lakeland Retail Study 2007 - 2015 was produced in October 2007.  This 
document assessed capacity for additional retail and leisure development within the 
sub-region and is intended to inform the emerging Local Development Framework.  It 
highlighted high levels of leakage from Grange over Sands and Milnthorpe and 
recommended that small supermarkets within each settlement would help to stem 
this flow.   

South Lakeland District Council Corporate Plan 2011 - 2015 sets out the Council’s 
four key priorities for the next five years as Housing; Economic Development; 
Environment including Climate Change; and Culture.  

South Lakeland Sustainable Community Strategy 2008 - 2028 is a document aimed 
at involving local people and communities in the decision making process, with a 
commitment to, inter alia, job skills and regeneration; health and wellbeing; and 
quality environment.  

South Lakeland District Council commissioned Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners to 
complete a retail study compliant with PPS 4.  Since the last Committee this 
document has been completed.  The study included newly commissioned household 
survey work in order to establish retail trends.  The evidence indicates that the 
expenditure capacity has reduced however the report concludes that there is an 
identifiable qualitative need for more convenience shopping in Grange in addition to 
the quantitative need and that this will help to establish more sustainable patterns of 
shopping.   
 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 

Page 52



of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The Government introduced a procedure for extending time limits in 2009 to make it 
easier for developers and Local Planning Authorities to keep planning permission 
alive for longer during the economic downturn.  The accompanying guidance states 
that Local Planning Authority’s should take a positive and constructive approach 
towards applications which improve the prospect of sustainable development being 
taken forward quickly.  Local Authority’s should focus attention on development plan 
policies and other material considerations (including national policies) which may 
have changed significantly since the original grant of planning permission.   

Batemans have been exploring relocation of the Toyota dealership to Lindale.  This 
has resulted in the delay of the commencement of the development.  Negotiations 
have been taking place and an application for the relocation is currently being 
considered by the National Park.  The application seeks to extend the time for 
commencement to allow this application to be considered and relocation to take 
place if permission is granted.     

Five main issues were considered during the last application: 

• the retail assessment; 

• flooding; 

• impact on the highway network and safety; 

• impact on the Conservation Area; 

• neighbours amenity. 

The considerations for this application should focus on material changes which may 
affect these five issues.  In particular the changes arising from the adoption of the 
Core Strategy and replacement of PPS6 by PPS4 should be considered.  
 

Sequential Test 

The Land Allocations Retail Topic Paper 2011 provides an assessment of the town 
centre, primary and secondary shopping areas within each of the centres.  It states 
that national multiple representation is well below the national average in Grange-
over-Sands and given the Edwardian and Victorian nature of the town, many of the 
premises are small and less configured for large retailing.  The document forms the 
basis of the town centres shopping areas proposed within the allocations document.  
While at an early stage, the proposals have been accepted by the Council as 
appropriate.    

The suggested primary shopping frontages have been closely defined to reflect the 
areas that provide the key retail character of the town centre.  The primary shopping 
area incorporates areas along Kents Bank Road, including the Co-op and 
greengrocers and the short stretch including Grange Bakery.  The area of Main 
Street which includes the Spar and Higgins Butchers is included as Primary 
Shopping Area along with the variety of shops and other town centre uses between 
the Clock Tower and Victoria Hall.  Yewbarrow Terrace provides a greater diversity in 
town centre uses.  Consideration was given to including it within the Primary 

Page 53



Shopping area but this was discounted due to the open space which segregates the 
terrace from the remainder of the town.   
 
Assessment of the Application Site  

The primary shopping area site is located approximately 335 metres to the south of 
the site.  Customers would need to cross Windermere Road using the new 
pedestrian refuge to Yewbarrow Terrace, which provides an intervening secondary 
shopping area opposite the site.  The primary shopping can easily be accessed on 
foot up the slope between Yewbarrow Terrace and Victoria Hall, a stretch of 220 
metres.  There is already a functional linkage between Yewbarrow Terrace and the 
primary shopping area with regular passage of pedestrians between the two areas.   

 
Assessment of the Berners Pool Site 

The inclusion of the Berners site within the town centre was considered, however this 
was not taken forward as the site is separated from the closest section of Secondary 
Shopping Area by 175 metres of residential properties.  It is then a further 225 
metres (a total of 395 metres) to the primary shopping area.  This gap is interspersed 
with secondary shopping areas.  Pedestrians would need to cross either Park Road 
or Kents Bank Road and walk along the level path to the primary shopping area at 
Kents Bank Road.  While access from the Berners Pool site is along a fairly flat area 
of land, there are no functional links between the areas at present.                

 
Other Sites 

There has been no change to the basis of this assessment.  Sites such as the Kents 
Bank Road car park, St Charles field and the garage are constrained in terms of size 
and relationship with adjacent properties.  The Kents Bank Road car park provides 
well used parking in this part of the town.  The library site is constrained by the size 
of the site, trees, and it is not envisaged that the library would be relocated and it is 
an important local facility.  All these sites are also constrained by the road system.  
Kents Bank Road is heavily parked and congested, access for delivery vehicles 
problematic and currently causes blockages.  In responding to the early Core 
Strategy consultations, the congestion in this area was highlighted by members of 
the public.  Introduction of a further retail store in this area is therefore likely to 
exacerbate such problems. 

A reduction in the footprint or disaggregation of the types of goods on offer would not 
create a supermarket of sufficient scale to claw back the high level of expenditure 
leakage highlighted within the retail study or the Core Strategy. 

 
Conclusion of Sequential Assessment 

The application site is sequentially preferable due to the location opposite a 
secondary shopping area, it is closer to the primary shopping area with established 
functional links. 

 

Assessment of Impact 

The new Retail Study concludes that the planned supermarket in Grange has the 
potential to significantly increase expenditure retention rates in Grange over Sands 

Page 54



through reducing leakage to other centres.  The study concludes that there is an 
identifiable qualitative need for more convenience shopping in Grange in addition to 
the quantitative need and that this will help to establish more sustainable patterns of 
shopping.   

There is a sustainability argument for upgrading main food shopping in Grange over 
Sands to address leakage and retain expenditure locally.  The Core Strategy 
promotes retail development to enhance expenditure retention and sustainable 
shopping patterns in Key Service Centres to increase their health and vitality.  This 
follows national planning guidance by ensuring current unsustainable shopping 
patterns are not re-enforced, directing growth to areas of the greatest qualitative 
need, helping to provide choice and promoting the viability and vitality of centres.  
The location of Grange over Sands area means that ensuring accessibility to 
services is a key spatial issue for the council.  Key Strategic objectives include those 
to support the growth of the local economy and rural diversification through the 
support for the creation of a healthy and diverse economy, and by concentrating 
economic growth and regeneration through targeted development in Key Service 
Centres (Strategic Objective 1).  The development will also go some way as to 
improving local accessibility to services in line with the Community Strategy 
(Strategic Objective 5) by reducing the need to travel for key services. 

Essentially the position has not changed from the 2007 retail report which concluded 
that Grange over Sands retained so little convenience goods expenditure it is really 
part of Kendal’s secondary catchment area.  The 2007 study went on to conclude 
that this highlights a qualitative deficiency and that the Council should prioritise the 
Grange over Sands and Milnthorpe areas for retail improvements.  

It is worth noting that the 2012 study is based on up to date expenditure figures.  The 
current economic climate has slowed down, however the study identifies that the 
underlying trend over the medium and long term is expected to lead to increases in 
retail floorspace.  The study does not take into account the Core Strategy provision 
for an additional 734 dwellings in the area which is being delivered through the 
Allocation of Land DPD which will increase expenditure.  The 2012 study concludes 
that if the Booths store does not come forward in Grange then “the lack of a bulk food 
shopping destination in Grange over Sands should be a retail priority for the council”.  
Unless there are improvements in the existing retail offer the retention rates will 
worsen.  

Although there are local specialist food retailers in Grange over Sands the inability of 
these stores to meet the needs of the majority of residents in terms of main food 
shopping is more than evident through the high levels of leakage which stands at  
69.5% for convenience shopping and 81% for comparison shopping.  It is clear that 
the perpetuation of the current low retention rates in Grange over Sands through 
inactivity and failure to increase the retail offer will not increase the retention rates or 
address the current unsustainable shopping patterns. 

At the time of the last application a single café unit was vacant.  The number has 
increased with the closure of a café, clothes shop, a travel agent and a newsagent.  
The majority of units that have closed were not convenience goods shops and 
therefore would not be adversely affected by a supermarket or by the delay in 
development of the scheme.  By attracting additional main food shopping, a large 
range of services would benefit from increased custom in the town.  A similar 
situation has arisen in Milnthorpe, with the closure of an interior design shop, art 
shop and computer shop.   

Page 55



The assessment of an application to extend the time for commencement of a 
development must relate to material changes in circumstances.  In the impact 
consideration there has been no real change, there is still an identified qualitative 
argument for additional provision and the sequential nature of the site remains the 
same.  While the expenditure figures are lower than previously anticipated, there has 
been no material change to the basis for assessment including the requirement to 
retain greater expenditure in the town, percentage of claw back for independent 
retailers or the conclusions of the impact assessment previously carried out by the 
applicant. 

 

Other Issues 

The policy relating to the assessment on the impact on the Conservation Area has 
changed with the replacement of PPG15 by PPS 5 and addition of Policy CS8.6 of 
the Core Strategy.  However, the aim of these policies to conserve the historic 
environment remains.  The design and scale of the proposed building will benefit the 
appearance of the site and that of the Conservation Area.  The careful treatment of 
the car parking area, boardwalk and inclusion of landscaping will ensure that the 
Conservation Area is enhanced by the proposals.          

The issues surrounding flooding, highway network and safety, the amenity of 
neighbours, contaminated land and ecological issues were assessed during the last 
application and found to be acceptable.  There have been no material changes 
relating to these issues.  Subject to the retention of conditions, the impact of the 
development will be unchanged and is therefore acceptable.     

 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, the Core Strategy supports development which will enhance the role of 
Grange over Sands as a Key Service Centre, provide a greater range of convenience 
shopping and reduce the need to travel.  The site is sequentially the best available 
site and has safe and accessible footway links to the remainder of the town and 
public transport provision.  As Grange over Sands has a good range of shops 
including independent specialist retailers, the development of a supermarket is 
necessary to enhance the retention of expenditure sustainable patterns of 
development. 

While expenditure figures may have fallen, the conclusions of the Council’s up to 
date Retail Study have not altered from the previous report and the conclusions 
within the applicant’s previous impact assessment remain valid.  There has therefore 
been no material change in circumstances that would warrant refusal of the 
application.     

 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT subject to: 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 
expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

Reason  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Page 56



 

Condition (2) This planning permission relates to the application as submitted on 
26 November 2008 and the following amended plans and 
documents: 

-  The Flood Risk Assessment Addendum dated 4 February 2009  
    by R G Parkins & Partners Ltd; 

-  R G Parkins & Partners Ltd drawing numbers K24642/1/01 D,  
    K24642/1/02; 

-  Turner Lowe Associates drawing number 080901/01/B; 

-  Damson Design drawing numbers 0724 P102 D, 0724 p105 B,  
    0724 p106 A. 

Reason  For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

Condition (3) The maximum net sales area shall be 929 square metres, the 
principal use of which shall be for the sale of convenience goods 
with no more than 10% of the sales area being used for the display 
and sale of comparison goods.  Notwithstanding the provisions of 
the Town and Country Planning General Permitted Development 
Order 1995 as amended and the Use Classes Order 1987 (as 
amended) the retail unit shall not at any time be for the provision of a 
café. 

Reason  To ensure that the scale and type of goods sold at the store meets 
the need identified in the South Lakeland Retail Study and to protect 
the vitality and viability of Grange over Sands Town Centre, in 
accordance with Planning Policy Statement 4 and Policies CS4 and 
CS7.5 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

Condition (4) The retail unit hereby granted shall not be brought into use until the 
proposed flood mitigation measures have been implemented in 
accordance with the details in the Flood Risk Assessment by R G 
Parkins, as amended by the Addendum dated 4 February 2009, and 
on the plans produced by R G Parkins & Partners Ltd drawing 
numbers K24642/1/01 D, K24642/1/02. 

Reason  To reduce the risk of flooding in accordance with Policy CS8.8 of the   
adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

Condition (5) Before the retail unit hereby granted is first brought into use, a 
management and maintenance scheme for the flood storage tanks, 
culverts, gullies and connections shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The management and 
maintenance shall be brought into operation before the retail store is 
first brought into use and shall be operated all at times thereafter. 

Reason  To ensure that the flood mitigation measures are maintained in 
accordance with Policy CS8.8 of the adopted South Lakeland Core 
Strategy. 

Page 57



 

Condition (6) The design of the culvert beneath Lindale Road shall be constructed 
in accordance with the details in the Flood Risk Assessment by R G 
Parkins, as amended by the Addendum dated 4 February 2009, and 
on the plans produced by R G Parkins & Partners Ltd drawing 
numbers K24642/1/01 D,  K24642/1/02 unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in conjunction with the 
Environment Agency. 

Reason  To ensure that the flow rates in the culvert beneath Lindale Road 
are resitricted to current rates to ensure flood risk downstream does 
not increase as a result of the works in accordance with Policy 
CS8.8 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

Condition (7) The land contamination mitigation scheme shall be carried out in 
accordance with the recommendation within the Geo-Environmental 
Site Investigation report by R G Parkins & Partners Ltd submitted 
with the application.  No development shall take place until a 
scheme for the further investigation, risk assessment and mitigation 
in relation to contaminated land and the removal of the fuel tanks 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The removal of the fuel tanks and any necessary 
mitigation work shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme. 

Reason  In the interests of health and to ensure that the development does 
not contaminate ground water and the nearby Morecambe Bay 
protected site in accordance with Policy CS8.4 of the adopted South 
Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved Policies C6 and C7 of the South 
Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (8) The retail unit hereby approved shall not be brought into use until 
the works within the highway, including the repositioning of the 
roundabout, crossing points and parking areas, have been 
implemented in accordance with the plan produced by Turner Lowe 
Associates - drawing number 080901/01/B. 

Reason  To ensure that the highway layout can accommodate the traffic 
generated by the development and to improve pedestrian safety. 
 

Condition (9) The retail unit hereby granted shall not be brought into use until 
visibility splays at each entrance and exit point have been provided 
in accordance with the details shown on the plan produced by 
Turner Lowe Associates - drawing number 080901/01/B.  The 
visibility splays shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
approved plan. 

Reason  In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies 
CS10.1 and CS10.2 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

 

Page 58



Condition (10) The retail unit hereby granted shall not be brought into first use until 
the gates to the north and south of the delivery area (at the eastern 
side of the building) have been installed.  The delivery area shall be 
accessed from the northern side and shall exit onto Station Square 
at the southern side.  The access and exit points to the eastern side 
of the building shall only be used by delivery, servicing and 
maintenance vehicles. 

Reason  In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policies CS10.1 and 
CS10.2 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

Condition (11) The retail unit hereby granted shall not be brought into use until the 
car/coach parking layout, access and exit points have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved plans.  The car/coach 
parking layout, access and exit points shall thereafter be maintained 
in accordance with the approved scheme. 

Reason  To ensure that safe access and exit points, and car parking is 
available in the interest of highway safety and to accord with Policies 
CS10.1 and CS10.2 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

Condition (12) The retail unit hereby granted shall not be brought into use until the 
pedestrian routes through the car park have been implemented in 
accordance with the approved plan. The pedestrian routes shall 
thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved plan at all 
times. 

Reason  To ensure that a safe route through the car park is available for 
pedestrians in accordance with with Policies CS10.1 and CS10.2 of 
the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved Policy Tr7 of 
the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (13) The retail unit hereby granted shall not be brought into first use until 
the operator has submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its 
written approval, a Travel Plan which shall identify the measures that 
will be undertaken to encourage the achievement of a modal shift 
away from the use of private cars to visit the site, to sustainable 
transport modes.  The measures identified in the Travel Plan shall 
be implemented by the applicant before the retail store is first 
brought into use and thereafter maintained. 

Reason  To aid the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in accordance 
with Policies CS10.1 and CS10.2 of the adopted South Lakeland 
Core Strategy and extended Policy T31 of the Cumbria and Lake 
District Joint Structure Plan. 
 

Condition (14) A report reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan and including 
any necessary amendments or measures shall be prepared by the 
operator and submitted for the approval of the Local Planning 
Authority 12 months after the building has been brought into use. 

Page 59



Reason  To aid the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in accordance 
with Policies CS10.1 and CS10.2 of the adopted South Lakeland 
Core Strategy and the extended Policy T31 of the Cumbria and Lake 
District Joint Structure Plan. 
 

Condition (15) Sample panels of the proposed external stonework and roughcast 
shall be erected on the site for the further written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority.  This approval shall be obtained before 
any of the superstructure is erected.  The panels shall be of 
sufficient size to illustrate the method of jointing, laying and coursing 
to be used.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason  To ensure that the materials used in the development protect or 
enhance the Conservation Area in accordance with Policy CS8.6 of 
the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved Policy C16 of 
the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (16) Samples of all natural and reconstituted stone architectural features 
together with details of their external cross-sections and jointing 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any of the superstructure is erected.  These 
architectural features shall include the quoins, mouldings, window 
surrounds and plinths.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason  To ensure that the materials and detailing used in the development 
protect or enhance the Conservation Area in accordance with Policy 
CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved 
Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (17) The roofs of the new buildings shall be covered with graduated 
slates being blue/grey in colour and of a similar texture to those 
mined in the County of Cumbria, a sample of which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before any development commences on the site. 

Reason  To ensure that the materials used in the development protect or 
enhance the Conservation Area in accordance with Policy CS8.6 of 
the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved Policy C16 of 
the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (18) The external hard surfaced areas shall be completed in accordance 
with a schedule of materials which shall first have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The hard 
surfacing shall be maintained in accordance with the approved 
scheme at all times thereafter. 

Reason  To ensure that the materials and detailing used in the development 
protect or enhance the Conservation Area in accordance with Policy 
CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved 
Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 

Page 60



 

Condition (19) The windows within the west, south and southwest elevations shall 
remain clear glazed at all times or as otherwise approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason  To protect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 
in accordance with Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland 
Core Strategy and Saved Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local 
Plan. 
 

Condition (20) Before any of the superstructure is erected there shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, working 
drawings and specifications of the following: 

-  window and door construction; 

-  roof overhang and eaves brackets; 

-  the canopies and railings; 

-  gates to the service yard; 

-  boardwalk. 

These details shall be constructed and maintained in accordance 
with the approved scheme at all times thereafter. 

Reason  To ensure that the detailing used in the development protect or 
enhance the Conservation Area in accordance with Policy CS8.6 of 
the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved Policy C16 of 
the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (21) The retail store hereby granted shall not be brought into first use 
until the boardwalk has been implemented in accordance with the 
approved plan. The boardwalk shall be maintained in accordance 
with the approved plan at all times thereafter. 

Reason  To ensure that the openings of the storage tanks are screened in the 
interest of the appearance of the Conservation Area in accordance  
with Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and 
Saved Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (22) Before the retail unit hereby granted is brought into first use, external 
seating and artwork shall be installed within the site in accordance 
with a scheme which has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason  To ensure that seating and art work is provided to enhance the site 
and the role it plays within the Conservation Area in accordance with 
Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and 
Saved Policies C16 and S19 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (23) Prior to the installation of equipment/plant on the roof, details 
including their size, type and colour shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 

Page 61



equipment/plant shall be maintained in accordance with the 
approved scheme at all times thereafter. 

Reason  To ensure that the equipment does not dominate the roof and to 
protect the character of the Conservation Area in accordance with 
Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and 
Saved Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (24) Within six months from the date when the building hereby permitted 
is occupied trees/shrubs shall be planted on the land in accordance 
with a landscaping scheme to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Any trees/shrubs which are 
removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five 
years of their planting shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with trees/shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
required to be planted unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
written consent to any variation. 

Reason  To enhance the appearance of the site and to ensure appropriate 
species are used to create an appropriate wildlife habitat in and 
around the pond area.  In accordance with Policy CS8.6 of the 
adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved Policies C16 and 
S3 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (25) No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, 
until the trees and hedges identified for retention on the approved 
plans have been protected in accordance with a method statement 
which shall have been first submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The method statement shall comprise 
of the information identified in the Arboricultural Implication Study 
produced by Robin Forestry Surveys Ltd and submitted with the 
application.  The trees and hedges shall be protected in accordance 
with the approved scheme at all times during the development of the 
site. 

Reason  To ensure that the trees and hedges to remain in the site are 
protected in the interest of the appearance of the Conservation Area 
in accordance with Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland 
Core Strategy and Saved Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local 
Plan. 
 

Condition (26) No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, 
until a phasing scheme for the development has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall 
include the phasing of demolition, flood mitigation work, works within 
the highway, provision of access and car parking and development 
of the building.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved phasing scheme. 

Reason  To ensure that the site is not left in a derelict state, that flood 
mitigation works, highway improvements and car park provision take 
place at appropriate times in accordance with Policies CS8.6 and 

Page 62



CS8.8 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved 
Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (27) No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, 
until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. 
The Statement shall provide for: 

(i)  the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  

(ii)  loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

(iii) storage of plant and materials and the siting of portacabins used  
      in constructing the development;  

(iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including  
      decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where  
      appropriate;  

(v)  wheel washing facilities;  

(vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during  
      construction;  

(vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from   
      demolition and construction works. 

Reason  To protect the amenity of nearby residents and the character of the 
Conservation Area during development in accordance with Policy 
CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved 
Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (28) Demolition or construction works shall not take place outside 08.00 
hours to 18.00 hours Mondays to Fridays and 08.00 hours to 13.00 
hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

Reason  To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 

Condition (29) There shall be no deliveries arriving or leaving the site (including the 
emptying of waste containers), delivery or service vehicle 
movements within the site or any external movement of goods or roll 
cages between the hours of 22.00 hours and 07.00 hours. 

Reason  To protect the nearby occupiers from noise nuisance at unsociable 
hours.  
 

Condition (30) The premises shall not be open for customers between 22.00 hours 
and 07.00 hours. 

Reason  To protect the nearby occupiers from noise nuisance at unsociable 
hours. 
 

Condition (31) Before the retail unit hereby granted is first brought into use, the wall 
along the boundary with Riggs Close shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved plan.  The wall shall be maintained in 

Page 63



accordance with the approved plans at all times thereafter. 

Reason  To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with 
Policy R6 of the South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (32) No windows or openings, other than those shown on the approved 
plan, shall be inserted into the eastern elevation of the buildings 
hereby granted without express planning permission. 

Reason  To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 
 

Condition (33) The noise emission from plant and machinery installed on the 
exterior of the building shall not exceed the levels given in the 
Acoustic Assessment produced by PDA Ltd received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 28 November 2008. 

Reason  To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 
 

Condition (34) Before the retail unit hereby granted is first brought into use, external 
lighting shall be installed in accordance with a scheme which shall 
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include the specification of 
the type, size, wattage, location, intensity and direction of the 
lighting, calculations for the distribution, overspill and glare.  The 
lighting shall be maintained in accordance with the approved 
scheme at all times thereafter and express planning permission shall 
be obtained for the installation of any additional lighting. 

Reason  To protect the amenity of nearby occupiers and minimise light 
pollution in accordance with Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South 
Lakeland Core Strategy and Saved Policies C5 and C16 of the 
South Lakeland Local Plan. 
 

Condition (35) No development shall take place until evidence that the 
development is registered with a BREEAM certification body and a 
pre-assessment report (or design stage certificate with interim rating 
if available) has been submitted indicating that the development can 
achieve the stipulated final BREEAM level.  

No building shall be occupied until a final Certificate has been issued 
certifying that BREEAM (or any such equivalent national measure of 
sustainable building which replaces that scheme) rating of very good 
standard has been achieved for this development. 

Reason  In the interests of resource conservation and environmental 
sustainability in accordance with Policy CS8.7 of the adopted South 
Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

NOTE  1  The applicant’s attention is drawn to the sensitive location of this 
development in that it is adjacent to noise sensitive residential 
property.  It is important that the applicant (and any future occupiers) 
are mindful of the sensitive nature of the site, especially the service 

Page 64



yard, and that they should conduct their activities in such a way that 
a noise nuisance does not arise.  A high standard of management 
will be required if a nuisance is not to arise.  This should include 
minimising deliveries and handling stock externally before 08.00 
hours, and instructing staff and delivery drivers not to raise their 
voices or shout whilst making deliveries or handling stock at 
sensitive times of the day.   

Whilst an assessment of noise undertaken in accordance with 
BS4142:1997 indicates that complaints are unlikely, even between 
07.00 hours and 08.00 hours, this is not necessarily a measure of 
statutory nuisance. 

This planning permission will not prevent the Local Authority seeking 
a legal remedy at any time in the future if it should be adjudged that 
a statutory nuisance is arising. 
 

NOTE 2  All British bats and their roosts and barn owls are protected by law 
under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and they should therefore always be taken into account 
when any work is being done on buildings which are known to be 
used by bats or owls or have potential as bat roosts.  Having regard 
to this a copy of the guidelines provided by Natural England for barn 
conversion work to reduce the risk of damage to bats or owls and 
their roosts is attached for your information.  Natural England can be 
contacted at Juniper House, Murley Moss, Oxenholme Road, 
Kendal, Cumbria LA9 7RL. 

 

 

 

REASON FOR GRANTING PLANNING PERMISSION: 

The proposal will accord with the South Lakeland Retail Study, which identifies a  
quantitative need for a supermarket within the Key Service Centre of Grange-over-
Sands.  The proposal will provide a sustainable service of a scale appropriate to the 
needs of the Key Service Centre. 

The location of the site is appropriate in terms of the relationship with the town 
centre, public transport and pedestrian links and it considered that the provision of a 
convenience retail unit in this location will not harm the vitality and viability of the 
town centre. 

The scale and design of the proposed building is appropriate in terms of the context 
and it is considered that it will enhance the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and the setting of nearby listed buildings. 

Flood mitigation works are proposed which will enhance the storage and flow of flood 
waters through the site and will not prejudice future flood mitigation work in the 
locality. 

The proposed highway alterations and car parking layout will improve the function of 
the roundabout and provide safe access for vehicles and pedestrian to and around 
the site. 

Page 65



It is considered that the proposal will not harm the amenity of nearby residential 
occupiers subject to restrictions with regard to delivery times, lighting and the 
erection of a boundary wall. 

The method of treating contaminated land is appropriate and will ensure that the 
development does not pollute the ground water or the nearby European Site at 
Morecambe Bay. 

In view of the above it is considered that the proposal will accord with the following 
policies: 

Planning Policy Statements and Guidance - 

·     Planning Policy Statement 4: Planning for Sustainable Settlements; 

·     Planning Policy Guidance Note 5: Planning and the Historic Environment; 

·     Planning Policy Statement 9: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation; 

·     Planning Policy Statement 23: Planning and Pollution Control and;  

·     Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk. 

North West of England Regional Spatial Strategy - 

      Policies DP5, RDF2 and W5. 

Cumbria and Lake District Joint Structure Plan - 

      Extended Policies ST4, ST5 and E38. 

Adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy - 

      Policies CS1.1, CS1.2, CS4, CS7.5, CS8.4, CS8.6, CS8.7, CS8.8, CS8.10,   
 CS10, CS10.1 and  CS10.2. 

South Lakeland Local Plan - 

      Saved Policies E6, C5, C6, C7, C15, C16, C24, Tr5, Tr6, Tr7, S2, S3, S10 and   
 S19. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 

APPENDIX 

 

Comparison Table 
  

Distance / Geographic Application Site 
 

Berners Pool Site 

Distance to nearest 
shopping area 

Across Windermere Road to 
the Boulevard and Yewbarrow 
Terrace (60m) which includes 
cafes, bakery and dentist 

Across and along Kents 
Bank Road (175m) to 
Devonshire Place which 
includes Florist, Laundry 
and Butchers 
 

Distance to Town Centre 
Boundary as proposed in 
the Allocations Document 
 

Within town centre boundary 150m to rear of 
Devonshire Place 

Distance to Secondary 
shopping area as proposed 
in the Allocations Document 
 

15m 175m 

Distance to Primary 
shopping area as proposed 
in the Allocations Document 
 

335m 400m 

Distance to public transport 
 

75m to bus stops and train 
station  
 

50m to bus stop 

Topograpghy between site 
and Primary shopping area 

Gently rising land to Primary 
Shopping Area around Victoria 
Hall then steeper rise to 
shopping area around Kents 
Bank Road/Main Street junction 
   

Fairly level footpath 
alongside Kents Bank 
Road 

Intervening Land Uses 
between site and Primary 
Shopping Area 

Secondary shopping area at 
Yewbarrow Terrace, gap 
between public gardens of 
220m 
  

Primarily residential for 
175m, then sporadic 
secondary shopping area  

 

 

 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

          5                                                                   SL/2011/1041 

KIRKBY LONSDALE:  
LANE HOUSE BARNS, 
OFF THE A65  
 
PROPOSAL:  
RE-DEVELOPMENT OF 
SITE FOR OFFICES 
AND WORKSHOPS 
(USE CLASSES B1 AND 
B2) 
 
 
MR JOHN COLLIS  

 
E359900 N478874   27/03/2012 

 
 

SUMMARY:   

The centrally sited building is of an appropriate scale and massing but the second 
building, adjacent to the western boundary, would appear less visually attractive.  
Warehousing would not be appropriate on this site. 

 

KIRKBY LONSDALE TOWN COUNCIL: 

The Town Council recommends refusal of this application.  It involves the 
redevelopment of derelict farm buildings and provides the potential for business 
activity and employment but there are a number of matters the District Council may 
wish to consider : 

• The need for the development.  The application does not provide any 
evidence to support the need for such a development nor are there any 
prospective tenants. 

• Intensity of the development.  The addition of the unit adjacent to the western 
boundary potentially overdevelops the site.  From the east side, the new 
building resembles a generic commercial development, similar to a car 
dealership, and would impair views from across the Lune Valley and the town. 

• Impact of the development.  When viewed in connection with the business 
park, the sub-station and the garage on the opposite side of the A65, the 
development will create a chain or ribbon of commercial sites along the road.  
This will change the very nature of Kirkby Lonsdale and its surroundings with 
the danger of creating the same undesirable development as demonstrated in 
Ingleton.  Secondly, there is the significant danger that the development 
boundary of the town will be extended and a precedent established for infill 
development along the A65.   

Page 69



• Impact on local infrastructure.  Traffic generation and vehicle movements 
appear to be significantly under-estimated.  Those employed in the 
businesses to be established on the site will travel to and from work, and into 
Kirkby Lonsdale, by car. 

• Road safety.  The application indicates that the development will only 
generate 25 vehicle movements each weekday.  This figure appears to be 
wholly unrealistic as all journeys between home and work and into Kirkby 
Lonsdale will be made by car.  Cumbria Highways should introduce a 40 mph 
speed limit along this stretch of the A65 and right-turning lanes should be 
introduced in the interests of road safety. 

There are positive reasons for the Town Council to support this application given the 
benefits of keeping the buildings in use and the potential economic benefits to the 
Parish.  However, the benefits need to be weighed against the areas of concern 
identified above.  If the District Council feels that the development is necessary and 
desirable it should ensure that Cumbria Highways has given due regard to road 
safety improvements, such as the extension of the 40 mph speed limit and the 
introduction of right-turn lanes. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

To be reported. 

 

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: 

A condition should be imposed requiring all facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or 
chemicals to be provided with secondary, impermeable containment in order to 
prevent spillages.  

 

KIRKBY LONSDALE CIVIC SOCIETY: 

The Civic Society objects to the development for the following reasons : 

• The Civic Society is not convinced of the need for such a development at this 
location; the regular availability of units on the business park opposite 
supports this view. 

• The likely extension of the development would lead to a ribbon of development 
along the A65 to the detriment of the town.  There is provision in the Land 
Allocations document for a mixed use development, including employment 
uses, on land to the west of Harling Bank.  The Civic Society believes this site 
to be a much more suitable location. 

• If the District Council is minded to approve the development, warehousing 
should be excluded.  The site is constrained, the access is from a fast stretch 
of road and there are much better locations elsewhere for warehousing.  The 
number of vehicle movements indicated for the development seems 
unrealistically low if a warehousing operation is included. 

• The design and materials proposed for the main group of buildings, built 
essentially on the footprint of the original group of barns, is generally in 
harmony with the landscape.  However, the extra building looks foreign to the 

Page 70



environment, with the elevation facing the A65 being dominated by an 
overlarge gable end containing dormer windows.  It is out of character with the 
other buildings and sits awkwardly in the landscape. 

 

OTHER: 

One letter of support has been received although the support is conditional upon 
Cumbria Highways recommending approval. 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

The site has a lengthy planning history which can be summarized as follows : - 

• 1989:  0.2ha of land allocated for business use in the South Westmorland   
           Local Plan. 

• 1994:  planning permission granted for the conversion of the building on the  
           site into business units. 

• 2001:  permission granted for five new-build business units on the site. 

• 2004:  planning permission refused for a business park extending to 1.6ha;  
           permission was refused on the grounds of landscape and visual  
           intrusion. 

• 2005:  permission granted for a substantial building to house an auctioneer’s  
           sales rooms. 

• 2008:  permission granted for a revised sales room scheme. 

• 2010:  extension of the time period for the 2005 consent ; the permission  
           expires in August 2013. 

None of the various planning permissions have been acted upon. 

The Kirkby Lonsdale Business Park, on the opposite side of the A65, was built 
following a planning permission granted in March 2006. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

The application site extends to 0.5ha and is part of a larger field on the north side of 
the A65 about one mile to the west of Kirkby Lonsdale.  The southern part of the site, 
adjacent to the highway verge, is occupied by a dilapidated former stone building 
without a roof.  A veterinary practice lies to the east and there is open countryside to 
the north and west.  To the south, on the opposite side of the A65, is a filling station 
and repair garage, an electricity sub-station and the recently completed Kirkby 
Lonsdale Business Park. This latest proposal for the application site is for a mixed 
office, light industrial and warehousing development.  Two buildings are proposed; 
one in the central part of the site adjacent to the highway boundary and one to be 
built adjacent to the western site boundary.  The former is grouped around a small 
courtyard and comprises single- and two-storey buildings, a total of six units and a 
footprint of 600 square metres.  The building is conventional but attractively designed 
with the walls faced with stone and the roofs covered with natural slate. 

The second building will stand near to the western boundary and is to be set back 
further from the highway boundary than the neighbouring building.  It covers a floor 

Page 71



area measuring 23 metres by 13 metres and rises to 8 metres in height.  Offices are 
proposed for each of the two floors.  The materials of construction are the same as 
the neighbouring building, and the building features a glazed gable facing north and a 
hipped roof facing the A65. 

 

PLANNING POLICIES: 

Core Strategy and Local Plan Policies 

Policy CS7.4 (the Rural Economy) of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy 
states that favourable consideration will be given to suitable employment-related 
development in rural areas where the proposal : 

• is of a scale in keeping with its surroundings; 

• does not detract from the amenity of residential areas; 

• is not detrimental to the character or appearance of the landscape or 
settlement; and 

• does not give rise to unacceptable levels of traffic. 

Policy CS8.2 of the Core Strategy (protection and enhancement of landscape and 
settlement character) requires development proposals to demonstrate that their 
location, scale, design and materials will protect, conserve and, where possible, 
enhance, amongst other matters, the special qualities and local distinctiveness of the 
area. 

Core Strategy Policy 8.2 (Design) requires that the siting, design, scale and materials 
of all development should be of a character which maintains or enhances the quality 
of the landscape or townscape and, where appropriate, should be in keeping with the 
local vernacular tradition.  Designs that support and enhance local distinctiveness will 
be encouraged.  New developments should protect and enhance key local views and 
features or characteristics of local importance and incorporate layouts that reinforce 
specific local distinctiveness. 

Saved Policy S2 of the South Lakeland Local Plan sets out the South Lakeland 
Design Code and requires applications to take proper account of its principles. 

 
National Policies 

Planning Policy Statement 4 (Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth).  Policy 
EC6 of PPS4 states that local planning authorities should ensure that the countryside 
is protected for the sake of its intrinsic character and beauty, the diversity of its 
landscapes, heritage and wildlife, the wealth of its natural resources and to ensure it 
may be enjoyed by all.  Local planning authorities are advised that economic 
development in the open countryside should be strictly controlled. 

The Draft National Planning Policy Framework states that planning policies should 
support sustainable economic growth in rural areas by taking a positive approach to 
new development.  The Framework defines sustainable economic growth as using 
the planning system to build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right type, and in the right places, is available to 
allow growth and innovation; and by identifying and co-ordinating development 
requirements, including the provision of infrastructure, 

 

Page 72



HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The application site is essentially in the open countryside to the west of Kirkby 
Lonsdale.  In such areas the development of employment sites does not have strong 
policy support.  The site has had, however, the benefit of various planning 
permissions since it was allocated for business use in 1989.  There is currently a 
planning permission for a substantial building and car park to be used as an 
auctioneer’s sales rooms.  In addition, there are both long-established and relatively 
recent developments on the opposite side of the A65; namely, the electricity sub-
station, the filling station and vehicle repair garage and the Kirkby Lonsdale Business 
Park.  Unlike the Business Park, which occupies a relatively low-lying site, the 
application site is more prominent in view. 

In visual terms, the centrally located building is of a scale in keeping with its 
surroundings, as required by Core Strategy Policy CS7.4.  The differing roof heights 
successfully break up the apparent bulk of the building and the overall massing and 
design, allied to the traditional materials of construction, ensures that the building 
responds appropriately to its local context.  It is a visually distinct building that is 
compatible with the aims and objectives of Core Strategy Policies CS7.4, CS8.2 and 
CS8.10 and saved Policy S2 of the Local Plan. 

By contrast, the building to be erected adjacent to the western boundary is not as 
successful.  It would appear less visually attractive and incongruous in its setting.  
The attempt to reduce the scale of the building by the introduction of a hipped roof 
configuration to the southern part of the building is not entirely successful.  In short, 
this building would appear as an obtrusive and incongruous form of development, 
detrimental to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  Since it would 
be highly visible and prominent, both from the A65 and from across the surrounding 
fields, this detriment would be particularly pronounced.  It has been suggested to the 
applicant that this building be omitted from the application and that the reference to 
warehousing also be removed.  A development comprising offices and light industry 
(ie, Use Class B1) would be more appropriate than storage and distribution. 

There are no trees on the site but a planting scheme has been submitted that will 
form screening from the A65 and the surrounding fields.  The species choice and 
layout of the planting is generally good.   

Finally, it should be noted that, at the time of writing, advice from Cumbria Highways 
has not been received. 
 

RECOMMENDATION:   

Subject to a satisfactory conclusion to negotiations concerning the removal of 
the building adjacent to the western boundary from the application, the 
deletion of warehousing from the proposed uses, and no objection from 

Page 73



Highways, planning permission can be GRANTED subject to conditions 
relating to the following: 

(1) Standard time limit. 

(2) Planning permission to relate to one building only. 

(3) Revised layout. 

(4) Class B1 uses only. 

(5) Conditions recommended by Cumbria Highways. 

(6) Samples of the stone-facing and roofing slate to be approved. 

(7) Surfacing materials. 

(8) Planting. 

 

 

Page 74



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

    6                                                                         SL/2012/0001 

KENDAL:  
59 CAPTAIN FRENCH 
LANE   LA9 4HP 
 
PROPOSAL:  
CREATION OF THREE 
DWELLINGS 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MRS C WOODWARD 
 

 
E351299.9 N492298   27/03/2012 

 
 

SUMMARY:   

A Planning Committee site visit will have allowed assessment of the impact of the 
development on this part of the Conservation Area, and on neighbouring property.  

 

KENDAL TOWN COUNCIL: 

Refuse: over-intensive and poor design in the Conservation Area. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

An independently usable parking space (min. 2.4 x 4.8m) for each dwelling should be 
identified on a plan.  Gradient of access should not exceed 1 in 10 and should be 
surfaced in a bound material with a system of surface water drainage.  Visibility at the 
entrance from Captain French Lane should be improved and should not be 
obstructed by the bin store. 

 

SLDC CONSERVATION OFFICER: 

The proposal will replace a bungalow considered detrimental to the Conservation 
Area with a building representing a modest improvement in design which will 
enhance the Conservation Area.  It can be said to comply with PPS 5 and could be 
approved, although to provide a better contextual fit, the west-facing gable should be 
faced with stone to match the Captain French Lane frontage. 

 

OTHER: 

Six neighbours have expressed concerns about the proposal.  All have fears of traffic 
and parking congestion resulting, four mention overlooking or a loss of privacy, four 

Page 75



refer to it as being out of scale or character with its surroundings with two making 
particular mention of the increase in ridge height.  Residents of two properties to the 
south fear a loss of light / aspect and two neighbours refer to increased traffic noise. 
One writer stresses the importance of stone on the south elevation and two urge 
keeping the southern, stone boundary wall which retains features of the terrace of 
houses which once occupied the site.  

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

The site is within the Kendal Conservation Area bordering a historic narrow lane.  On 
the southern side of the lane long terraces of stone dwellings remain.  On the 
northern side such properties exist to the east of the site.  Old maps show that there 
used to be terraced properties on the application site but it is now occupied by a 
1960’s style of bungalow with an under-storey garage. To the rear is a cul de sac of 
semi-detached houses of similar era and further such houses front the Lane to the 
west of the site. 

It is proposed to replace the existing bungalow with three, two-bedroomed houses on 
the same, general footprint.  On the elevation to the lane an under-storey garage 
would be retained at the western, lower end of the site with two floors of 
accommodation above this.  The upper floor on the elevation to Captain French Lane 
would be within the roof space with each dwelling having one small, pitched-roofed 
dormer window.  The rear elevation would be two storey.  A slate roof is proposed 
and the front and west walls would be finished in stone with render proposed for the 
remaining walls.  In addition to the garage and the parking space in front of it two 
parking spaces are shown accessed off the rear cul de sac.  

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

There is a statutory duty to preserve and enhance the special character of 
Conservation Areas. 

Saved Policy C16 of the South Lakeland Local Plan seeks to preserve and enhance 
the special character of Conservation Areas.  

Policy CS8.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy seeks to safeguard and, 
where possible, enhance heritage assets including Conservation Areas. 

Planning Policy Statement 5 gives advice on Planning and the historic environment. 

Policy CS1.2 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy seeks to concentrate in 
Kendal and Ulverston and Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy seeks significant 
residential development with priority to previously developed sites in the urban area. 

The Planning System: General Principles gives advice on material planning 
considerations which can include neighbourliness. 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

Page 76



ASSESSMENT: 

The principle of residential redevelopment is acceptable as the current bungalow 
detracts from the historic and architectural character of this part of the Conservation 
Area.  The Highway Authority accepts the principle of the development in terms of 
traffic generation and parking.  Government advice suggests that in town centre 
locations such as this, off-street parking is not essential. 

The acceptability of the proposal therefore depends on the judgement in relation to 
neighbourliness and the impact of the design on the Conservation Area.  The bulk of 
the proposal is not considered unneighbourly.  It lies to the north of the terraced 
housing on the other side of Captain French Lane with higher ground behind.  The 
properties to its rear are at a higher level reducing both the impact of the additional 
height and the potential for overlooking.  While the windows facing Captain French 
Lane look towards the houses set at the back of the opposite pavement, the impact 
of overlooking is reduced because, as with the existing bungalow, the frontage of the 
new dwellings is set back from the highway so that there would be 15 metres 
between the frontages which is comparable with other parts of the Lane.   

In terms of the impact on this part of the Conservation Area the development would 
represent an enhancement in that the design is more typical of the historic properties 
to the east and south and the use of stone on the main elevation is more appropriate.  

The agent has agreed to use stonework on the exposed west gable and retain the 
front boundary wall which incorporates remains of the cottages which preceded the 
bungalow on the site.  A modification has also been made to reduce the extent of the 
large area of south-facing roof by increasing the front wall height by a small amount.  
Subject to these modifications the scheme is considered acceptable.  
 

 

RECOMMENDATION:   

Subject to a satisfactory conclusion to negotiations over the details, the 
application be GRANTED subject to conditions relating to the following: 
 

 (1) Standard time limit. 

 (2) Amended plans. 

 (3) External materials. 

 (4) Provision and retention of parking spaces. 

 (5) Levels. 

 (6) Access details as recommended by the Highway Authority. 

(7) Retention of boundary wall. 

 

 

 

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



    SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

      7                                                                       SL/2012/0003 

KIRKBY IRELETH:  
MILL BANK COTTAGE, 
BECKSIDE, KIRKBY in 
FURNESS   LA17 7TH 
 
PROPOSAL:  
DEMOLITION OF 
OUTBUILDINGS AND 
RECONSTRUCTION TO 
FORM NEW DWELLING 
AND INTEGRAL 
GARAGE 
 
PAUL STEPHENSON 

 
 

 
E323567.4 N482280.2   27/03/2012 

 
 

SUMMARY:   

Proposed redevelopment of outbuildings attached to a former mill to create a single 
dwelling within the village of Beckside.  Grant. 

 

KIRKBY IRELETH PARISH COUNCIL: 

The Parish Council has reservations about many aspects of this application: 

• The proposed development is within the Development Boundary, but there is 
no allocation for housing in Beckside. 

• The statement refers to the roof height being slightly increased.  It will be 
increased by 50% and the elevations suggest that there will be 4 different roof 
heights which is not aesthetically pleasing.  There is also a privacy issue with 
1st floor windows overlooking a garden attached to the mill. 

• There is a right of way for owners of the mill to maintain the retaining dam wall 
which will be affected by the development.  A new right of way has been 
proposed but not yet agreed. 

• The walls should be stone clad and the roof should be covered with Burlington  
blue/grey Slate to be in keeping with the adjacent buildings. 

• The application forms should refer to a change of use and the location plan 
includes land not in the ownership of the applicants. 

• The Parish Council strongly recommend the application to be reviewed by the 
full planning committee. 

 

 

Page 79



CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

The application is acceptable to Cumbria highways provided it is appropriately 
conditioned. 

 

ARBORICULTURIST: 

The site contains one hawthorn tree which is growing in an elevated position on the 
banking above the existing building.  The proposed development will not affect any of 
the tree roots as the greater proportion of the roots will be on the bank side.  There is 
also a large ash to the south but it is sufficient distance from the development and 
will not be affected. 

 

OTHER: 

One letter of objection and one letter of comment have been received from 
neighbouring residents.  The letter of objection raises the following concerns: 

• The statement refers to the roof height being slightly increased. It will be 
increased by a major amount of 50%.  The height of the workshop will be 
increased by over 60%. The elevations suggest that there will be 4 different 
roof heights which is not aesthetically pleasing and the whole will be 
somewhat overbearing in a confined context. 

• The proposed windows in the east wall raise a potential privacy issue 
overlooking the fruit and vegetable garden which is part of the land attached to 
the mill. 

• There is a right of way for owners of the mill to maintain the retaining dam wall 
which will be affected by the development.  A new right of way has been 
proposed but not yet agreed. 

• The walls should be stone clad and the roof should be covered with Burlington 
blue/grey Slate to be in keeping with the adjacent buildings.  Also the ridge 
tiles should be butted stone and not overlapping pottery and the raised slate 
on each side of the former grain drying kiln should be incorporated into the 
development. 

• The application forms should refer to a change of use and the location plan 
includes land to the north of the mill as part of the site.  This parcel of land is 
not registered and it is possible that it could be considered as part of the road. 

• There are a number of shrubs on land owned by the mill which would be 
vulnerable to damage during any building work.  How is it proposed to 
safeguard these items? 

The writer of the letter of comment supports the application and states that the 
building will improve an area of Beckside and will enable a young couple to gain the 
first step on the housing ladder.  However, the roof covering should be Burlington 
Slate.  

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

The site is located at the eastern end of the village of Beckside, within the current 
development boundary of the settlement.  It comprises a group of traditional stone 

Page 80



and slated outbuildings attached to a former mill which was converted to residential 
use some 40 years ago.  This property is in separate ownership and the land 
associated with it borders onto the site to the south, west and east.  The site fronts 
onto a minor road which connects to Chapels to the north.  A detached cottage is 
located on the opposite side of the road to the site which is owned by the applicant’s 
family.  

The application relates to the demolition of the outbuildings and the construction of a 
two storey dwelling on a similar footprint.  The proposed 3 bedroomed dwelling would 
be in the form of an irregular L shape creating a partially enclosed courtyard which 
would be used for parking and access to the garage. The southern elevation would 
be constructed upto the boundary of the site as per the existing building 
arrangement.  No windows are proposed on this elevation, except 2 roof lights. Part 
of the eastern elevation would be indented from the boundary with the higher set land 
to the east to create a small amenity space.  A first floor staircase and dining area 
window would be incorporated into this elevation.  The part of the development which 
would be attached to the Mill would be retained at the same height as the existing 
building, and this link element would contain a garage with a shower room within the 
roof space.  The roofline of the main body of the house would vary in height between 
6 metres, 6.5 metres and 6.8 metres high.  The new dwelling would be clad in a mix 
of local stone and roughcast render with pitched slated roofs, with a projecting timber 
clad bay on the gable facing the road. The type of slate has not been specified.  An 
amended plan has been received which now proposes to stone face the southern 
elevation of the property, previously indicated to be rendered. 

Access to the site is across an area of land to the north of the Mill, which appears to 
be unregistered land.  The parking and turning facility for the proposed dwelling 
would however not include this area of land. 

A bat survey has been submitted with the application which concluded that there was 
no evidence of bats in the buildings. 

The applicants are a young local family who currently live with their parents in the 
cottage opposite the site 

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

The Development Strategy contained within the adopted South Lakeland Core 
Strategy (Policy CS1.2) explains that development will be concentrated in Kendal 
and Ulverston, then in the Key Service Centres, followed by a number of designated 
Local Service Centres and, finally, the smaller villages, hamlets and the open 
countryside.  The Strategy states that approximately 11% of new housing and 
employment development will be in the network of smaller villages and hamlets.  
Development boundaries are not identified for these settlements; instead, new, small-
scale development, in the form of infilling and rounding-off, will be permitted in order 
to satisfy local need in the smaller villages and hamlets scattered across the District. 

Policy CS3 of the Core Strategy explains the spatial strategy for the west of the 
District and, in the context of this current application, makes provision for small-scale 
housing development in the Local Service Centres and, to a lesser extent, in the 
smaller rural settlements in order to ensure a readily available supply of affordable 
housing.  Beckside forms part of the Kirkby in Furness group of settlements, a Local 
Service Centre which will retain a development boundary. 

Page 81



Policy CS6.6 of the Core strategy seeks to make effective and efficient use of land 
and buildings and supports new housing development on previously developed land 
and buildings. 

Policy CS8.10 of the Core Strategy requires the siting, design, scale and materials of 
all developments to be of a character which maintains or enhances the quality of the 
landscape or townscape and, where appropriate, should be in keeping with the local 
vernacular tradition.  The policy concludes by stating that designs that support and 
enhance local distinctiveness will be encouraged.  Saved Policy S2 of the South 
Lakeland Local Plan requires all new development to take account of the South 
Lakeland Design Code.  

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The site is located within the development boundary of the village adjacent to other 
residential properties and as such the principle of constructing a dwelling is 
considered to be acceptable and accords with policy. 

The proposed dwelling would present a larger mass of building than the current 
structures on the site which are in a poor state of repair.  However the overall design 
of the proposal would reflect the varying heights and overall form of the building 
group and is considered to be appropriate.  Most of the elevations of dwelling would 
be clad with local stone and although the type of grey roofing slate is not specified, 
this detail would be covered by a standard condition.  

The first floor window to the eastern elevation would face towards an area of 
elevated land associated with The Mill.  Although there would be some degree of 
overlooking, the proposed development would not raise any significant loss of privacy 
issues. 

The right of access and the protection of property during construction works issues 
raised by the neighbour are a private legal matter and subject to the Party Wall Act. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT subject to: 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced 
before the expiration of THREE YEARS from the date 
hereof. 

Reason  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

Page 82



Condition (2) A sample panel of the materials to be used for the external 
surfaces of the development hereby approved shall be 
erected at the application site and no superstructure shall 
be erected until the written approval for the materials has 
been given by the Local Planning Authority.  The sample 
panel shall be of sufficient size to indicate the method of 
jointing and coursing to be used. 

Reason   To ensure the development is of a high quality design in 
accordance with Policy CS8.10 of the adopted South 
Lakeland Core Strategy and saved Policy S2 of the South 
Lakeland Local Plan.   
 

Condition (3) The roof shall be covered with slates being blue / grey in 
colour and of similar or the same texture to those mined 
within the County of Cumbria a sample of which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development begins.  

Reason  To ensure the development is of a high quality design in 
accordance with Policy CS8.10 of the adopted South 
Lakeland Core Strategy and saved Policy S2 of the South 
Lakeland Local Plan.   
 

Condition (4) No development shall begin unless and until details of the 
hard and soft landscaping of the courtyard parking area 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, and the development shall not be 
carried out otherwise than in full accordance with such 
approved details. These details shall include surfacing 
materials and surface water drainage. 

Reason  To ensure the development is of a high quality design in 
accordance with Policy CS8.10 of the adopted South 
Lakeland Core Strategy and saved Policy S2 of the South 
Lakeland Local Plan, and in the interests of highway safety. 

 

Condition (5) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans: Drawing 
Number 3142/07 Rev. A deposited with the Local Planning 
Authority on 21 February 2012; and drawing numbers 
3142/06, 3142/05, 3142/04 deposited on 4 January 2012. 

Reason  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
 

Condition (6) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or 
any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification), express planning consent shall be 
obtained for any development falling within Classes A, B, C 

Page 83



and E of Part 1 Schedule 2 of that order. 

Reason  To ensure that alterations, extensions, outbuildings and 
other such development permitted by the Town and Country 
Planning General Development Order 1995, will not detract 
from the appearance of the development or the amenity of 
neighbouring residents. 

 

 

REASON FOR GRANTING PLANNING PERMISSION: 

The development is in accordance with material considerations set out in the 
planning system and is in line with the aims and objectives of Planning Policy 
Statement 3 (Housing), Policies CS6.1 and CS6.6 of the adopted South Lakeland 
Core Strategy and with saved Policies H11 and S2 of the South Lakeland Local Plan.  
The proposal will not result in any significant adverse impacts upon the amenity of 
the area, or residential properties within the locality.  

 

 

 

Page 84



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

  8                                                                           SL/2012/0038 

OLD HUTTON AND 
HOLMESCALES:  
HUTTON SUBSTATION, 
OLD HUTTON   LA8 0LZ 
 
PROPOSAL:  
INSTALLATION OF 
CAPACITOR UNIT, SERIES 
COMPENSATION UNITS, 
ACCESS ROAD, SECURITY 
FENCING AND 
LANDSCAPING 
 
MRS ANDREA KEY  

E356408 N489305   27/03/2012 
 

 

SUMMARY:   

The proposal is for a significant scale of development but on a well screened site. 
Subject to detailed conditions the proposal is considered acceptable.  
 

OLD HUTTON and HOLMESCALES PARISH COUNCIL: 

The works at the wind farm will be ongoing at the same time, some co-ordination 
needs to be set up particularly with the high number of HGV movements planned. 

In the above context that all soil / waste movements be confined to the site to 
eliminate a sizeable number of HGV movements. 

Consideration be given to providing allotment sites for local use on the site in 
particular where the "works office" will be which is well clear of the electric fences. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS:  

Comments due by 6 March 2012. 

 

CUMBRIA HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT:  

To be reported. 

 

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL SPATIAL PLANNING UNIT: 

To be reported. 

 

 

Page 85



ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: 

To be reported. 

 

SLDC ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION OFFICER: 

The applicant's noise assessment predicts substantial noise levels at Green Moor 
Bank and moderate noise levels at The Old Stables and a minor impact at 
Brynmede.  They acknowledge that mitigation will be required and suggest an 
acoustic barrier along the site boundary close to Green Moor Bank.  I recommend 
that a condition is applied limiting the noise level at the facade of Green Moor Bank 
to 50.6 dB LAeq 1hr 

I also recommend restricting the hours of work to 08:00 hrs to 18:00 hrs Monday to 
Friday, 08:00 hrs to 13:00 hrs Saturday and no work on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

In addition I would expect the contractor to adopt best practical means to control 
noise on site and appoint a responsible person to liaise with the local community, 
keep people informed of progress and deal with complaints fairly and promptly, all as 
per BS5228. 

 
Noise during operation: 

Before construction commences a scheme shall be agreed with ourselves to ensure 
that during normal operations there shall be a 0 dB increase in noise levels at nearby 
residential properties. 

 
Culverting Middleshaw Beck 

Plans must be submitted and consent gained for the proposed culverting of 
Middleshaw Beck from ourselves (prior to 1 April 2012) or Cumbria County Council 
(after 1 April 2012) prior to any work being carried out on site. 

 

NATURAL ENGLAND: 

There may be opportunities for bio-diversity improvements. 

 

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS OFFICER: 

Do not object. 

 

NATIONAL GRID GAS: 

General Safety Advice for working in the vicinity of a Gas Pipeline. 

 

SLDC ABORICULTURALIST:  

Recommend detailed landscaping condition including those proposals for planting on 
land in other ownership. 

 

 

Page 86



OTHER: 

Two letters of objection have been received from the residents of two of the dwellings 
at Greenmoor Bank.  They object that the scale is out of proportion and will dominate 
the surroundings.  The traffic on the local road network will be greater than for 
previous developments at the substation and will cause a hazard detrimental to 
safety.  Landscaping would be ineffective especially in the 10 years after the 
installation.  Existing noise on the site is clearly audible from their home and 
additional noise would be unacceptable.  An alternative site should be sought or the 
development sited on lower land in the vicinity. 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

The existing major Old Hutton Electricity Sub-Station was developed following an 
application in 1975.  It lies in a sizeable hollow in the undulating countryside to the 
east of the settlement of Middleshaw on the B6254 road from Kendal to Kirkby 
Lonsdale.  At the time of the original development the site perimeter was planted with 
a woodland band which has grown significantly over the intervening period.  A private 
access road links the site entrance directly to the B6254 south of Middleshaw thus 
obviating the need for its traffic to use the narrow network of lanes north of the B-
road.   

The nearest dwellings lie in 3 groups.  On the hill approximately 400 metres to the 
north-east of the site is a group of four dwellings at Greenmoor Bank.  Some 500 
metres to the south-east of the site beyond an intervening hill is the nearest dwelling 
in the small group of dwellings at Eskrigg End.  To the south-west, approximately 600 
metres away but screened by the landform are the nearest dwellings in Middleshaw. 

The sub-station lies on the national grid system of high voltage transmission 
operating at 275kv and 400kv.  It is sited on the main north-south pylon line linking 
Scotland and England to the west of the Pennines.  At the sub-station these higher 
voltages are transformed to lower voltages for distribution to local users and the West 
Coast Main Line. 

Prior to the submission of this application the applicant carried out local consultation 
comprising contact with Old Hutton and New Hutton Parish Councils and local 
politicians and a manned exhibition in Old Hutton Village Hall which was preceded by 
an information leaflet going to every household in the parish in “The Grapevine”, the 
parish newsletter.  Feedback forms were offered at the exhibition. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

 
National Need 

Nationally, to help meet current and future energy needs it is of critical importance to 
maximise the efficiency of the National Grid distribution system.  At present the 
system has no capacity to transfer more power from Scotland where there is an 
excess of production compared to demand to other parts of the country where there 
is an excess of demand over supply.  This imbalance in production and consumption 
will continue in the future and in the more local area there is a need to be able to 
transfer and thus utilize electricity generated by wind schemes offshore from Cumbria 
and by increased nuclear generation in West Cumbria. 

Page 87



 
National improvement Scheme 

This planning application is part of an overall scheme to improve the transfer of 
power and thus utilise to the full installed generating capacity.  The national scheme 
involves works on the High Voltage transmission route to the east of the Pennines 
and planned work on western and eastern subsea HV Links.  The existing HV pylon 
line to which Old Hutton sub-station is connected will be re-insulated and re-
conductored between Harker (near Carlisle) and Quernmore.  Between Harker and 
Quernmore there is also a need to install additional equipment in the form of a 
Mechanically Switched Capacitor (MSC) and two Series Compensation Equipment 
units (SCE), one on each side of the existing overhead line.  Some 50 sites between 
Harker and Quernmore were assessed technically and in terms of landscape and 
environmental impact.  Of particular technical importance was taking into account the 
impact of Cumbrian west coast power feed-ins.  The current proposal for Old Hutton 
is put forward by the applicant as it allowed the technical requirements to be met and 
had the advantage of existing screening by surrounding hills and trees.  

 
The Development proposed by this Application 

The proposed siting and layout of the new development is determined by the 
operational requirements to connect to the existing overhead lines and to provide 
safe distances between equipment.  The layout and design also aim to mimimize the 
landscape impact.  The application would involve extending the existing sub-station 
to the east along the valley of Middleshaw Beck.  The beck is already culverted 
below the existing installation and an additional 48 metres would need to be 
culverted below the new installations.    

The MSC and SCE units would be installed along the route of the overhead line 
entering the site from the north-east.  The current 61 metre high, terminal tower-
pylon, which lies within the existing site, would be removed.  The proposed MSC 
would be on a raised, grey-stone platform and the equipment would be from 5 metres 
to 9 metres above ground level and would be painted dull grey.  It would be set within 
a 75 metre by 110 metre compound.  Beyond the MSC would be the two SCE units 
to which the existing overhead lines would be connected before entering the sub-
station.  The equipment would be stepped into the rising hillside on separate 
platforms.  The SCE compound would be 75 metres long and 110 metres wide.  The 
raised platforms would be 5 metres tall and the tallest element of equipment 10 metre 
from ground level.  The equipment would be painted dull grey like the MSC.  Two 17 
metre high tower gantries would be needed to the east of the SCE compound to 
allow the overhead lines to be connected into the compound.  Around the 
installations the ground would be covered with grey stone chippings to match those 
on the existing site and the new equipment would be surrounded by 2.4 metre and 
3.4 metre high fences as used on the existing site.  Within the compounds bunding 
would be provided around any equipment containing hydro-carbon fluids and the 
surface water drainage from the site roads would be routed through oil interceptors.  
It is said that there is no intention to permanently light the new compounds but 
floodlighting would be installed so that it could be used if there was a need for 
emergency work in the hours of darkness. 

The new compounds would be served by a new tarmac-surfaced, construction road 
which would lead off the existing site road close to the site entrance and run to the 
south of the existing and proposed compounds. 

Page 88



 
Mitigation Proposals 

The planning application is accompanied by an Environmental Assessment report 
which includes detailed reports and assessments on trees / hedging, landscape and 
visual impacts, ecology including protected species and bio-diversity, traffic and 
transportation, noise, electro-magnetic fields, cultural heritage and the water 
environment. 

 
Landscape / ecology 

Within the site trees would have to be removed along the beck- section which would 
be culverted beneath the development and existing field hedging in this area would 
also be removed.  The planting proposals have three elements. The existing 
perimeter hedging and woodland planting has not been actively maintained in recent 
years and remedial work has already started, as a response to the pre-application 
consultation exercise, to lay and manage the perimeter hedge and introduce new 
planting of native species in these areas.  This is intended to improve the 
understorey and would include introducing some holly to improve winter screening. It 
would also increase bio-diversity.  Secondly, new hedging would be introduced to the 
south and east of the proposed new equipment.  Thirdly, with the agreement of 
landowners and tenants, the existing hedges beyond the eastern edge of the 
development would be improved by planting ash and oak trees along them. 

 
Traffic 

When it became operational, like the existing substation, the development would 
generate little traffic but significant construction traffic would be generated.  The 
busiest phases would be during ground preparation and formation of the platforms 
with removal of any surplus ground material from site and delivery of stone and 
concrete.  At these busiest periods it is estimated that there could be 100 vehicle 
movements a day (that is 50 arrivals and 50 departures) of which 46 would be HGV 
movements.  The existing private access from the B-road would be used.  A Traffic 
Management Plan and Construction Method Statement are proposed which would 
include specifying routes to the access, control of the time of movements to avoid the 
beginning and end of the school day and unsocial hours and use of group travel (e.g. 
mini bus) for construction workers, wheel washing at site entrance, road cleaning, 
sheeting over any vehicles carrying granular materials. 

 
Water Environment 

There is potential for pollution risks during the construction period from accidental 
spillages or erosion of soil etc from excavations.  A Methodology for the construction 
period would minimize this risk. 

 
Noise and Vibration 

The submitted report indicates that construction noise, including construction traffic, 
will meet British Standard criteria but that, given the low background noise levels in 
the immediate vicinity of the site, there would be a substantial impact at residential 
property at Greenmoor c 280 metres to the north, a moderate impact at residential 
property at Eskrigg End c 340 metres to the east and a slight impact at residential 

Page 89



property at the eastern edge of Middleshaw some 700 metres away.  Mitigation 
measures are therefore proposed comprising management of construction activities 
and equipment and erection of a temporary acoustic screen on the boundary nearest 
to Greenmoor.  The report’s analysis suggests that vibration impacts during the 
construction phase will be less than just perceptible. 

Initial analysis suggests that in this quiet rural location it will be possible to meet 
appropriate guideline levels for night-time Operating Noise from the proposed 
equipment.  The specialist company suppliers of the equipment to be installed will be 
required to meet noise standards and incorporate noise mitigation measures. 

 
Electro Magnetic Fields 

The report states that the development will meet government guidelines in these 
respects. 

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

The Draft National Planning Policy Framework is committed to achieving sustainable 
economic growth and has a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

The Planning System: General Principles gives guidance on material planning 
considerations.  The National Policy Statements for Energy provide a context for 
decisions on applications for nationally significant energy infrastructure.  While the 
proposed development does not fall within the actual definition of “nationally 
significant energy infrastructure” the policy guidance has some relevance for this 
scale of development pointing out in EN-1 the need for a substantial upgrade in 
transmission infrastructure to accommodate new generating capacity and deal with 
north to south flows that the existing network cannot accommodate.  The policies 
refer to the importance of design. 

The North West Regional Spatial Strategy currently remains relevant.  Its Spatial 
Principle DP 1 promotes sustainable communities and sustainable economic 
development and making the best use of existing resources and infrastructure while 
promoting environmental quality.  Policy DP 4 seeks to build on existing 
concentrations of activities and infrastructure.  Policy DP 7 seeks to promote and 
enhance Environmental Quality.  Policy EM 16 relates to Energy Conservation and 
Efficiency and states that distribution Network operators and planning authorities 
should make effective provision energy network upgrades. 

PPS 1: Delivering Sustainable Development seeks effective protection of the 
environment, prudent use of natural resources and the maintenance of high and 
stable economic growth and employment. 

In relation to the Environmental Assessment the policies of the following PPS are 
relevant: PPS 5: Planning for the Historic Environment, PPS 7 :Sustainable 
Development in Rural Areas, PPS 9: Bio-diversity and Geological Conservation, PPS 
13: Transport, PPS 23: Planning and Pollution Control, PPS 24: Planning and Noise 
and PPS 25: Development and Flood Risk. 

The site and its immediate surroundings are not part of any locally or nationally 
designated area nor are there listed buildings, known archaeological sites or tree 
preservation orders in the immediate vicinity. 

Page 90



Policy CS 1.1 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy seeks to minimize the 
use of non-renewable resources and increase the proportion of renewable energy 
while protecting the intrinsic quality of the environment. 

Policy CS 8.2 of that Core Strategy requires development to be sympathetic to the 
distinctive character of the landscape type. 

Policy CS 8.4 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect and enhance bio-diversity. 

Policy CS 8.10 of the Core Strategy requires that the siting, design, scale and 
materials of development should maintain or enhance the quality of the landscape. 

Saved Policy S3 of the South Lakeland Local Plan requires a high standard of 
landscaping for development. 

Saved Policy C24 of that Local Plan does not permit development with an adverse 
impact on nature conservation of watercourses or involving extensive culverting. 

Saved Policy C5 of the Local Plan seeks to minimize the impacts of external lighting 
especially in rural areas.  

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The proposal is very important for the future national and local distribution of 
electricity.  The equipment proposed is of a significant scale and unavoidably 
utilitarian in appearance.  The design of the installation has been evolved to minimize 
the visual impact keeping it as low as possible and using materials with a dark finish.  
Moreover, it would be seen in association with existing, similarly utilitarian equipment 
on a low lying site screened by a circle of hills and mature planting.  That existing 
large installation is only visible from the immediate vicinity.  A well considered 
Environmental Report has been submitted including survey work, analysis and 
mitigation proposals. 

As shown by the submitted photomontages, in the wider scene the significant impact 
would be from the removal of one of the existing 61 metre pylons.  The new 
installations would only be seen from a few view local viewpoints provided by breaks 
in hedging or field gate openings. The proposed additional planting on-site and in 
surrounding hedgerows, as it grows to maturity, will effectively screen the scale of 
equipment it is proposed to install.  The planting and management of existing 
woodland and hedge rows will also diversify the on-site bio-diversity.  The ecological 
surveys have shown the site, watercourse and surrounding fields to be relatively 
species-poor.  

Detailed responses are awaited from the specialist consultees but overall the scheme 
appears acceptable subject to conditions requiring adherence to detailed mitigation 
measures. 

 

Page 91



RECOMMENDATION:   

At present no written response has been received from some specialist consultees 
and subject to no adverse comment being received from them it is recommended 
that delegated authority be given to the Interim Corporate Director (Communities) to 
grant planning permission subject to the following conditions relating to the proposed 
mitigation schemes: 

1) Grey painted finish to equipment. 

2) Landscaping and Tree Planting. 

3) Construction Methodology including Traffic Management and Transport Plan 
for Construction Phase. 

4)  Noise mitigation for Construction Period and for operation of the Installation. 

5)  Hours of Work in Construction Phase 

6) Approval of details of Lighting Scheme. 

7) Levels. 

 

 

 

Page 92



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

     9                                                                        SL/2012/0041 

KENDAL:  
30 WHINFELL DRIVE   
LA9 6JT 
 
PROPOSAL:  
ERECTION OF 
DWELLING HOUSE 
AND ALTERATIONS TO 
EXISTING HOUSE 
 
 
 
MR I and MRS J 
GUDGEON 

 
 

E352671.8 N493295.4   27/03/2012 
 

 

SUMMARY:   

The provision of an additional dwelling in this location accords with the aims of the 
adopted Core Strategy.  GRANT   

 

KENDAL TOWN COUNCIL: 

Refuse over intensive. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

Both properties must have parking permanently assigned.  The parking spaces must 
be surfaced in a bound material, must be provided with a system of surface water 
disposal to prevent discharge onto the highway and should not be gated.  

 

OTHER: 

Three letters of objection have been received from the occupiers of properties 
opposite the site.  The letters refer to existing parking and congestion issues on the 
busy road and state that the scheme will exacerbate these problems.   

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

Planning permission was granted for a single storey extension to the side of the 
house to provide ancillary accommodation in 2003.  In 2004 a subsequent application 
was submitted and approved to remove the occupancy restriction, making it a self 
contained dwelling.  This scheme has not been implemented. 

Page 93



An application for a two storey extension to the side of the terrace to provide two flats 
was refused planning permission in 2009.  The development was considered to be 
over intensive, providing insufficient amenity space and cramped internal living 
conditions.  The design of the proposed house was also inappropriate.  An appeal 
was dismissed. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

Whinfell Drive is located within a large residential estate on the edge of Kendal.  The 
majority of the houses are semi-detached, although there are some terraced 
properties.  30 Whinfell Drive is a semi detached property situated on a corner plot, 
with the gable facing over a public open space.  There is garden to the front, side and 
rear.  From the gable end of 30 Whinfell Drive, the ground levels fall away quite 
sharply to the pavement.   

It is proposed to erect a new dwelling on the site.  It would be attached to the 
northern side of the house, changing the pair of semi-detached houses into a terrace 
of three.  The original proposal has a dropped ridge and eaves level with dormers to 
the front and rear.  Three parking spaces would be provided in the front gardens, to 
serve both properties.   

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

Policies CS1.2 and CS2 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy sets out the 
development strategy for the District.  It states that new housing development will be 
mostly concentrated in the towns of Kendal and Ulverston.   

Saved Policy H4 of the South Lakeland Local Plan permits residential development 
on suitable small sites within the development boundary, providing this does not 
result in the loss of important open space. 

Policy S2 of the South Lakeland Local Plan sets out the South Lakeland Design 
Code and requires development applications to take proper account of its principles.   

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The principle of an additional dwelling in this location accords with the aims of the 
Core Strategy.  The layout is appropriate in terms of the adjacent units.  The scale of 
the dwelling has been designed to appear subservient to the pair of semi-detached 
houses.  While the use of dormers provides an attractive design, the new dwelling 
would not reflect the simplicity of the surrounding dwellings.  A revised scheme is 
anticipated which will reduce the ground level of the dwelling but retain the eaves and 
ridge height allowing a window design to match the surrounding properties.   

Page 94



The proposal will provide a small but adequate rear garden for the new dwelling and 
retain the garden for the existing property.  Parking for three cars would be provided 
at the front of the property.  As the site is within a sustainable location within the Key 
Service Centre of Kendal, three spaces for two dwellings is sufficient.   

 

RECOMMENDATION:   

Subject to a satisfactory conclusion to negotiations over the design details, the 
application be GRANTED subject to conditions relating to the following: 
 

(1) Standard time limit. 

(2) Amended plans. 

(3) Provision and allocation of parking before occupation and retention thereafter. 

(4) Surfacing and drainage of the parking area. 

(5) Prevention of gates. 

(6) Approval and implementation of boundary treatment for the rear gardens.  

(7) Materials to match the existing house. 

 

 

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

         10                                                                  SL/2012/0050 

ALDINGHAM:  
LAND ADJACENT TO 
BEECH MOUNT, 
GOADSBARROW   
LA12 0RE 
 
PROPOSAL:  
TWO DWELLINGS 
 
 
 
MRS CLARE 
WORRALL  

 
E326109 N468256   27/03/2012 

 
 

SUMMARY:   

Outline application for two dwellings on the edge of a small coastal hamlet.  Recent 
appeal decision concludes that the principle of residential development on this site 
would be acceptable.  Issues regarding the scale and siting of the proposed dwellings to 
be addressed.  

 

ALDINGHAM PARISH COUNCIL: 

Comments to be received by 13 March 2012. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

The applicant must provide a 1.8m wide footway along the full site frontage.  The 
officer recommends a number of conditions regarding the provision of access, 
drainage, parking and turning facilities. 

 

SLDC ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION OFFICER: 

A condition should be attached requiring details of the foul water drainage works to 
be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

SLDC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY GROUP MANAGER: 

The main concern is that the Inspector’s conclusions do not have wider 
consequences for other settlements.  If the application is to be approved it is 
important that reference is made to the particular circumstances of this case so that a 
precedent is not set for other sites. 

Page 97



I would like to place on record that we do not accept the Inspector’s interpretation of 
Policy – in particular the definition of Goadsbarrow as a hamlet. 

 

NATURAL ENGLAND: 

To be reported.  

 

OTHER: 

Three letters of objection have been received from local residents.  The concerns 
relate to: 

Loss of privacy and overshadowing 

Beech Mount is sited directly behind the proposed development.  It is one and a half 
storeys high.  The proposed dwellings have now been reduced to one and a half 
storeys but with the 0.7m increased ground height required by the Flood Plan, the 
ridge height of the houses will be approximately 8.5m above the road level, the same 
height as Beech Mount.  The proposed dwellings have been moved closer to Beech 
Mount, and as a result there would be direct overlooking from all the windows of the 
development and Beech Mount would suffer a huge loss of privacy.  There would 
also be overshadowing due to the height, bulk and position of houses, and being 
positioned to the east of Beech Mount there would be a loss of sunlight to the 
windows on the western elevation.  
 
The effect on the character and appearance of the hamlet 

The resubmitted plans address two of the issues raised by the Inspector but solve 
neither of them.  The reduction from 2 storeys to one and a half does not reduce the 
ridge height as the ground level would need to be raised to meet the flood plan.  The 
proposed dwellings would be a prominent and intrusive development which would fail 
to respect the existing built form of the properties in Goadsbarrow.  None of the other 
houses in the hamlet have been built in front of other properties and all have 
considerable gardens to the front and sides. 
 
Current Policy 

The Inspector concluded that the proposal accords with the Core Strategy policy 
CS1.2 relating to infilling and rounding off of small villages and hamlets.  The 
proposal does not meet the objectives of this policy and does not provide affordable 
housing for local occupancy. 
 
Other Concerns: 

• The Inspector comments that the paddock is unused and overgrown and is of 
a different appearance to the surrounding fields.  This neglect should not in 
any way favour this or any other land as a building plot.  The site is a field with 
a field number. 

• The development will result in additional pressure to allow ribbon development 
on land adjacent to the site, further along the A5087 and similar paddock 
areas along Long Lane, changing the rural appearance of the hamlet.  

Page 98



• The entrance to the northernmost dwelling is at the site of the local bus stop 
and opposite a layby.  What will happen to the bus stop and will the layby 
become additional parking for the dwellings? 

• Goadsbarrow has no street lighting and the proposed dwellings are on the 
busy A5087. 

• Concern that there is insufficient parking to serve the dwellings and the 
development may result in vehicles parking on the road. 

• The development will result in additional surface water runoff in an area where 
there is already lying water. 

• Planning permission for housing on this paddock has been refused a total of 
14 times over the past 25 years, some have been upheld on appeal.  Although 
the planning policies may have changed, the same points for refusal are still 
covered in current planning policies.  

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

A total of eight planning applications have been submitted and refused for residential 
development on this site since 1975.  Two appeals have also been dismissed, most 
recently in 2001 for a single bungalow.  The reason for refusal in 2001 was as 
follows:  

The proposed development would be contrary to Policy H6 of the South 
Lakeland Local Plan which states that residential development in the open 
countryside will not normally be permitted unless it can be shown that it is 
essential to the needs of agriculture or forestry or that there are other 
exceptional circumstances which would warrant the grant of planning 
permission.  The Local Planning Authority considers in this particular case no 
agricultural or other exceptional circumstances exist which would justify the 
grant of planning permission. 

In dismissing the appeal, the Inspector stated that he considered the land between 
“Beech Mount” and “Comfort Cottage” is too large to be seen as a small gap or infill 
plot within the built up area of Goadsbarrow.  He concluded that rather than infilling a 
gap the appeal site’s development would be a significant extension of an existing 
ribbon of dwellings on the roadside between the site and Long Lane. 

Outline planning permission was refused in September last year for the construction 
of two dwellings on this site.  The reasons for refusal were: 

1. The proposed dwellings cannot be regarded as an appropriate form of 
rounding off as permitted by Policy CS1.2 of the adopted South Lakeland Core 
Strategy.  The development would result in a significant extension of an 
existing ribbon of dwellings on the roadside between the site and Long Lane, 
which would seriously detract from the rural character of the hamlet and the 
appearance of the surrounding countryside.  The acceptance of development 
on this site could lead to pressure for further development on adjacent sites to 
the detriment of the locality. 

2. The proposed northernmost dwelling would exert an over-bearing and visually 
intrusive influence on the neighbouring property, Beech Mount by reason of its 
scale, bulk and position.  As a consequence, the development would be 

Page 99



detrimental to the living conditions currently enjoyed by the occupiers of the 
neighbouring house.   

3. The proposed dwellings would appear as a prominent form of development 
which would dominate this part of Goadsbarrow.  It would be inappropriate in 
its context and would have a significant adverse effect on the character and 
appearance of the locality.  Consequently, the proposal is in conflict with the 
aims and objectives of Policy CS8.10 of the adopted South Lakeland Core 
Strategy, saved Policy S2 of the South Lakeland Local Plan and Planning 
Policy Statement 3 in respect of good design. 

The applicant subsequently appealed the decision which was dismissed in January 
this year.  However, in dismissing the appeal, the Inspector concluded that whilst he 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority in respect of refusal reason number 3, 
relating to the harmful impact of the layout and scale of the proposal, he found in 
favour of the appellant in relation to the development strategy and impact on the 
neighbouring occupiers.  He considered that the development of the appeal site 
would, in principle, reinforce the linear character and tradition of the settlement 
without breaking out into open countryside.  He concluded that the proposal would 
accord with the development strategy established in the Core Strategy and in 
particular with the objectives for smaller villages and hamlets set out in Policy CS1.2, 
and considered that the principle of residential development on this site would be 
acceptable. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

Goadsbarrow is a small hamlet which comprises a short row of five dwellings fronting 
onto the A5087, known locally as the Coast Road.  A further group of dwellings are 
located inland along Long Lane to the north centred on a former farmstead.  The site 
forms the larger part of a rectangular shaped field which fronts directly onto the Coast 
Road to the south of Beech Mount, the most southerly of the dwellings.  A property 
known as Comfort Cottage is located to the south of the site, with High Roosebeck 
Farm beyond.  The gap which contains the application site between Beech Mount 
and Comfort Cottage is approximately 70metres. 

This outline application relates to the construction of two detached dwellings on the 
site. The indicative plans show two storey, three bedroomed properties with an 
attached garage.  The first floor accommodation would be designed to be partly 
within the roof space thus the overall height of the proposed dwellings would be 
approximately 1100mm lower than the previous proposal. The dwellings would be 
positioned roughly in the middle of the site, set back from the road frontage by 12 
metres.   Each property would have an access and turning areas directly onto the 
Coast Road.  The properties would be served by a new septic tank although details 
have not been supplied at this stage. 

A flood risk assessment has been submitted in view of the proximity of the site to the 
coast.  This recommends, in line with the Environment Agency’s guidance that the 
finished floor levels of the new dwellings should be set at 7.68m AOD.  The existing 
ground levels of the proposed dwellings are approximately 7.2m and 7.5m.  It is 
suggested that the small difference could be made by some minor re-grading of the 
site and lifting the floor level.  Other mitigation measures are recommended to reduce 
the risk of flood damage to the dwellings. 

Page 100



In support of the application, the agent states that the proposed dwellings would be 
occupied by two members of a family who have strong local connections to 
Goadsbarrow and whose parents have lived in the hamlet for 30 years.  The 
applicant’s brother currently operates a landscaping business in Goadsbarrow and it 
would be beneficial to live closer to the business. 

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

Adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy  

The Development Strategy (Policy CS1.2) explains that development will be 
concentrated in Kendal and Ulverston, then in the Key Service Centres, followed by a 
number of designated Local Service Centres and, finally, the smaller villages, 
hamlets and the open countryside.  The Strategy states that approximately 11% of 
new housing and employment development will be in the network of smaller villages 
and hamlets.  Development boundaries are not identified for these settlements; 
instead, new small-scale development, in the form of infilling and rounding-off, will be 
permitted in order to satisfy local need in the smaller villages and hamlets scattered 
across the District. 

The terms “infilling” and “rounding-off” are defined in paragraph 2.25 of the Core 
Strategy.  Infilling is defined as building taking place on a vacant plot in an otherwise 
built-up street frontage; rounding-off is defined as the completion of an incomplete 
group of buildings on land which is already partially developed, in such a way that will 
either complete the local road pattern or finally define and complete the boundaries 
of the group. 

Policy CS3 of the Core Strategy explains the spatial strategy for the west of the 
District and, in the context of this current application, makes provision for small-scale 
housing development in the Local Service Centres and, to a lesser extent, in the 
smaller rural settlements in order to ensure a readily available supply of affordable 
housing. 

Policy CS6.4 relates to the rural exceptions policy, whereby housing development 
proposals outside development boundaries and not constituting infilling and rounding 
off will only be considered where they provide 100% affordable housing. 

Policy CS8.2 states that proposals for development should be informed by, and be 
sympathetic to the distinctive landscape and settlement character. 

Policy CS8.10 requires the siting, design, scale and materials of all developments to 
be of a character which maintains or enhances the quality of the landscape or 
townscape and, where appropriate, should be in keeping with the local vernacular 
tradition.  The policy concludes by stating that designs that support and enhance 
local distinctiveness will be encouraged. 

 
South Lakeland Local Plan 

Saved Policy S2 of the South Lakeland Local Plan requires all new development to 
take account of the South Lakeland Design Code. 

The protection of residential amenity, in one or more of its various aspects, is a 
recognised material consideration in deciding whether planning permission should be 
granted.   

 

Page 101



HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

In view of the recent appeal decision in respect of this site, it is considered that it 
would be difficult to substantiate a refusal of permission based upon the principle of 
residential development.  However Members will note the comments made by the 
Development Strategy Group Manager.  There is a concern that the proposal could 
set a precedent for similar developments in this location and in other similar 
settlements.  If Members are minded to grant consent, it is important that the 
particular characteristics of this site are considered to be unique and thus enable an 
exception to be made. 

However the issues relating to the impact of the development, in terms of scale form 
and layout, upon the character and appearance of the local area and the impact on 
the amenity of the adjacent residential property are still relevant considerations. 

The adjacent properties fronting onto the coast road to the north are single or one 
and a half storeys, and sit low against the skyline.  Saved Policy S2 of the Local Plan 
states that new buildings should take account of the distinctive local character, 
should relate effectively to neighbouring buildings and should be well-proportioned 
and in scale with their surroundings.  The explanatory text to Core Strategy Policy 
CS8.10 indicates that new housing development will be expected to exhibit a form 
and character appropriate to its setting. 

The proposal has been amended from the previous submission in an attempt to 
address the concerns raised by the Planning Committee and the Inspector.  Although 
the footprint and overall form of the proposed dwellings remains unchanged, their 
position has been moved back from the site frontage, so that they would be in line 
with and adjacent to the existing properties to the north of the site.  The overall height 
of the dwellings has also been reduced by 1100mm, and would measure 6.4metres 
from finished floor level to the ridge.  There would however, be an element of 
underbuild and/or raising of the ground level to bring the finished floor levels up to a 
maximum of 0.7m above the level of the road.  This could have a marked impact 
upon how prominent the dwellings would appear in the locality.  Further clarification 
of the finished levels in relation to the existing ground levels has been requested. 

The second issue concerns the scale and positioning of the proposed building and its 
effect on the living conditions currently enjoyed by the occupants of the nearest 
residential property, Beech Mount.  This property is set back from the road frontage 
and is positioned close to the rear boundary of the site.  The elevation facing across 
the site contains a number of ground floor windows to habitable rooms.  The 
Inspector concluded that because of the separation and rising ground levels between 
the proposed and existing dwellings, the development would not cause any loss of 
privacy although there would be a loss of outlook.  

However, in repositioning the dwellings further back within the site, the northernmost 
plot is now significantly closer to the adjoining property Beech Mount which is 

Page 102



positioned on the northwest corner of the site within 1metre of the boundary. The 
layout plan indicates that there would be a separation distance of approximately 17.5 
metres between the closest windows on the rear elevation of the northernmost 
dwelling and the windows in the side elevation of Beech Mount.  There does however 
appear to be room to adjust the positioning of this dwelling to increase this separation 
distance and improve the relationship between the two properties.  

It is considered that a restriction of the dwellings to single storey would address the 
concerns raised about the visual impact of the development upon the locality, and the 
impact upon the amenity and privacy of the neighbouring dwelling. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:   

Subject to the satisfactory conclusion to negotiations over details, the 
application be granted subject to conditions relating to the following: 

(1) Standard time limit. 

(2) Standard outline condition. 

(3) The development to be restricted to single storey dwellings only. 
 

 Reason for Granting Planning Permission: 

The characteristics of this particular site are such that it is considered that the 
proposed development would be compatible with the aims and objectives of 
Policies CS1.2, CS3.1, CS8.2 and CS8.10 of the adopted South Lakeland Core 
Strategy. 

 

 
 

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE A 
 

Complex Planning Applications 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

        11                                                                  SL/2012/0060 

BEETHAM:  
FELL END CARAVAN PARK, 
HALE, MILNTHORPE    
LA7 7BS 
 
PROPOSAL:  
VARIATION OF CONDITION 
2 ON PLANNING 
PERMISSION 5/95/1526 TO 
ALLOW ALL YEAR ROUND 
HOLIDAY USE 
 
CHRIS ROYLE 

 
E349968 N477825   27/03/2012 

 
 

SUMMARY:   

The business case is persuasive and appropriate alternative conditions can be used 
to prevent occupation of the caravans as permanent residences.  Similar conditions 
have been used at other holiday parks in the District.  Grant. 

 

BEETHAM PARISH COUNCIL: 

Comments to be received by 13 March 2012. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS: 

No objection. 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

The caravan site is long established with the original permissions for the site dating 
back to the 1960s and has been extended and altered many times over the years.  
The permissions generally included conditions requiring closure during the period of 
November to March.  The closed period was reduced to six weeks in 1995. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

The caravan site is to the southwest of Hale, within the Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.  The site is set within woodland and screened from the surrounding area, 
although caravans can be seen through the trees in the winter.  A public footpath 
runs through the site.  

 

Page 105



POLICY ISSUES:  

PPS 4 

Planning Policy Guidance for Sustainable Economic Development states that: 
“planning authorities should support rural tourism and leisure developments that 
benefit rural businesses, communities and visitors and which utilise and enrich, 
rather than harm, the character of the countryside.  Furthermore, planning 
applications that secure sustainable economic growth should be treated favourably.” 

 
The North West Regional Spatial Strategy 

Within rural areas, Policy RDF2 seeks to focus development upon Key Service 
Centres.  In the remoter rural areas, flexible solutions should be used to meet 
particular development needs to achieve a more diverse economic base.  The 
accompanying text states that proposals which seek to diversify and expand rural 
business in areas that are lagging economically should be regarded positively as 
long as they demonstrate the potential to help build sustainable communities and are 
sensitive to the local environment. 

Policy W6 states that plans, strategies, proposals and schemes should seek to 
deliver improved economic growth and quality of life through sustainable tourism 
activity.  Policy W7 states that plans and strategies should ensure high quality, 
environmentally sensitive attractions which improve the tourism offer. 

 
Adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy 

Policy CS1.1 sets out a range of sustainable development principles.  It states that 
most new development should be directed to service centres.  It notes that the 
economy needs to grow in a sustainable way and states that support for tourism, 
needs to be balanced with protecting and enhancing the attractiveness of the area. 

Policy CS7.6 supports the enhancement and expansion of tourist attractions and 
tourism infrastructure.  Development that improves high value-added tourism, such 
as high quality development in sport and recreation, will be particularly encouraged. 

Particular emphasis is placed on improving the quality of existing visitor 
accommodation and in particular the need to broaden the range of accommodation 
provided. 

Policy CS8.4 requires that development proposals should protect, enhance and 
restore the biodiversity and geological value of land and buildings. 

 
South Lakeland Local Plan 

Saved Policy T7 relates to the extension of caravan opening seasons.  It states that 
extension will be allowed subject to the following: 

• the site is closed for a minimum period of six weeks over the winter period; 

• there will be no detrimental impact to landscape or nature conservation 
interest; 

• there will be no adverse impact on Sites of Special Scientific Interest, National  
Nature Reserves or the Arnside / Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural   
Beauty. 

Page 106



HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

The application seeks permission to remove the requirement for a closed season and 
to operate the caravan site all year round.  Alternative occupancy conditions in line 
with recommendations within the Good Practice Guide on Tourism may be used.  
The main issue for consideration is therefore whether the alternative conditions 
would encourage use of the caravans as main permanent homes and whether these 
conditions could be enforced. 

The site is located within the open countryside where public transport is limited and 
pedestrian access to services involves long walks along narrow and winding roads. 

The location of the site is not considered to be sustainable in terms of an area where 
permanent residential accommodation should be provided.  Guidance within a 
number of Planning Policy Statements (PPS) including PPS1, 3 and 7 discourage the 
provision of permanent residential accommodation in such locations.  Such 
accommodation should only be provided as an exception to meet a local, agricultural 
or specific business need.  Any changes to the operation of the site which could 
result in the use of the caravans as permanent homes would be contrary to the 
principles of sustainable development. 

Policy T7 of the South Lakeland Local Plan was saved in order to deal with requests 
to extend opening periods and provide greater flexibility.  The policy requires a 
minimum of six weeks closure.  Static caravans are now built to a high specification 
and level of insulation which allows all year round occupancy and use as a primary 
residence.  A six week closure period has previously been considered sufficient but 
necessary to discourage the use of the caravans as primary places of residence.  
Use as a primary residence would be difficult, requiring extended holidays or spells 
staying with friends and family.  

In this case, the pitches within the site are subject to a license which does not permit 
use of the caravan as a permanent residence.  A register of main homes is kept by 
the operator and can be inspected.  There are already agreements in place to restrict 
occupancy to holiday occupation and the information necessary to enforce the 
alternative conditions is readily available to the Local Planning Authority.  The 
alternative conditions will therefore provide the Council with sufficient control to 
prevent use of the caravans as permanent homes.  

The caravans are already in place and used for all but six weeks during the winter 
period.  Use of the caravans for an additional six weeks will not affect the character 
or appearance of the area.  While the proposal will remove the short quiet period for 
nearby residents, the use during these six weeks is unlikely to be intense and will not 
generate vehicles or disturbance any greater than that already accepted. 

There are caravans on the site that are occupied by the site staff.  These are long 
established with permission dating back to the 1980’s.  The position and name / 

Page 107



number of these caravans are yet to be clarified.  Conditions are required to ensure 
that this use may continue without allowing other units a primary occupation.   

Given the business case, the support of the Council’s Economic Development Group 
and the alternative means of controlling occupation, there is adequate justification for 
a decision contrary to the requirements of saved Policy T7 of the South Lakeland 
Local Plan.  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT subject to: 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 
expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

Reason  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

Condition (2) The caravans known as “to be clarified” shall only be occupied by a 
person or persons (and their family) mainly or solely employed by 
Pure Leisure Estates Ltd at Fell End Caravan Park as outlined in red 
on the plan received on 20 February 2012. 

Reason  Permanent occupation by a person unrelated to the caravan site 
would be contrary to saved Policy H6 of the South Lakeland Local 
Plan. 
 

Condition (3) The caravans shall not be occupied other than as holiday 
accommodation.  They shall not be used at any time as sole and 
principal residences by any occupants. 

Reason  To safeguard the local tourist economy in accordance with Policy 
CS7.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 

Condition (4) The owner / operator of the site known as “Fell End Caravan Park”, 
(outlined in red on the submitted plan) shall maintain an up-to-date 
register of the names of all of the individual caravan owners and 
occupiers and their main home addresses, and shall make the 
following information available to the Local Planning Authority upon 
request: 

• copies of the register; 

• copies of a caravan owner’s / occupier’s Council Tax bill  

           for their main residence for the relevant financial year; and 

• a copy of the licence between the site owner / operator and 
the caravan owner / occupier for each pitch. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the expression “for the relevant financial 
year” shall mean that each financial year (1st April – 31st March) the 
caravan owner will provide an up-to-date Council Tax bill, so for 
example if the request was made in September 2012 then a bill for 

Page 108



the tax year 2012 – 2013 would be provided or if the request was 
made in May 2014 then the 2014 – 2015 bill would be provided. 

Reason  To safeguard the local tourist economy in accordance with Policy 
CS7.6 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 

REASON FOR GRANTING PLANNING PERMISSION: 

The use of the caravan site all year round will have a positive impact on the local 
economy.  The alternative conditions will ensure that the caravans remain as holiday 
accommodation and cannot be used as permanent residences.  The proposal 
therefore accords with the material considerations set out in the Planning System: 
General Principles and national and local policies as set out in Planning Policy 
Statement 4, The Good Practice Guide for Tourism and Policies CS1.1, CS7.6 and 
CS8.4 of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 

 

Page 109



Page 110

This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE C 
 

Applications relating to Listed Buildings 
 

SCHEDULE No:    
 

        12                                           SL/2012/0055 and SL/2012/0074 
                                                        (FPA)                     (CAC) 

LUPTON:  
THOMPSON FOLD 
FARMHOUSE, LUPTON   
LA6 2PP 
 
PROPOSAL:  
EXTENSION OF TIME 
CONDITION ON 
PLANNING PERMISSION 
SL/2008/1198 and 1199 
(CONVERSION OF 
FARMHOUSE TO THREE 
DWELLINGS AND 
INSTALLATION OF A 
SEWAGE TREATMENT 
PLANT) 
 
MR RAY GRIFFIN 

 
 

E356624.1 N480605.5   27/03/2012 
 

 

SUMMARY:   

The time period for the implementation of the previously granted planning permission 
and listed building consent can be extended for a further three years.  The same 
conditions should be attached with the exception of the local occupancy restriction.  
GRANT. 

 

LUPTON PARISH COUNCIL:  

Approve. 

 

CUMBRIA HIGHWAYS:  

No objection. 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT: 

Planning permission and listed building consent for the conversion of the stone-built 
barn at Thompson Fold into four holiday units were both granted in February 2007 
(Units 1 - 4).  Work on the barn commenced in September 2007 but the conversions 
have not been completed and none are occupied.  In May 2011 and in January this 
year planning permission was refused for the change of use of the partially 
completed holiday units to four permanent dwellings.  The reason for the refusal of 
the most recent application, considered at the January Committee meeting, is as 
follows: 

The proposal to change the use of the partially completed holiday units to four 
permanent dwellings, of which only one would be affordable, is in conflict with 

Page 111



the policies of the adopted South Lakeland Core Strategy.  Policy CS1.2 of the 
Core Strategy permits the change of use of buildings in the open countryside 
only in exceptional cases and Policy CS6.4 requires all new housing outside 
settlements to be restricted to affordable occupation.  There are no other 
material planning considerations which would justify an exception being made 
to Core Strategy policy in this instance. 

The current applications relate to the farmhouse and a small, single-storey 
outbuilding which stand on the opposite side of the former farmyard to the partially 
converted barn.  In February 2009, planning permission and listed building consent 
were granted for the conversion of the farmhouse and outbuilding into three dwellings 
(Units 5 - 7); one of which is subject to a District-wide local occupancy restriction.  
The consents expired in February this year but the current applications to extend the 
time limit for implementation were submitted before the expiry date. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL: 

The former Thompson Fold Farm stands on the south side of the A65 approximately 
midway between Crooklands and Kirkby Lonsdale.  The former farmsteading 
comprises the former farmhouse and an adjacent outbuilding, a partially converted 
barn and a modern agricultural building.  The farmhouse and barn are Grade II listed 
buildings and stand opposite one another on either side of the former farmyard.  The 
barn is protected by virtue of being a building in the curtilage of the listed building. 
The farmhouse dates from the early eighteenth century with later additions.   All the 
buildings have been vacant since farming ceased at Thompson Fold. 

The farmhouse is to be sub-divided into a 4-bedroom house and a 2-bedroom house; 
the single-storey extension on the south side is to be linked to a small outbuilding to 
create a one-bedroom dwelling.  This is the same scheme granted both planning 
permission and listed building consent in 2009; an extension of the time period for 
implementation is now being sought. 

 

POLICY ISSUES:  

Planning Policy Statement 5 (Planning for the Historic Environment) advises that it is 
one of the Government’s objectives for planning for the historic environment that, 
wherever possible, heritage assets, such as listed buildings, are put to an appropriate 
and viable use that is consistent with their conservation.  In addition, there should be 
a presumption in favour of the conservation of heritage assets. 

The Draft National Planning Policy Planning Framework states that, in order to 
promote sustainable development, housing in rural areas should not be located in 
places distant from local services.  Isolated houses in the countryside should be 
avoided unless there are special circumstances.  Examples of such circumstances 
include cases where there is an essential need for rural workers to live close to their 
place of employment, where development would ensure the future of listed buildings 
and where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and would 
lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting. 

Saved Policy C15 of the Local Plan has regard to preserving listed buildings and their 
settings. 

Page 112



Policy CS8.6 of the adopted Core Strategy advocates the safeguarding and, where 
possible, the enhancing of historic environment assets, such as listed buildings. 

Core Strategy Policy CS1.2 concentrates development in Kendal and Ulverston 
followed by the Key Service Centres followed by the Local Service Centres and the 
smaller villages and hamlets.  In the open countryside, development is only permitted 
in exceptional cases and this aspect of Policy CS1.2 states that: “Exceptionally, new 
development will be permitted in the open countryside where it has an essential 
requirement for a rural location, is needed to sustain existing businesses, provides 
for exceptional needs for affordable housing, is an appropriate extension of an 
existing building or involves the appropriate change of use of an existing building.” 

Core Strategy Policies CS6.1 to CS6.6 provide specific housing policies to be used in 
association with the Development Strategy (Policy CS1.2).  Policy CS6.3 (the 
Provision of affordable Housing) states that 35% of the total number of dwellings are 
to be affordable in developments of three or more on sites outside the Principal and 
Key Service Centres.  The policy applies equally to new-build developments and 
conversions.  However, Policy CS6.4 (the Rural exception Policy) states that housing 
which is not located in a service centre or does not comprise infilling or rounding-off 
in the smaller villages or hamlets will only be considered where it provides 100% 
affordable housing. 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT:   

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the 
Act in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and protection of property). 

 

ASSESSMENT: 

To extend the time period for the implementation of the planning permission and 
listed building consent to sub-divide this listed farmhouse and outbuilding into three 
dwellings would be compatible with the advice of PPS 5 and the Draft National 
Planning Framework in that the building would be put to an appropriate and viable 
use consistent with its conservation.   

It is recommended that the planning permission be extended without the previously 
imposed local occupancy restriction and with all three units being open market 
properties.  The reasoning behind the former is that, following the adoption of the 
Core Strategy in October 2010, the concept of the local occupancy restriction no 
longer forms a part of Council policy.  Secondly, open market properties are justified 
in this instance because the arguments in favour of a viable use to ensure the 
conservation of this listed building outweigh the arguments in favour of affordable 
housing.  It is a position consistent with Policy CS1.2 of the adopted Core Strategy 
which permits, as an exception to policy, the appropriate change of use of a building.  
It is also compatible with the advice contained in the Draft National Planning Policy 
Framework which, although it states that housing in rural areas should not be located 
in places distant from local services, such development can be justified by special 
circumstances; for example, by ensuring the future of a listed building. 

Page 113



There is a clear distinction to be drawn between the farmhouse and the nearby barn.     
Whilst the farmhouse is listed in its own right the barn is protected by virtue of being 
in the curtilage of the listed building.  The farmhouse has stood vacant and unused 
since farming operations ceased whereas the barn has undergone repair and 
renovation in connection with its partial conversion into four holiday units.  Although 
the internal works have not been completed, the barn is sound and weatherproof.  
Holiday use of this subsidiary barn would be a viable use. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION:   

That the time period for the implementation of both the planning permission 
and the listed building consent be extended and that conditions relating to the 
following matters be attached: 

(1) Standard time limit. 

(2) Details of new and replacement window frames. 

(3) The submission and approval of a Method Statement in respect of repairs to be 
made to the roof, to the principal staircase, to the floorboards and to  the timber 
doors. 

(4) Sample of roofing slate to be agreed. 

(5) Details of alterations to the access from the A65. 

(6) Details of an alternative roost site for long-eared bats. 

 

 

Page 114



 1

 

 

PART I 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

PLANNING COMMITTEE MONTHLY ENFORCEMENT 

REPORT 

 

Meeting Date:  27 March 2012 

Report Author: Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer 

Portfolio: Not applicable 

Report from: David Sykes (Interim Corporate Director (Communities)) 

Wards affected: All 

Key Decision: Not applicable 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 
A REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY FROM  2 JANUARY TO 27 JANUARY  2012 

 

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 1.1 To inform Members about enforcement activity between 2 January and 
27 January 2012.  This report aims to provide a brief and informative 
insight into current enforcement cases, action taken and ongoing 
investigations   

If there are any specific enforcement cases that Members would like to 
be updated on at the next Planning Committee meeting, please contact 
Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 1. It is recommended that Members note the report and appendices. 

3.0 BACKGROUND 

 3.1 Enforcement cases which have been resolved: 

  No outstanding cases from the enforcement caseload have been 
resolved between 2 January and 27 January 2012. 

 3.2 New enforcement cases: 

  Between 2 January and 27 January 2012, 41 cases have been recorded 
and are presently being investigated.  2 of these cases have been 
resolved. 

 3.3 Enforcement cases for which Committee consideration is sought: 

  No cases to report. 

Item No.7

Page 115



 2

   
 3.4 An update on enforcement cases involving enforcement action: 

  An update on those cases involving formal enforcement action is 
attached as Appendix 1 for Members information. 

 

4.0 RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION  

 Not applicable. 

 
5.0 PROPOSAL 

 Not applicable. 
 

6.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 Not applicable. 
 

7.0 NEXT STEPS 

 Continue dealing with cases listed in the priority table in Appendices 1, 
receiving and prioritising all new cases, and taking appropriate action where 
necessary in accordance with the relevant Acts and guidance.  
 

8.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 8.1 Financial and Resources 

  Cost implications only arise if the matter ultimately requires court or 
direct action in default.  

 8.2 Human Resources 

  The recommendations in this report do not have any staffing 
implications. 

 8.3 Legal 

  See report.  

 8.4 Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

  This report does not have any registered significant environmental 
effects. 
 

9.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 

 Risk Consequence Controls required 

 The failure of a 
statutory requirement 
to investigate breaches 
of planning law, to 
have an effective 
investigative 
compliance and 
enforcement system.  

Ombudsman maladministration 
investigation. Result in 
inappropriate forms of 
development, which would 
have an adverse impact on the 
character, and appearance of 
the District’s rural landscape. 

To maintain sufficient 
resources in planning 
enforcement and 
prioritise and co-ordinate 
the investigation of 
breaches of planning 
control. 
 

Page 116



 3

10.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 

 The Draft Statement of Community Involvement takes account of the 
equalities issues in seeking to define South Lakeland’s community and 
interests relevant to the Local Development Framework, which will influence 
the determination of individual planning applications. 
 

11.0 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PLAN AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 This report links to the aim of providing a “High Quality Environment” 
enhanced local environmental quality and supports national performance 
indicators.  

Having an effective robust planning enforcement regime involving people will 
help make South Lakeland the best place to live, work and visit.  Dealing with 
unauthorised development in an efficient, firm and fair manner, fosters strong 
links with the community, increased public confidence in the Council and 
value for money. 
 

12.0 CONCLUSION AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

 12.1 See report in appendix. 

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix No.  

1 A report on enforcement cases that Committee authorisation to take 
enforcement action has been sought. 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer, Tel: 01539 797566   
email: development.management@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Various planning files. 

TRACKING  

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

CMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

N/A N/A 8 March 2012 N/A N/A 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

    

N/A     

 

Page 117



 4

 

Page 118



 5

APPENDIX 1 

The purpose of this appendix is to provide a brief summary of enforcement cases in which committee authorisation was sought.   
 

REF NO. PARISH SITE ADDRESS BREACH/CONTRAVENTION PROGRESS/NEXT STEP 

 

06/068 ALDINGHAM 

 

 

Low Sunbrick Farm 
 

Installation of uPVC windows 
in Listed Building. 

Listed Building Enforcement 
Notice, requesting windows are 
replaced after 10 yrs.  

07/025 LOWER 
ALLITHWAITE 

Priory Close 
Cartmel 

Internal alteration to Listed 
Building. 

Seeking legal opinion whether 
there are grounds to prosecute. 
 

09/352 URSWICK Beckside Holdings, between 
Scales and Stainton 

Unauthorised use of land -
storage of equipment not 
ancillary, unauthorised 
buildings. 

Most of the unauthorised building 
has been removed.  Awaiting 
removal of remainder.  The new 
building is nearing completion. 
The equipment from the old 
building will be moved into the 
new building. 
 

08/144 KENDAL Beech House Hotel  
40 Greenside 

Unauthorised uPVC windows 
in Conservation Area. 

Monitoring further compliance for 
the side windows.  A report will 
be presented to a future 
committee seeking Members 
view. 
 

08/345 SKELSMERGH Holme House  
Garth Row Lane 

Unauthorised development 
involving the construction of 
caravan / chalet structures and 
business uses. 

Compliance date for parts 1 - 7 
was 29 September 2011.  
Commenced legal proceedings to 
prosecute for non-compliance. 
 

 

P
age 119



 6

REF NO. PARISH SITE ADDRESS BREACH/CONTRAVENTION PROGRESS 

 

09/377 ULVERSTON 22 Hallfield Use of a dwelling for the 
running of a Taxi business. 

Further compliance monitoring. 
Recent information indicates 
circumstances may change. 
 

10/022 ALDINGHAM Lime Kiln, Low Sunbrick Lane 
Baycliff 

Erection of unauthorised 
agricultural building. 

Enforcement Notice served. 
Effective date 16 Feb 2012 with 3 
month compliance period. The 
owner has submitted an appeal to 
the enforcement notice. 
 

10/124 EGTON with 
NEWLAND 

Woodbine Cottage  
Penny Bridge 

Erection of extensive timber 
decking with sauna and 
jacuzzi. 

Owner’s agent has telephoned to 
say the decking etc has been 
removed.  Recent site visit 
confirms that part of the decking 
remains.  
 

10/208 LOWER 
ALLITHWAITE 

Blenket wood caravan park Laying new 300m access 
track. 

Enforcement Notice served. 
Effective date 2 Nov 2011.  
Notice withdrawn and re-serving 
with amendments.  
 

10/209 KENDAL Boundary Bank Unauthorised use of site for 
the storage of machinery and 
hardcore. 

Proceeding with enforcement 
action.  Serving Planning 
Contravention Notice. 
  

10/289 BEETHAM Fern Bank  
Hale 

Unauthorised siting and 
residential use of caravan. 

Enforcement Notice served.  
Effective date 22 Sept 2011, with 
8 month compliance period from 
when Notice takes effect. 
 

P
age 120



 7

 

REF NO. PARISH SITE ADDRESS BREACH/CONTRAVENTION PROGRESS 

 

10/311 CASTERTON Chapel House Farm Unauthorised removal of 
hedge. 

Hedge Replacement Notice 
served 12 July 2011.  Received 
appeal to Notice.  Awaiting 
Inspector’s decision. 
 

11/061 HINCASTER Cherry Hill Unauthorised erection of tree 
house.  Tree has Preservation 
Order (TPO) on it. 

Enforcement Notice served 17 
June.  Effective date 1 Aug 2011 
with 6 month compliance period. 
 

11/037 KENDAL Aynam Mills, Goodacre Site Unauthorised Material change 
of use. Retailing furniture 

Site visits carried out.  Reported 
to Committee, Members 
instructed to seek a retrospective 
application for a temporary period 
of two yrs.  Application to be 
brought before Committee. 

11/086 

 

MILNTHORPE Dallam Barn, Haverflatts Unauthorised erection of 
building / material change of 
use 

Section 330 Notice served and 
returned.  Considering further 
information prior to Enforcement 
Notice. 
 

11/256 SKELSMERGH Holme House Farm Material change of use, 
agricultural barn for the siting 
of residential caravan  

Committee have authorised 
enforcement action, officers 
drafting Enforcement Notice. 
 

11/257 KENDAL 55 Helmside Road Untidy land to front of dwelling Officers have drafted a section 
215 notice.  Legal services in 
correspondence with owner’s 
solicitor. 

P
age 121



 8

REF NO. PARISH SITE ADDRESS BREACH/CONTRAVENTION PROGRESS 

 

11/078 SKELSMERGH Holme House Farm Engineering Operation Officers to commence 
enforcement action following 
Committee authorisation. 
 

 

P
age 122



 

 

PART I 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Meeting Date: 27  March 2012 

Report Author: Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer 

Portfolio: Not applicable 

Report from: David Sykes, (Interim Corporate Director (Communities)) 

Wards affected: All 

Key Decision: Not applicable 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

A QUARTERLY REPORT ON THE OUTSTANDING 

ENFORCEMENT CASELOAD AT JANUARY 2012 

 

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 1.1 To inform Members about the outstanding enforcement caseload up to  
January 2012.  This report aims to provide a summary of the number of 
enforcement cases currently unresolved, and a brief description of the 
selected priority cases currently being dealt with and future proposed 
priority cases. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 It is recommended that Members note this report. 

3.0 BACKGROUND 

 In addition to the monthly update on specific enforcement cases, Members 
receive a quarterly report providing a breakdown of enforcement cases within 
each of the individual parishes across the District.  

4.0 RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION  

 Not applicable. 

5.0 PROPOSAL 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

Item No.8

Page 123



6.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 Not applicable. 

7.0 NEXT STEPS 

 Not applicable. 

8.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 8.1 Financial and Resources 

  The recommendations in this report do not have any cost implications. 

 8.2 Human Resources 

  The recommendations in this report do not have any staffing implications. 

 8.3 Legal 

  Legal services consulted and instructed where necessary 

 8.4 Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

  This report does not have any registered significant environmental 
effects. 

9.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 

 Risk Consequence Controls required 

 The failure to have an 
effective planning 
enforcement system.  

Result in inappropriate 
forms of development 
which would have an 
adverse impact on the 
character and 
appearance of the 
District’s rural landscape. 
 

To maintain sufficient 
resources in planning 
enforcement and prioritise 
and co-ordinate the 
investigation of breaches of 
planning control. 
 

10.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 

 The Draft Statement of Community Involvement takes account of the equalities 
issues in seeking to define South Lakeland’s community and interests relevant to 
the Local Development Framework which will influence the determination of 
individual planning applications. 
 

11.0 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PLAN AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 This report links to the aims of providing a “High Quality Environment” enhanced 
local environmental quality and supports national performance indicators.  

Having an effective robust planning enforcement regime involving people will 
help make South Lakeland the best place to live, work and visit. Dealing with 
unauthorised development in an efficient, firm and fair manner, fosters strong 
links with the community, increased public confidence in the Council and value 
for money. 
 

 

Page 124



12.0 CONCLUSION AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

 12.1 See report. 

 

 

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix No.  

1 A quarterly report on the outstanding enforcement caseload at 
January 2012. 

2 Priority cases and actions. 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS 

Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer, Tel: 01539 797566 
development.management@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Various planning files. 

 

TRACKING  

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

CMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

N/A N/A 8 March 2012 N/A N/A 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

    

N/A     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Outstanding Enforcement Cases Grouped by Parish at  27/01/2012 
 

Parish Number Of Cases 

ALDINGHAM 7 

ARNSIDE 4 

BARBON 4 

BEETHAM 8 

BURTON IN KENDAL 3 

CASTERTON 7 

DOCKER 1 

EGTON WITH NEWLAND 9 

FIRBANK 1 

GRANGE OVER SANDS 14 

GRAYRIGG 2 

HELSINGTON 5 

HEVERSHAM 3 

HINCASTER 1 

HOLME 6 

HUTTON ROOF 1 

KENDAL 102 

KILLINGTON 1 

KIRKBY IRELETH 0 

KIRKBY LONSDALE 19 

LAMBRIGG 0 

LEVENS 2 

LOWER ALLITHWAITE 24 

LOWER HOLKER 5 

Page 126



LOWICK 1 

LUPTON 2 

MANSERGH 1 

MANSRIGGS 2 

MIDDLETON 2 

MILNTHORPE 6 

NATLAND 1 

NEW HUTTON 2 

OLD HUTTON AND HOLMESCALES 5 

OSMOTHERLY 2 

PENNINGTON 11 

PRESTON PATRICK 6 

PRESTON RICHARD 8 

SCALTHWAITERIGG 1 

SEDGWICK 0 

SKELSMERGH 9 

STAINTON 1 

STRICKLAND KETEL 4 

STRICKLAND ROGER 3 

ULVERSTON 14 

URSWICK 10 

WHINFELL 1 

WHITWELL AND SELSIDE 1 

Total Number of Outstanding Cases 322 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



 

Page 128



APPENDIX 2 

A REPORT ON PRIORITY CASES ACTION / ACTIVITY TO 27
 
JANUARY 2012 

The purpose of this Appendix is to provide a summary of priority enforcement cases.  The work, involves formally carrying out 
investigations to establish that unauthorised development has taken place, whether permitted development applies and if expedient 
to pursue enforcement action.  Work involves carrying out site visits, correspondence with stakeholders, research, negotiations, 
consultations with colleagues and other departments internal and external.  Predominantly these cases have been prioritised 
dependant on the nature of the breach and the degree to which they constitute a significant harm to amenity.  Due to the heavy 
fluctuating workload and the time and resources necessary to deal with priority cases, officers have focused their attention on the 3 
cases below.  That said, the pause on the A-Board action plan has allowed officers to turn their attention to other priority outstanding 
enforcement cases.   
 

Selected priority cases that are currently ongoing   

 

REF NO. PARISH SITE ADDRESS ALLEGED BREACH ACTION/ACTIVITY 

     

08/345 SKELSMERGH Holme House  
Garth Row Lane 

Unauthorised 
development involving 
the construction of 
caravan / chalet 
structures and business 
uses 

• Officer site visits confirm that the site owner is in 
breach of the Notice, he has failed to comply with the 
Enforcement Notice. 

• The decision has been taken to commence 
proceedings to prosecute those who have been 
served a Notice. 

• Recorded PACE interviews have been carried out.  

• Officers have compiled a court file and legal services 
have made an application to the magistrate’s court.  A 
court date is set for the 27 March 2012. 
 

A- Board 

 

KENDAL Town Centre Illegal A-boards • Action commenced and the initial letters sent out 
between the 17 and the 30 of January 2012. 

P
age 129



• The action plan has been paused pending the 
outcome from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Finish and Task Group, which will set up a code of 
conduct and officer prosecution protocol.  The Finish 
and Task Group will report back to the Planning 
Committee within 6 months. 

 

10/253 KENDAL 55 Helmside 
Road, 
Oxenholme 

Engineering operation, 
excavation of rear 
garden. 

• This has been a long protracted case involving a 
considerable amount of officer time. 

• Following two injunctions and the current court order, 
which the owner is in breach of, the Council 
submitted a committal to prison and authority to carry 
out works to reinstate the land.  

• Officers have conducted multiple court appearances. 
The judge has bailed the offender pending a medical 
assessment, which concludes that the owner is 
unable to stand trial.  Legal services and 
Development Control to consider options.  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 130



Cases Prioritised for Action in the Following Quarter  

 

REF NO. PARISH SITE ADDRESS ALLEGED BREACH ACTION/ACTIVITY 

11/086 HEVERSHAM Dallam Barn, High 
Haverflats 

Unauthorised erection of 
building. 

• This case was brought to the Council’s attention and 
described as a “garage”.  

• At the initial site visit the building structure had all the 
characteristics of a single detached garage about 30 
meters from the principal elevation of the 
dwellinghouse. 

• Committee authorisation has been granted to take all 
necessary action to have the building removed. 

• Officers in the process of drafting an Enforcement 
Notice. 
 

10/208 LOWER 
ALLITHWAITE 

Blenket Wood 
Caravan Park 

Laying 300 metre 
access track 

• Committee granted authority to commence 
enforcement action  

• Drafting Enforcement Notice requiring they remove 
the hardcore. 
 

11/193 ULVERSTON Priory View 
Caravan Park, 
Sandhall, 
Ulverston 

Unauthorised siting of a 
shower block 

• Large static shower block measuring 6.5 metres long 
3 metres wide and 3.1 metres high.  

• The owner submitted a planning application and it 
was refused. 

• Enforcement team to write to the owner requesting 
they remove the shower block.  
 

•  

P
age 131



10/076 MILNTHORPE North west of 
Highfield 

Agricultural building 
used as builders yard 

• There is various equipment in the building and on the 
site which would normally be used for agriculture.  

• However, there are also items which the owner uses 
in his building business.  

• The enforcement team continues to receive 
complaints that the owner is using the building and 
the site for his builders’ contracting business.   

• Owner has been written to reminding them what the 
authorised use is at the site.  

• However, recent site visits confirm they are reverting 
the use more towards its agricultural status.  It was 
noted during the recent visit that they has erected a 
large Polytunnel which requires Planning Permission. 
 

 

P
age 132



 

 

PART I 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Meeting Date: 27 March 2011 

Report Author: Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer 

Portfolio: Not applicable 

Report from: David Sykes (Interim Corporate Director (Communities)) 

Wards affected: All 

Key Decision: Not applicable 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

ANNUAL REPORT - ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DURING 2011 

 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 1.1 To inform Members about the following: 

(a) Number of complaints received. 

(b) Number of Notices served. 

(c) Number of Prosecutions. 

(d) Number of resolved cases. 

(e) Number of outstanding cases.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 It is recommended that Members note this report. 

3.0 BACKGROUND 

 The number of cases received in the year shows a slight decrease.  This is due 
to a more robust filtering system.  In 2011 the enforcement team has had to 
divert a disproportionate amount of time to 3 priority cases.  This has resulted in 
an increase in the number of cases carried forward at the end of year.  
Collectively this has affected the total number of Enforcement Notices served. 
 

4.0 RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION  

 Not applicable. 

Item No.9

Page 133



5.0 PROPOSAL 

 Not applicable. 

6.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 Not applicable. 

7.0 NEXT STEPS 

 Not applicable. 

8.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 8.1 Financial and Resources 

  The recommendations in this report do not have any cost implications. 

 8.2 Human Resources 

  The recommendations in this report do not have any staffing implications. 

 8.3 Legal 

  Not applicable. 

 8.4 Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

  This report does not have any registered significant environmental 
effects. 

9.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 

 Risk Consequence Controls required 

 The failure to have an 
effective planning 
enforcement system.  

Result in inappropriate 
forms of development 
which would have an 
adverse impact on the 
character and 
appearance of the 
District’s rural landscape. 
 

To maintain sufficient 
resources in planning 
enforcement and prioritise 
and co-ordinate the 
investigation of breaches of 
planning control. 
 

10.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 

 The Draft Statement of Community Involvement takes account of the equalities 
issues in seeking to define South Lakeland’s community and interests relevant to 
the Local Development Framework which will influence the determination of 
individual planning applications. 
 

11.0 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PLAN AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 This report links to the aim of providing a “High Quality Environment” enhanced 
local environmental quality and supports national performance indicators.  

Having an effective robust planning enforcement regime involving people will 
help make South Lakeland the best place to live, work and visit.  Dealing with 
unauthorised development in an efficient, firm and fair manner, fosters strong 
links with the community, increased public confidence in the Council and value 
for money. 

Page 134



 
12.0 CONCLUSION AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

 12.1 See report. 

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix No.  

1 An annual report on enforcement activity during 2011.  

 
CONTACT OFFICERS 

Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer, Tel: 01539 797566 
development.management@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Various planning files. 

TRACKING  

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

CMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

N/A N/A 8 March 2012 N/A N/A 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

    

N/A     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 135



Appendix 1 

 

  2011 2010 

1 Cases on hand at start of year : 

Total number of cases received in year 

Total number of cases resolved in year 

Cases on hand at end of year  

287 

258 

227 

318 

238 

275 

226 

287 

2 Number of Notices served 

• Planning Contravention Notices  

• Stop Notices 

• Section 330 Notices (Requisition for Information)    

• Breach of Condition Notices      

• Section 215 Notices (Land that adversely affects the 

amenity of the area)   

• Enforcement Notices     

• Prosecutions   

• Injunctions      

 

 

2 

2 

18 

1 

7 

 

8 

0 

0 

 

7 

0 

17 

1 

1 

 

11 

2 

1 

 

Page 136



 

 

PART I 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Meeting Date: 27 March 2012 

Report Author: Mark Shipman 
Development Management Group Manager 

Portfolio: Not applicable. 

Report from: David Sykes (Interim Corporate Director (Communities)) 

Wards affected: All 

Key Decision: Not applicable. 

Forward Plan: Not applicable. 

 

APPEALS UPDATE AT 27 MARCH 2012 
 

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 1.1 To provide Members with information about the receipt and determination 
of planning appeals from the start of the financial year in April. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 Note the report. 

3.0 BACKGROUND 

 Appeals as set out in Appendix 1.   

4.0 RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION  

 Not applicable. 

5.0 PROPOSAL 

 Not applicable. 

6.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 Not applicable. 

7.0 NEXT STEPS 

 Not applicable. 

 

Item No.10

Page 137



8.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 8.1 Financial and Resources 

  The recommendations in this report do not have any cost implications. 

 8.2 Human Resources 

  The recommendations in this report do not have any staffing implications. 

 8.3 Legal 

  Not applicable. 

 8.4 Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

  This report does not have any registered significant environmental 
effects. 

9.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 

 Not applicable. 

10.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 

 The Statement of Community Involvement takes account of the equalities issues 
in seeking to define South Lakeland’s community and interests relevant to the 
Local Development Framework which will influence the determination of 
individual planning applications. 

11.0 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PLAN AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 This report links to the objective within the Corporate Plan of Improving 
Environmental Quality across South Lakeland. 

National Indicator BVPI 204 sets a target of a maximum number of appeals 
allowed as 33%.  The current performance, calculated from those decisions 
received since 1 April 2011, is 32.6%.   

12.0 CONCLUSION AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

 12.1 It is anticipated that targets and objectives will continue to be achieved at 
the year end. 

 

APPENDIX ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix 1  Appeals table (commencing 1 April 2011), updated to include new appeals 
and appeal decisions received between 16 February and 8 March 2012. 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS 

Mark Shipman, Development Management Group Manager – Tel: 01539 797564. 
 

Page 138



BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Various planning files. 
 

TRACKING  

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

CMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

N/A N/A  N/A N/A 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

    

N/A     

Page 139



APPENDIX   1 

 

 

Site 

Appellant 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning Ref 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

EGTON with 
NEWLAND: 

Woodbine Cottage 
Penny Bridge 

Appeal against Enforcement Notice 

Erection of decking to rear of garden 

Enforcement APP/M0933/C/10/2137528 

30/11/10 

SL/2010/1057 
 

DISMISSED 

23 June 2011 

OLD HUTTON AND 
HOMESCALES: 

Little Eskrigg End 
Farm, Old Hutton 

Storage and animal treatment 
building 

Refused 14/10/10 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/11/2144733 

17/1/11 

SL/2010/0089 

DISMISSED 

16 May 2011 

KENDAL: 

Grass Island 
Meadowbank Business 
Park, Shap Road 

Erection of office building Refused 18/11/10 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2144785 

17/1/11 

SL/2010/0831 
 

DISMISSED 

14 Apr 2011 

KENDAL: 

Land at Bridge View, 
Burton Road, 
Oxenholme 

Appeal against issuing of 
Enforcement Notice 

Enforcement APP/M0933/ C/11/2145284 

24/1/11  Public Inquiry 16/8/11 

SL/2011/0066 

DISMISSED 

(upheld 
Enforcement 
Notice – with 
variation) 

5 Sept 2011 

 

P
age 140



Site 

Appellant 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

STRICKLAND ROGER 

Land adjacent to 
Tenement Tarn 

Staff accommodation building and car 
parking 

Refused 26/10/10 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2145103 

28/1/11 

SL/2010/0277 
 

ALLOWED 
CONDITIONALLY 

18 May 2011 

KENDAL: 

Meadowbank House 
Meadowbank Business 
Park, Shap Road 

Demolition of existing building and 
erection of new office building 

Refused 24/1/11 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2146150 

28/1/11 

SL/2010/0830 
 

DISMISSED 

14 Apr 2011 

GRANGE over 
SANDS: 

Grange Bakery  
Kents Bank Road 

Directional sign Refused 20/10/10 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/H/11/2143818 

15/2/11 

SL/2010/0771 
 

DISMISSED 

24 May 2011 

OLD HUTTON AND 
HOMESCALES: 

Eskrigg End Barn 
Old Hutton  

Conversion of redundant barn to 
holiday let and installation of sewage 
treatment plant 

Refused 17/2/11 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2149508 

28/3/11 

SL/2010/1016 
 

DISMISSED 

2 Aug 2011 

PENNINGTON: 

Lindal Cricket Club 
Lindal 

Erection of Wind turbine Refused 23/12/10 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 

APP/M0933/A/11/2149683 

30/3/11 

SL/2010/0928 

 

ALLOWED 
CONDITIONALLY 

20 July 2011 
 
Corrected by PI 
19 August 2011 

 

P
age 141



Site 

Appellant 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

HEVERSHAM: 

The Stables, High 
Haverflatts, Haverflatts 
Lane 

Erection of detached garage to front 
of dwelling 

Refused 8/2/11 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/D/11/2149987 

5/4/11 

SL/2010/1074 
 

DISMISSED 

10 May 2011 

MILNTHORPE: 

OS Field 7684 
Haverflatts Lane 

Agricultural building for hay storage 
and shelter for lambing sheep 

Refused 10/01/11 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2151146 

26/4/11 

SL/2010/1011 
 

DISMISSED 

22 July 2011 

LOWER 
ALLITHWAITE: 

The Pastures 
Templands Lane 

Erection of ancillary domestic 
accommodation 

Refused 26/10/10 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2151793 

24/5/11 

SL/2010/0662 
 

ALLOWED 
CONDITIONALLY 

11 Aug 2011 

KENDAL: 

110 Oxenholme Road 

Detached dwelling Refused 25/2/11 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2154465 

14/6/11 

SL/2011/0024 
 

DISMISSED 

20 Feb 2012 

KENDAL: 

8 West Street 

First floor rear extension Refused 20/6/11 

(Delegated) 

APP/M0933/A/11/2155958 

11/7/11 

SL/2011/0351 
 

DISMISSED 

15 August 2011 

 

 

P
age 142



Site 

Appellant 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

BEETHAM: 

Land at Barcaldine 
Leighton Drive  
Slack Head 

Dwelling Non-

Determination 

APP/M0933/A/11/2158993 

24/8/11 

SL/2011/0067 
 

ALLOWED 

16 November 
2011 

PRESTON PATRICK: 

Moss End Farm 
Crooklands 

Erection of wind turbine of 15M high 
mast 

Refused 30/6/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/2159458 

2/9/11 

SL/2011/0363 
 

ALLOWED 
CONDITIONALLY 

5 December 2011 

KIRKBY LONSDALE: 

2 Leyfield Court 

Alterations and extensions Refused 25/8/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/D/11/2160070 

9/9/11  (Householder) 

SL/2011/0335 
 

DISMISSED 

4 November 2011 

ULVERSTON: 

Priory view camping 
and caravan club 
Sandhall 

Erection of portable shower cabin 
(retrospective) 

Refused 7/7/11 

(Committee: 
refuse) 

PO Recommend: 
Grant 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/2160453 

15/9/11 

SL/2011/0269 
 

ALLOWED with  
CONDITION 
(Time: 
Temporary) 

2 December 2011 

MILNTHORPE: 

Crosby House 
Ackenthwaite 

Detached dwelling Refused 29/7/11 APP/M0933/A/11/2160508 

15/9/11 

SL/2011/0318 

PART ALLOWED/ 
PART DISMISSED 

7 February 2012 

P
age 143



Site 

Appellant 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

KENDAL: 

131 Burneside Road 

Extended area to previously 
approved garden deck together with 
garden shed (part retrospective) 

Refused 15/7/11 APP/M0933/D/11/2160844  

21/9/11  (Householder) 

SL/2011/0345 
 

ALLOWED 

3 November 2011 

BARBON: 

The Old Post Office 

Two storey extension Refused 1/7/11 APP/M0933/D/11/2161333 

28/9/11    (Householder) 

SL/2011/0330 
 

DISMISSED 

1 November 2011 

SKELSMERGH: 

Red Bank Farm 

Conversion of barn to dwelling and 
installation of septic tank / treatment 
unit with drainage mound soakaway 

Refused 28/7/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/2162244 

14/10/11 

SL/2011/0034 
 

DISMISSED 

3 February 2012 

ALDINGHAM: 

Land adjacent to 
Beech Mount 
Goadsbarrow 

Two dwellings Refused 29/9/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/2163288 

31/10/11 

SL/2011/0490 
 

DISMISSED 

11 January 2012 

GRANGE over 
SANDS: 

Pengarth, Ashmount 
Road 
 

Demolition of dwelling and 
outbuildings; erection of five detached 
dwellings and alteration to access 
drive 

Refused 25/8/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/2163949 

9/11/11 -  Hearing 

SL/2011/0439 

 

P
age 144



Site 

Appellant 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

GRAYRIGG: 

Grayrigg Hall, Grayrigg 

Conversion of agricultural barns to 
holiday accommodation 

Refused 31/8/11 APP/M0933/A/11/2165550 

1/12/11 

SL/2011/0538 

 

ULVERSTON: 

Uandi  
Town Bank Terrace 
 

Dwelling Refused  6/7/11 APP/M0933/A/11/2166273 

7/12/11 

SL/2011/0325 

 

LOWER 
ALLITHWAITE: 

Blenkett Wood Lodge 
Park 
Jack Hill, Allithwaite 

Use of land for siting one static 
holiday caravan 

Refused 27/10/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 

 

APP/M0933/A/11/2166797 

16/12/11 

SL/2011/0730 

 

KENDAL: 

Kendal Rugby Union 
Football Club  
Shap Road 

Redevelopment of site to form retail 
development with associated car 
parking and servicing facilities 

Refused 25/11/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Grant 

 

APP/M0933/A/11/2166628 

22/12/11 

SL/2010/0180 

 

KIRKBY IRELETH: 

The Boat House, 
Soutergate, Kirkby in 
Furness 
 

Removal of conditions 9, 10 and 11 
on PP SL/2005/0493 

Refused 24/11/11 APP/M0933/A/11/2167375 

4/1/12 

SL/2011/0793 

 

P
age 145



Site 

Appellant 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

LUPTON: 

Badger Gate 
 

Garage and garden store Refused 29/09/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/2167514 

16/1/12   (Householder) 

SL/2011/0496 

 

EGTON with 
NEWLAND: 

Field adj to Oak Bank, 
Broughton Beck 
 

Agricultural building Refused 30/12/11 APP/M0933/A/11/2168927 

19/1/12 

SL/2011/0860 

 

ALDINGHAM: 

Land at Baycliff Farm, 
Main Street, Baycliff 
 

Appeal against issuing of 
Enforcement Notice 

Enforcement APP/M0933/ C/12/2170352 

13/2/12  

SL/2011/0994 
 

 

EGTON with 
NEWLAND: 

Britannia Inn, Penny 
Bridge 
 

Change of Use of Public House to 
dwelling 

Refused 25/08/11 

(Committee) 

PO Recommend: 
Refuse 
 

APP/M0933/A/11/2169517 

15/2/12  -  Hearing 

SL/2011/0233 

 

KENDAL: 

46  Sandylands Road 

First floor extension Refused 6/02/12 APP/M0933/ C/12/2171660 

5/3/12   (Householder) 

SL/2011/1020 

 

 

P
age 146


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	6 REPORT OF THE INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR (COMMUNITIES)
	Index
	Schedule-A-01-SL.2011.0647
	Schedule-A-02-SL.2011.0936
	Schedule-A-03-SL.2011.1033
	Schedule-A-04-SL.2011.1034
	Schedule-A-05-SL.2011.1041
	Schedule-A-06-SL.2012.0001
	Schedule-A-07-SL.2012.0003
	Schedule-A-08-SL.2012.0038
	Schedule-A-09-SL.2012.0041
	Schedule-A-10-SL.2012.0050
	Schedule-A-11-SL.2012.0060
	Schedule-C-12-SL.2012.0055

	7 A REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY FROM 2 JANUARY  - 27 JANUARY 2012
	8 A QUARTERLY REPORT ON THE OUTSTANDING ENFORCEMENT CASELOAD AT  JANUARY 2012
	9 ANNUAL REPORT - ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DURING 2011
	10 APPEALS UPDATE AT 27 MARCH 2012

